

Diagnosis, staging and treatment of patients with rectal cancer

National Clinical Guideline No. 25

December 2020







This National Clinical Guideline has been developed by the National Cancer Control Programme Guideline Development Group, within the Health Service Executive (HSE).

Using this National Clinical Guideline

This National Clinical Guideline applies to adults (18 years or older) with newly diagnosed rectal cancer, or, those that have a suspected diagnosis of rectal cancer in a hospital setting.

This guideline is intended for all health professionals involved in the diagnosis, staging and treatment of patients with rectal cancer. While the CEO, General Manager and the Clinical Director of the hospital have corporate responsibility for the implementation of the recommendations in this Clinical Guideline, each member of the multidisciplinary team is responsible for the implementation of the individual guideline recommendations relevant to their discipline.

This guideline is also relevant to those involved in clinical governance, in both primary and secondary care, to help ensure that arrangements are in place to deliver appropriate care for the population covered by this guideline.

Whilst the guideline is focused on clinical care, it is expected to be of interest to patients with rectal cancer and their significant others. Effort has been made to make this document more user friendly. A list of medical abbreviations used throughout the guideline can be found in Appendix 9: Glossary of terms and abbreviations.

Disclaimer

NCEC National Clinical Guidelines do not replace professional judgment on particular cases, whereby the clinician or health professional decides that individual guideline recommendations are not appropriate in the circumstances presented by an individual patient, or whereby an individual patient declines a recommendation as a course of action in their care or treatment plan. In these circumstances the decision not to follow a recommendation should be appropriately recorded in the patient's healthcare record.

Users of NCEC National Clinical Guidelines must ensure they have the current version (hardcopy or softcopy) by checking the relevant section in the National Patient Safety Office on the Department of Health website: https://www.gov.ie/en/collection/c9fa9a-national-clinical-guidelines/

Whilst every care has been taken to ensure that all information contained in this publication is correct, the Department of Health cannot accept responsibility for any errors or omissions which may have occurred.

Published by:

The Department of Health Block 1, Miesian Plaza, 50 – 58 Lower Baggot Street, Dublin, D02 XW14 Tel: +353 (1) 6354000 www.health.gov.ie

ISSN 2009-6259. © Department of Health, December, 2020.

Citation text

Department of Health (2020). Diagnosis, staging and treatment of patients with rectal cancer (NCEC National Clinical Guideline No. 25). Available at: https://www.gov.ie/en/collection/c9fa9a-national-clinical-guidelines/

Membership of the Guideline Development Group

The Guideline Development Group was chaired by Professor Deborah McNamara, Consultant Colorectal Surgeon, Beaumont Hospital. This National Clinical Guideline is supported by the National Cancer Control Programme (NCCP).

Membership nominations were sought from a variety of clinical and non-clinical backgrounds so as to be representative of all key stakeholders within the Health Service Executive. Guideline Development Group members included those involved in clinical practice, research and library services, and health economics.

The NCCP recognise the importance of patient input and their role as key stakeholders in informing quality improvements in our healthcare system. Patients were engaged via patients' support & advocacy groups and charities and invited to contribute to the development of the guideline from a patient's perspective. This approach assisted in capturing the patient experience which encompassed important quality of life issues and patients' values.

Name	Title/Position	Role on guideline group
Professor Deborah McNamara	Consultant Colorectal Surgeon, BH	Chair and Member
Radiology		
Professor Martina Morrin	Consultant Radiologist, BH	Member
Dr Marie Staunton	Consultant Radiologist, MUH	Member
Dr Caitriona Logan	Radiology Specialist Registrar, BH	Member
Dr Stephen Power	Radiology Specialist Registrar, CUH	Member
Dr Nicola Hughes	Radiology Specialist Registrar, CUH	Member
Dr David Ryan	Radiology Specialist Registrar, CUH	Member
Dr David Woodlock	Radiology Specialist Registrar, GUH	Member
Dr Aileen O'Shea	Radiology Specialist Registrar, BH	Member
Dr Damien O'Neill	Radiology Specialist Registrar, BH	Member
Pathology		
Dr Michael Bennett	Consultant Histopathologist, CUH	Member
Professor Elaine Kay	Consultant Histopathologist, BH	Member (until October 2019)
Dr Cian Muldoon	Consultant Histopathologist, SJH	Member
Professor Kieran Sheahan	Consultant Histopathologist, SVUH	Member
Gastroenterology		
Professor Padraic	Consultant Gastroenterologist, MMUH	Member
MacMathuna		
Dr Martin Buckley	Consultant Gastroenterologist, MUH	Member
Dr Subhasish Sengupta	Consultant Gastroenterologist, OLOLH	Member
Dr Barbara Ryan	Consultant Gastroenterologist, TUH	Member

Name	Title/Position	Role on guideline group
Surgery	1	
Ms Eleanor Faul	Consultant Colorectal Surgeon, OLOLH	Member
Ms Ann Hanly	Consultant Colorectal Surgeon, SVUH	Member
Mr Eddie Myers	Consultant Colorectal Surgeon, PH	Member
Ms Ann Brannigan	Consultant Colorectal Surgeon, MMUH	Member
Mr Jurgen Mulsow	Consultant Colorectal Surgeon, MMH	Member (from October 2019)
Mr John Burke	Consultant Colorectal Surgeon, BH	Member (from October 2019)
Mr Emmet Andrews	Consultant Colorectal Surgeon, CUH	Member (from October 2019)
Mr Paul McCormick	Consultant Colorectal Surgeon, SJH	Member (from October 2019)
Professor Fiachra Cooke	Consultant Colorectal Surgeon, UHW	Member (from October 2019)
Professor Calvin Coffey	Consultant Colorectal Surgeon, UL	Member (from October 2019)
Mr Myles Joyce	Consultant Colorectal Surgeon, GUH	Member (from October 2019)
Professor Ronan O'Connell	Consultant Colorectal Surgeon, SVUH	Member (from October 2019)
Dr Gemma Solon	Colorectal Specialist Registrar, MMUH	Member
Dr Ailin Rogers	General Surgery Specialist Registrar, BH	Member
Dr Cillian Clancy	General Surgery Specialist Registrar, MMUH	Member
Dr Babak Meshkat	General Surgery Specialist Registrar, BH	Member
Radiation Oncology		
Dr Brian O'Neill	Consultant Radiation Oncologist, SLRON	Member
Dr Cormac Small	Consultant Radiation Oncologist, GUH	Member
Dr Charles Gillham	Consultant Radiation Oncologist, SLRON	Member
Dr Martin Higgins	Radiation Oncology Specialist Registrar, SLRON	Member (from October 2019)
Dr Julianne O' Shea	Radiation Oncology Specialist Registrar, SLRON	Member (from November 2019)
Dr Emma Connelly	Radiation Oncology Specialist Registrar, CUH	Member (from November 2019)
Dr Geraldine Murphy	Radiation Oncology Specialist Registrar, SLRON	Member (from November 2019)
Palliative Care	I	
Dr Karen Ryan	Consultant in Palliative Medicine, SFH	Member
Project Management		
Ms Keira Doherty- McCullough	Project Manager, NCCP	Project manager and Member (from January 2017)
Ms Deirdre Love	Project Manager, NCCP	Project manager and Member (July 2014 – December 2016)
Ms Angela Clayton-Lea	Project Manager, NCCP	Project manager and Member (December 2012 – May 2014)
Evidence and Research		
Dr Eve O'Toole	Head of Evidence and Quality Hub, NCCP	Methodology Chair and Member
Ms Louise Murphy	Research Officer, NCCP	Research and Member
Dr Helena Gibbons	Senior Research Officer, NCCP	Research and Member
		(from September 2017)

Name	Title/Position	Role on guideline group	
Library			
Ms Margaret Morgan	HSE Librarian, HSE East	Information services	
Ms Maura Flynn	HSE Librarian, HSE Midlands	Information services	
Ms Nicola Fay	HSE Librarian, HSE Midlands	Information services	
Mr Gethin White	HSE Librarian, HSE East	Information services	
Mr Brendan Leen	HSE Librarian, HSE South	Information services	
Ms Marie Carrigan	HSE Librarian, SLRON	Information services	
Ms Helen Clarke	HSE Librarian, SUH	Information services	
Ms Anne Madden	HSE Librarian, SVUH	Information services	
Health Economist			
Ms Rebecca Moore	Health Economist, TCD	Health Economist and Member	
Patient Representative Groups			
Irish Cancer Society Colorectal Cancer Group			
Mayo Stoma Support Group			
Waterford Stoma Support Group			
Southeast Ostomates			

Кеу:	
BH	Beaumont Hospital
CUH	Cork University Hospital
MMUH	The Mater Misericordiae University Hospital
MUH	Mercy University Hospital
NCCP	National Cancer Control Programme
OLOLH	Our Lady of Lourdes Hospital, Drogheda
PH	Portiuncula Hospital, Ballinasloe
SFH	St. Francis Hospice
SJH	St. James's Hospital
SLRON	St. Lukes Radiation Oncology Network
SUH	Sligo University Hospital
SVUH	St Vincents University Hospital
TCD	Trinity College Dublin
TUH	Tallaght University Hospital
GUH	Galway University Hospital
UHW	University Hospital Waterford
UL	University Hospital Limerick

Credits

The role of the NCEC is to prioritise, quality assure and recommend clinical guidelines to the Chief Medical Officer for endorsement by the Minister for Health. It is intended through Ministerial endorsement that full implementation of the guideline will occur through the relevant service plans.

The NCEC and the Department of Health acknowledge and recognise the Chair and members of the Guideline Development Group for development of the guideline. The NCEC and Department of Health wish to express thanks and sincere gratitude to all persons contributing to this National Clinical Guideline; especially those that give of their time on a voluntary basis.

Acknowledgments

The following credits and acknowledgements are made by the Chair of the Guideline Development Group. The Chair, Professor Deborah McNamara wishes to acknowledge all members of the Guideline Development Group as full contributors credited with having given substantial intellectual leadership to the National Clinical Guideline.

Ms Deirdre Love and Dr Eve O' Toole successfully submitted the guideline for NCEC prioritisation. The Guideline Development Group clinical members, methodology chair, research members and project manager agreed the scope and developed the clinical questions. The Guideline Development Group librarians and research members carried out the systematic searches for evidence. The Guideline Development Group research members reviewed the evidence, appraised the literature and performed the data extraction. The Guideline Development Group led by Professor Deborah McNamara and Dr Eve O'Toole carried out the evidence synthesis including formulation of the evidence summaries and recommendations. Ms Keira Doherty-McCullough, Dr Helena Gibbons and Ms Louise Murphy conducted the budget impact analysis. Professor Deborah McNamara, Ms Keira Doherty-McCullough and Dr Eve O'Toole successfully submitted the guideline for NCEC quality assurance. All Guideline Development Group writing members approved the final guideline. Ms Louise Murphy and Dr Helena Gibbons edited the document and prepared it for publication.

The external review was carried out by Professor Maria A. Hawkins (Professor of Radiation Oncology, University College London), Professor Paul Horgan (Professor of Surgery, University of Glasgow), Mr Fergal Fleming (Assistant Professor of Surgery and Oncology, University of Rochester Medical Center, Rochester, New York), Professor Brian Saunders (Professor of Endoscopy Practice, London North West Hospitals University Healthcare Trust), Dr David Burling (Consultant Radiologist, St. Mark's Hospital, Harrow, UK) and Dr Amitabh Srivastava, (Associate Professor of Pathology, Harvard Medical School).

A full list of members of the Guideline Development Group is available in the previous pages.

Signed by the Chair: Professor Deborah McNamara

mil

Date: December, 2020

National Clinical Guidelines

Providing standardised clinical care to patients in healthcare is challenging. This is due to a number of factors, among them diversity in environments of care and complex patient presentations. It is self-evident that safe, effective care and treatment are important in ensuring that patients get the best outcomes from their care.

The Department of Health is of the view that supporting evidence-based practice, through the clinical effectiveness framework, is a critical element of the health service to deliver safe and high quality care. The National Clinical Effectiveness Committee (NCEC) is a Ministerial committee set up in 2010 as a key recommendation of the report of the Commission on Patient Safety and Quality Assurance (2008). The establishment of the Commission was prompted by an increasing awareness of patient safety issues in general and high profile health service system failures at home and abroad.

The NCEC on behalf of the Department of Health has embarked on a quality assured National Clinical Guideline development process linked to service delivery priorities. Furthermore, implementing National Clinical Guidelines sets a standard nationally, to enable healthcare professionals to deliver safe and effective care and treatment while monitoring their individual, team and organisation's performance.

The aim of these National Clinical Guidelines is to reduce unnecessary variations in practice and provide an evidence base for the most appropriate healthcare in particular circumstances. As a consequence of Ministerial mandate, it is expected that NCEC National Clinical Guidelines are implemented across all relevant services in the Irish healthcare setting.

The NCEC is a partnership between key stakeholders in patient safety. NCEC's mission is to provide a framework for national endorsement of clinical guidelines and clinical audit to optimise patient and service user care. The NCEC has a remit to establish and implement processes for the prioritisation and quality assurance of clinical guidelines and clinical audit so as to recommend them to the Minister for Health to become part of a suite of National Clinical Guidelines and National Clinical Audit. The aim of the suite of National Clinical Guidelines is to provide guidance and standards for improving the quality, safety and cost-effectiveness of healthcare in Ireland. The implementation of these National Clinical Guidelines will support the provision of evidence-based and consistent care across Irish healthcare services.

NCEC Terms of Reference

- 1. Provide strategic leadership for the national clinical effectiveness agenda.
- 2. Contribute to national patient safety and quality improvement agendas.
- 3. Publish standards for clinical practice guidance.
- 4. Publish guidance for National Clinical Guidelines and National Clinical Audit.
- 5. Prioritise and quality assure National Clinical Guidelines and National Clinical Audit.
- 6. Commission National Clinical Guidelines and National Clinical Audit.
- 7. Align National Clinical Guidelines and National Clinical Audit with implementation levers.
- 8. Report periodically on the implementation and impact of National Clinical Guidelines and the performance of National Clinical Audit.
- 9. Establish sub-committees for NCEC workstreams.
- 10. Publish an annual report.

Table of contents

Section	1: Background	
1.1	Impact of rectal cancer in Ireland	9
1.2	The National Cancer Control Programme, cancer centres and multidisciplinary teams	9
1.3	Centralisation of services	9
1.4	Colorectal Cancer National Clinical Leads Group	10
1.5	Context and scope of this National Clinical Guideline	10
Section	a 2: National Clinical Guideline recommendations	
2.1	Summary of recommendations, practical considerations around patient care and summary of	11
	budget impact analysis	
2.2	Diagnosis and staging	15
2.3	Restaging	27
2.4	Treatment: Emergency presentation	29
2.5	Treatment: Patients with early rectal cancer	32
2.6	Treatment: Patients receiving neoadjuvant therapy	37
2.7	Treatment: Surgical techniques	46
2.8	Treatment: Patients receiving adjuvant therapy	52
2.9	Treatment: Palliative care	54

n 3: Development of this National Clinical Guideline	
Epidemiology	56
Rationale for this National Clinical Guideline	58
Aims and objectives	58
Financial impact of rectal cancer	59
Guideline scope	60
Conflict of interest statement	60
Sources of funding	61
Guideline methodology	61
Consultation process	64
External review	64
Plan to update this National Clinical Guideline	65
Implementation	65
Monitoring and audit	66
Recommendations for research	66
	 n 3: Development of this National Clinical Guideline Epidemiology Rationale for this National Clinical Guideline Aims and objectives Financial impact of rectal cancer Guideline scope Conflict of interest statement Sources of funding Guideline methodology Consultation process External review Plan to update this National Clinical Guideline Implementation Monitoring and audit Recommendations for research

Secti	ion 4: Appendices	
1	Guideline Development Group terms of reference and logic model	67
2	Clinical and economic questions in PICO format	70
3	Supporting tools	76
4	Systematic literature review protocol	78
5	Details of consultation process	84
6	Economic assessment	85
	Part A: Economic evidence summary	85
	Part B: Budget impact analysis	113
7	Implementation plan	122
8	Monitoring and audit	136
9	Glossary of terms and abbreviations	139
10	Levels of evidence and grading systems	143
Refe	rences	145

| A National Clinical Guideline

List of tables	
Table 1 Mean sensitivity (on a per lesion basis) of MRI and CT in the detection of colorectal liver metastases based on lesion size and study year (Niekel et al., 2010)	6
Table 2 Mean sensitivity (on a per patient basis) of MRI and FDG PET-CT in the detection of colorectal liver metastases (Niekel et al., 2010)	3
Table 3 Tumour localisation and the prevalence of synchronous colorectal cancer (Mulder et al., 2011) 2011)
Table 4 Tumour localisation and the prevalence of synchronous colorectal cancer (Mulder et al., 2011) 22	2
Table 5 Modified Ryan tumour regression grading system	5
Table 6 Estimated annual average incidence for colorectal cancer in Ireland, 2018–2020 (NCRI, 2020)	;
Table 7 Estimated percentage and ranking among total cancer incidences of the most commonly diagnosed invasive cancers (excluding non-melanoma skin cancers) in Ireland, 2018–2020 (NCRI, 2020)	
Table 8 Annual average mortality rate from colorectal cancer, 2015 –2017 (NCRI, 2020)	,
Table 9 Percentage and ranking of the most common cancer deaths in Ireland, 2015 – 2017 (NCRI, 2020)57	,
Table 10 Estimated complete prevalence of colorectal cancer on 31 st December 2018, by age and sex (NCRI, 2020) 57	1
Table 11 Projected numbers of incident cases 2020-2045 (with % increase compared to 2015): cancer of the rectum & anus (NCRI, 2019b)	3
Table 12 Conflicts of interests declared by members of the Guideline Development Group)
Table 13 Membership of the NCCP Guideline Steering Group67	,
Table 14 Guideline contributors 67	,
Table 15 Economic literature review protocol87	,
Table 16 Budget impact assessment of operational costs (excluding staff) in implementing recommendations115	5
Table 17 Budget impact assessment of staff costs of implementing recommendations	1
Table 18 Total cost of implementing the guideline recommendations 121	L
Table 19 Cancer Strategy recommendations relevant to implementation (DOH, 2017)	5
Table 20 Key Performance Indicators relevant to implementation (DOH, 2017)	5
Table 21 Key Performance Indicators relevant to implementation (NCCP) 135	5
Table 22 Recommendations identified by the Guideline Development Group as areas suitable for audit	õ
Table 23 National Cancer Strategy and NCCP Key Performance Indicators relevant to implementation	7
Table 24 Levels of evidence for diagnostic studies (Oxford CEBM, 2009)	1
Table 25 Grades of recommendations for diagnostic studies (Oxford CEBM, 2009) 141	L
Table 26 Levels of evidence for interventional studies (SIGN grading system 1999-2012)	1
Table 27 Grades of recommendations for interventional studies (SIGN grading system 1999-2012)	1

List of figures

Figure 1 Staging algorithm recommended by the Guideline Development Group for patients with rectal cancer and		
suspected hepatic metastases		
Figure 2 The stages of guideline development	63	
Figure 3 Economic literature review results breakdown		



1.1 Impact of rectal cancer in Ireland

Cancer is a major healthcare challenge. Each year in Ireland, approximately 24,793 people are diagnosed with invasive cancer (excluding non-melanoma skin cancer (NMSC)) (National Cancer Registry Ireland (NCRI), 2020). Cancer is the second leading cause of death in Ireland after diseases of the circulatory system. Deaths from cancer averaged about 9,063 deaths per year during 2015-2017 (NCRI, 2020).

Cancer incidence data from the NCRI and population projections from the Central Statistics Office (CSO) have been combined by the NCRI to estimate the number of new cancer cases expected in five year bands from 2020 to 2045. Assuming that average age-standardised rates during 2011-2015 continue to apply ('demographic' projection), annual numbers of cases of all cancers combined (excluding NMSC) are projected to increase in males from 11,460 in 2015 to 24,160 in 2045 (+111%) and in females from 10,240 in 2015 to 18,840 in 2045 (+84%) — a doubling of numbers overall (+98%) (NCRI, 2019b).

Colorectal cancer is the second most common newly diagnosed cancer among men and the third most common among women. Each year approximately 2,800 new cases of colorectal cancer are reported (2018-202) (NCRI, 2020). The incidence of rectal cancer (ICD-10, C19-21) in Ireland is projected to rise. By 2045 the incidence of rectal cancers is projected to increase by 97% in females and 93% in males (based on demographic changes alone) (NCRI, 2019b).

1.2 The National Cancer Control Programme, cancer centres and multidisciplinary teams

The National Cancer Control Programme (NCCP) was established in 2007 to implement the recommendations of the 2006 National Cancer Strategy (Department of Health and Children (DoHC), 2006). In Ireland, there are nine hospitals designated as cancer centres which includes one paediatric cancer centre.

Recommendation 13 of the National Cancer Strategy 2017-2026 (Department of Health, 2017) states "Patients diagnosed with cancer will have their case formally discussed at a multidisciplinary team meeting. The NCCP, working with the Hospital Groups, will oversee and support multidisciplinary team composition, processes and reporting of outcomes"

A multidisciplinary team consists of clinicians representative of the specialities required to diagnose and treat a specific disease. For the implementation of this guideline the multidisciplinary teams must have representation from diagnostic and treatment specialities with experience in rectal cancer.

1.3 Centralisation of services

Cancer patients should have access to high quality care staffed by appropriate specialists to ensure optimal treatment and improve patient outcomes. Recommendation 21 of The National Cancer Strategy 2017-2026 states "The NCCP will draw up a plan setting out which number/location of designated cancer centres in which surgery will take place for the various tumour types. Timescales for the implementation of the plan will be included for each tumour type" (Department of Health, 2017).

The National Cancer Strategy 2017-2026 has set a target that 95% of cancer surgeries performed in public hospitals will be conducted in approved centres by 2020. The NCCP is working together with the Department of Health and the HSE Acute Hospital Division to achieve this goal. It is acknowledged in the implementation plan for this guideline, that centralisation of rectal cancer services is required in order to implement a number of its recommendations. Funding for centralisation of cancer surgeries will be sought through normal service planning processes.

1.4 Colorectal Cancer National Clinical Leads Group

The purpose of the Colorectal Cancer National Clinical Leads Group is to advise on the governance arrangements for colon and rectal cancer services nationally, ensuring it operates as a cohesive national clinical network for the purpose of clinical audit, sharing of good practice and problem solving. Membership of this group includes; clinicians with expertise in colorectal surgery, radiation oncology and medical oncology. Importantly, there is cross over between those involved in the clinical leads group and membership of the rectal Guideline Development Group which is key for the implementation of this guideline.

1.5 Context and scope of this National Clinical Guideline

The National Cancer Strategy (Department of Health and Children (DoHC), 2006) recommended that national, tumour site-specific, multidisciplinary groups be convened to develop national evidencebased clinical guidelines for cancer care. The purpose of developing these guidelines is to improve the quality of care received by patients.

The National Cancer Strategy 2017-2026 (Department of Health, 2017) recommendation 37 states that "the NCCP will develop further guidelines for cancer care in line with National Clinical Effectiveness Committee (NCEC) standards".

A Guideline Development Group was established to develop evidence-based guidelines for the diagnosis, staging and treatment of patients with rectal cancer. The guideline development process is described in detail in Section 3: Development of this National Clinical Guideline. This National Clinical Guideline integrates the best current research evidence with clinical expertise and patient values.

This guideline includes recommendations on the diagnosis, staging, and treatment of patients with rectal cancer. It focuses on areas of clinical practice that are known to be controversial or uncertain, where there is variation in practice, where there is new or emerging evidence, and where there is potential for most impact for the patient and services. It does not include recommendations covering every aspect of diagnosis, staging, and treatment. The aims, objectives and the scope of the guideline are outlined Section 3.3 Aims and objectives.

National Clinical Guideline recommendations

2.1 Summary of clinical recommendations, practical considerations around patient care and summary of budget impact analysis

Here follows a list of all the recommendations in this guideline, along with the grade of that recommendation. The grade reflects the level of evidence upon which the recommendations were based, the clinical significance of the evidence, and whether further research is likely to change the recommendation. The levels of evidence and grading systems used are documented in Appendix 10: Levels of evidence & grading systems.

A list of practical considerations around patient care was generated through collaboration with patients and patient representative organisations. The NCCP recognises the importance of patient input and of their role as key stakeholders in informing quality improvements in our healthcare system. This approach assisted in capturing the patient experience and aided discussion on important quality of life issues and patient values.

Recommendation	Grade
Diagnosis and staging	
2.2.1.1	
Initial staging	C
Contrast enhanced CT-TAP should be employed for the initial staging of patients diagnosed	C
with rectal cancer.	
2.2.1.2	
Hepatic metastases	۸
Hepatocyte specific contrast enhanced MRI of the liver is the best modality for evaluation of	A
liver metastases in patients with rectal cancer.	
2.2.1.3	
Extrahepatic metastases	
Currently, PET-CT is not a first-line imaging modality for staging rectal cancer and can be	С
used as a problem solving tool in patients with equivocal imaging findings following a	
discussion at a multidisciplinary team meeting.	
2.2.2.1	
Imaging for further liver lesions	
Hepatocyte specific contrast enhanced MRI of the liver is the imaging modality of choice in	Α
patients with rectal cancer with a potentially resectable liver lesion to detect further liver	
lesions.	
2.2.2.2	
Imaging for further liver lesions	C
PET-CT can be considered in patients with potentially resectable liver lesion with equivocal	C
imaging findings following discussion at a multidisciplinary team meeting.	
2.2.3.1	C
Patients with rectal cancer should have an MRI for locoregional staging.	C
2.2.3.2	
When local expertise (surgical, radiology or gastroenterology) is available, preoperative	р
endorectal ultrasound in low early rectal lesions may be considered to allow for surgical	D
planning following discussion at a multidisciplinary team meeting.	
2.2.4.1	
In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer whose tumour cannot be endoscopically passed,	
preoperative CT colonography should be considered to look for synchronous lesions and to	D
allow for surgical planning. CT colonography should only be performed when local expertise	
is available	

Recommendation	Grade
Diagnosis and staging	Giude
In natients with rectal cancer, complete visualisation of the entire colon by colonoscony or	
CT colonography is recommended prior to surgery. CT colonography should only be	С
nerformed in centres experienced in the technique	
2 2 5 2	
z.z.j.z In nationals diagnosed with rectal cancer whose tumour cannot be endosconically	
nassed preoperative CT colonography should be considered to look for synchronous	р
lesions and to allow for surgical planning. CT colonography should only be performed when	D
local expertise is available	
2.2.0.1	
many nodes as possible, all of which should be submitted for microscopic examination (С
avaluation. Overall, the median for the laboratory should be at least 12	
2.2.7.1	D
in patients ulagnosed with rectal cancer Haggitt and Kikuchi classification systems may be	U
2.2.0.1	Р
recommended to employ the modified Pyan tymour regression grading system	В
2 2 0	
2.2.3 Staging algorithm for nationts with rectal cancer and suspecteded henatic metastases	
Postaging algorithm for patients with rectal cancer and suspecteded nepatic metastases	
2.3.1.1	C
to date reliably predicts a pathological complete response	C
2 2 1 2	
2.3.1.2	
strategy is planned frequent multimodal assessment and surveillance including DRF	D
endoscony and imaging should be undertaken	
Treatment: Emergency presentation	
Curative intent	
In select natients with obstructing upper rectal cancers stenting as a bridge to surgery may	C
he considered.	
2.4.1.2	
Palliative intent	
Stenting can be considered for the palliation of patients with upper rectal cancer (i.e. in	С
those who are not appropriate for immediate resection or in those with advanced disease)	
Treatment: Patients with early rectal cancer	
2.5.1.1	
For patients who present with predicted node negative T1 rectal cancer with favourable	В
histopathological features, local excision may be considered.	
2.5.1.2	
For patients being treated with curative intent for T1 rectal cancer with unfavourable	В
histopathological features or T2 cancers, TME is recommended.	
2.5.2.1	
In patients with rectal cancer who have undergone local excision radical surgery should be	В
considered if adverse pathological features are present.	

4	-
	- 5
-	

Recommendation	Grade			
Treatment: Patients receiving neoadjuvant therapy				
2.6.1.1.				
In patients with stage III rectal cancer preoperative short-course radiotherapy or	В			
chemoradiotherapy should be considered.				
2.6.1.2				
In patients with rectal cancer, preoperative chemoradiotherapy is recommended for	В			
patients with a threatened or involved CRM.				
2.6.2.1				
In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer who have an apparent complete clinical response to				
chemoradiation radical surgery is the standard of care. However, a watch and wait approach	С			
should be discussed with the patient and may be considered following shared decision				
making.				
2.6.3.1				
In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer where preoperative therapy has been	•			
recommended and the CRM is not threatened or involved short-course radiotherapy or	A			
chemoradiotherapy may be considered.				
2.6.3.2				
In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer preoperative chemoradiotherapy is recommended	Α			
for patients with a threatened or involved CRM.				
2.6.4.1				
In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer undergoing neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy IMRT	С			
and 3D-CRT techniques can both be considered.				
2.6.5.1				
In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer undergoing neoadjuvant chemoradiation the	В			
routine use of a boost is not recommended.				
2.6.5.2				
In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer undergoing neoadjuvant chemoradiation boost can	D			
be considered in selected high risk patients.				
Treatment: Surgical techniques				
2.7.1.1				
In patients with rectal cancer high quality total mesorectal excision (TME) surgery should be	В			
performed.				
2.7.2.1				
There is no clear evidence of difference in postoperative genitourinary function between	D			
minimally invasive and open total mesorectal excision (TME)				
Treatment: Patients receiving adjuvant therapy				
2.8.1.1				
In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer who have had a resection with a positive margin	C			
and have not received preoperative radiotherapy then postoperative chemoradiotherapy is	C			
an acceptable salvage approach.				
Treatment: Palliative care				
2.9.1.1	с —			
For patients with cancer, early provision of palliative care can improve patient outcomes.	Ľ			
2.9.1.2				
Assessment of palliative care needs should be an ongoing process throughout the course of	D			
a patient's cancer illness and services provided on the basis of identified need.				

Practical considerations around patient care

- Patients with rectal cancer should have access to a stoma care/clinical nurse specialist to co-ordinate patients' education and care requirements that impact on quality of life.
- Consider referral of patients with rectal cancer to psycho-oncology and/or a medical social worker for psychological support.
- Patients with rectal cancer should be made aware of voluntary cancer support groups, charities and organisations to contact for support inside and outside the hospital setting.
- Patients with rectal cancer should be fully informed of the side effects of different treatment types they may undergo.
- All healthcare professionals who provide care to patients with rectal cancer should use patient friendly language when communicating with patients about their diagnosis, staging and treatment.
- Patients should be referred for a prehabilitation and preoperative assessment to identify what supports the patient requires.

Summary of budget impact analysis [†]				
Cost	2020	2021	2022	Total cost
Total capital costs for implementing recommendations	€511,744	€511,744	€511,744	€1,535,232
Total revenue costs of implementing the	Await outcome of surgical centralisation and			
recommendations	workforce	planning		_
Total cost of implementing the guideline				€1,535,232
				+ Total
				Revenue
				costs (TBC)

⁺ See Table 17 Budget impact assessment of staff costs of implementing recommendations for more information.

2.2 Diagnosis and staging

The following are responsible for implementation of the recommendations regarding diagnosis and staging:

While the CEO, General Manager and the Clinical Director of the hospital have corporate responsibility for the implementation of the recommendations in this National Clinical Guideline, each member of the multidisciplinary team is responsible for the implementation of the individual guideline recommendations relevant to their discipline.

Clinical question 2.2.1

In patients with newly diagnosed rectal cancer, is CT-TAP the best imaging modality for diagnosing:

- i) Hepatic metastasis
- ii) Extrahepatic metastasis

Evidence summary

Initial staging

An UpToDate review (Macrae and Bendell, 2020) and a clinical guideline (NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines In Oncology (NCCN Guidelines[®]), 2020) addressed the most suitable imaging modality for initial staging of patients with newly diagnosed rectal cancer.

The NCCN (2020) panel recommends that all patients with stage II, III, or IV colorectal cancer undergo chest, abdomen, and pelvic CT before resection. In general, it is preferable to obtain these scans prior to, rather than after surgery, as the scan results will occasionally change surgical planning. (Macrae and Bendell, 2020)

Preoperative imaging for rectal cancer includes chest/abdominal CT and pelvic MRI or chest CT and abdominal/pelvic MRI. (NCCN, 2020)

Hepatic metastases

Three meta-analyses (Niekel et al., 2010, Floriani et al., 2010, Maffione et al., 2015a), an UpToDate review (Macrae and Bendell, 2020) and a clinical guideline (NCCN, 2020) addressed the issue of the most suitable imaging modality for identifying hepatic metastases.

The best meta-analysis from a methodological point of view was deemed to be Niekel et al. (2010). They concluded that MRI is the preferred first-line imaging study for evaluating colorectal cancer liver metastases in patients who have not previously undergone therapy (Table 1) (Niekel et al., 2010).

Table 1 Mean sensitivity (on a per lesion basis) of MRI and CT in the detection of colorectal liver metastasesbased on lesion size and study year (Niekel et al., 2010)

	Mean sensitivity (%)		
Subgroup	MRI	СТ	
Lesion size			
<10mm	60.2 (54.4, 65.7) [n=8]	47.3 (40.1, 54.5) [n=5]	
≥10mm	89.0 (81.7, 93.7) [n=8]	86.7 (77.6, 92.5) [n=5]	
Study year			
Before January 2004	70.2 (63.2, 76.3) [n=34]	73.4 (61.0, 83.0) [n=20]	
After January 2004	84.9 (79.3, 89.2) [n=27]	74.9 (69.1, 79.9) [n=18]	
Numbers in parentheses are the 95% CIs, numbers in brackets are numbers of data sets			

In current practice, hepatocyte specific contrast enhanced liver MRI is generally reserved for patients who have suspicious but not definitive findings on CT scan, particularly if better definition of hepatic disease burden is needed in order to make decisions about potential hepatic resection (Macrae and Bendell, 2020).

The consensus of the NCCN panel is that a PET scan is not indicated for preoperative staging of rectal cancer. PET-CT, if done, does not supplant a contrast-enhanced diagnostic CT scan. PET-CT should only be used to evaluate an equivocal finding on a contrast-enhanced CT scan or in patients with a strong contraindication to IV contrast. (NCCN, 2020)

Extrahepatic metastases

An UpToDate review (Macrae and Bendell, 2020) addressed the most suitable imaging modality for identifying patients with extrahepatic metastasis.

The clinical benefit of routine clinical staging with chest CT is also controversial. At least in theory, imaging of the chest might be of more value for rectal cancer since venous drainage of the lower rectum is through the hemorrhoidal veins to the vena cava, bypassing the liver, and lung metastases might be more common (Kirke et al., 2007). (Macrae and Bendell, 2020)

Recommendation 2.2.1.1	Grade
Initial staging	
Contrast enhanced CT-TAP should be employed for the initial staging of patients diagnosed	С
with rectal cancer.	

Recommendation 2.2.1.2	Grade
Hepatic metastases	
Hepatocyte specific contrast enhanced MRI of the liver is the best modality for evaluation	Α
of liver metastases in patients with rectal cancer.	

Recommendation 2.2.1.3	Grade
Extrahepatic metastases	
Currently, PET-CT is not a first-line imaging modality for staging rectal cancer and can be	C
used as a problem solving tool in patients with equivocal imaging findings following a	Ľ
discussion at a multidisciplinary team meeting.	

Good Practice Point

If CT with IV contrast is contraindicated, then a non-contrast CT thorax, abdomen and pelvis in addition to an MRI liver should be considered.

Clinical question 2.2.2

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer with a potentially resectable liver lesion, is MRI of the liver superior to PET-CT in determining the presence of further liver lesions?

Evidence summary

Hepatic metastases

Three meta-analyses (Niekel et al., 2010, Floriani et al., 2010, Maffione et al., 2015a) an UpToDate review (Macrae and Bendell, 2020) and a clinical guideline (NCCN, 2020) addressed the issue of the imaging modality of choice for diagnosing hepatic metastases.

The best meta-analysis from a methodological point of view was deemed to be Niekel et al. (2010). The authors concluded that as there was a limited number of FDG PET/CT studies, no check for heterogeneity could be performed and the number of studies was small, MRI is the preferred first-line imaging study for evaluating colorectal cancer liver metastases in patients who have not previously undergone therapy (Table 2) (Niekel et al., 2010).

Table 2 Mean sensitivity (on a per patient basis) of MRI and FDG PET-CT in the detection of colorectal liver metastases (Niekel et al., 2010)

Modality	Mean sensitivity (%)	Mean specificity (%)	
MRI (n=6)*	88.2 (64.8, 96.8) †	92.5 (89.5, 94.6) †	
PET-CT (n=3)*	96.5 (94.2, 97.9) †	97.2 (92.8, 99.0) †	
* Numbers in parentheses are numbers of data sets			
⁺ Numbers in parentheses are 95% CIs			

In current practice, hepatocyte specific contrast enhanced liver MRI is generally reserved for patients who have suspicious but not definitive findings on CT scan, particularly if better definition of hepatic disease burden is needed in order to make decisions about potential hepatic resection (Macrae and Bendell, 2020).

The consensus of the NCCN panel is that a PET scan is not indicated for preoperative staging of rectal cancer. PET-CT, if done, does not supplant a contrast-enhanced diagnostic CT scan. PET-CT should only be used to evaluate an equivocal finding on a contrast-enhanced CT scan or in patients with a strong contraindication to IV contrast. (NCCN, 2020)

Recommendation 2.2.2.1	Grade
Imaging for further liver lesions	
Hepatocyte specific contrast enhanced MRI of the liver is the imaging modality of choice	^
in patients with rectal cancer with a potentially resectable liver lesion to detect further liver	A
lesions.	

Recommendation 2.2.2.2	Grade
Imaging for further liver lesions	
PET-CT can be considered in patients with potentially resectable liver lesion with	С
equivocal imaging findings following discussion at a multidisciplinary team meeting.	

Good Practice Point

PET-CT scans should only be requested after discussion at a multidisciplinary team meeting.

| A National Clinical Guideline

Clinical question 2.2.3

In patients newly diagnosed with rectal cancer, is MRI superior to endorectal ultrasound in assessing the local extent of tumour?

Evidence summary

A prospective study (Fernández-Esparrach et al., 2011) and a clinical guideline (SIGN, 2016) addressed this clinical question.

Endorectal ultrasound and MRI are useful and comparable techniques for T and N staging of rectal cancer. Endorectal ultrasound performs better than MRI in early stage (T1, T2) cancers, whereas MRI has better results with T3 and T4 lesions (Fernández-Esparrach et al., 2011).

Endoluminal US and MRI have complementary roles in the assessment of tumour depth. In patients with early tumours who may benefit from local excision, endoluminal US can be used to assess the degree of tumour penetration in relation to rectal wall layers (Bipat et al., 2004, Skandarajah and Tjandra, 2006, Puli et al., 2010) (SIGN, 2016).

The consensus of the Guideline Development Group is that endorectal ultrasound outperforms MRI for local staging and sphincter involvement for low rectal cancers. Endorectal ultrasound is a complimentary modality to MRI and is extremely operator dependant. When local expertise (surgical, radiology or gastroenterology) is available, preoperative endorectal ultrasound in low early rectal lesions may be considered to allow for surgical planning following discussion at a multidisciplinary team meeting.

Recommendation 2.2.3.1	Grade
Patients with rectal cancer should have an MRI for locoregional staging.	С

Recommendation 2.2.3.2	Grade
When local expertise (surgical, radiology or gastroenterology) is available, preoperative endorectal ultrasound in low early rectal lesions may be considered to allow for surgical planning following discussion at a multidisciplinary team meeting.	D

Good Practice Point

Endorectal ultrasound is a complementary modality to MRI, it is extremely operator dependant and should only be performed in a cancer centre by appropriately trained professionals, following discussion at a multidisciplinary team meeting.

Clinical Question 2.2.4

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer whose tumour cannot be endoscopically passed, is CT colonography necessary prior to surgery?

Evidence summary

One prospective study (Mulder et al., 2011) and two retrospective studies (Flor et al., 2020, Park et al., 2012) addressed this clinical question.

All newly diagnosed colorectal cancer patients (n=13,683) were obtained from the Rotterdam Cancer Registry, and studied for synchronous colorectal cancer between 1995 and 2006. There was a large sample size and the study sample was representative of both the study population and target population (Mulder et al., 2011).

Of 3,168 patients with primary rectal cancer 2.5% of patients were found to have a synchronous colorectal lesion (Table 3) (Mulder et al., 2011). Of those synchronous neoplasms, 39.2% were located in a different surgical segment therefore the detection of a synchronous lesion(s) may change management in a number of patients (Mulder et al., 2011).

	Sample size (n)	Solitary cancer	Synchronous cancer
Rectum	3,168 (23.1%)	3,088	80 (2.5%)
Left colon	5,985 (43.7%)	5,724	261 (4.4%)
Right colon	4,530 (33.2%)	4,337	193 (4.3%)
Total	13,683	13,149	534 (3.9%)

Table 3 Tumour localisation and the prevalence of synchronous colorectal cancer (Mulder et al., 2011)

In obstructing colorectal cancer, pre-operative CT colonography is technically feasible and allows detection of synchronous colonic neoplasms with a high sensitivity. Suboptimal bowel preparation can occur in approximately 3 to 3.6% (Park et al., 2012, Flor et al., 2020) of patients; however the CT colonography completion rate across studies has been greater than 95%.

Park et al. (2012) evaluated CT colonography examinations in 284 patients with stenosing colorectal cancer. The per-patient CT colonography sensitivity for detecting patients harbouring synchronous colorectal cancer and advanced neoplasia in the proximal colon was 100% (6/6 patients) and 88.6% (39/44 patients), respectively. The corresponding per-patient NPV was high, 100% (194/194 patients) for proximal synchronous colorectal cancers and 97.4% (189/194) for advanced neoplasia. Therefore, negative CT colonography findings in the proximal colon exclude the need for additional surgical procedures in the proximal colon with high confidence (Park et al., 2012).

Flor et al. (2020) showed that CT colonography is a highly accurate test for detecting synchronous colonic lesions in patients with occlusive colorectal cancer. The prevalence of advanced neoplasia in their patient cohort was high (23%). They evaluated 70 patients with stenosing colorectal cancer of whom 27 (39%) had at least one 6-mm or larger synchronous lesion, and four patients (6%) had a total of five synchronous colorectal cancers. The overall per-patient CT colonography sensitivity in detecting synchronous lesions 6 mm or larger was 0.93 (25/27); specificity, 0.98 (42/43); PPV, 0.96; and NPV, 0.95. Per-patient sensitivity in the diagnosis of synchronous colorectal cancer was 1.00 (4/4). Per-patient sensitivity for the diagnosis of synchronous advanced neoplasia (advanced adenoma and colorectal cancers) was 0.94 (15/16). Per-lesion CT colonography sensitivity for detecting synchronous lesions 6 mm or larger was 0.88 (37/42), all adenomatous lesions was 0.89 (55/62) and advanced neoplasia, 0.92 (22/24). Per-lesion sensitivity of CT colonography for detecting colorectal cancers was 100% (5/5) (Flor et al., 2020).

Recommendation 2.2.4.1	Grade
In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer whose tumour cannot be endoscopically passed, preoperative CT colonography should be considered to look for synchronous lesions and to allow for surgical planning. CT colonography should only be performed when local expertise is available.	D

21

Good Practice Point

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer whose tumour cannot be endoscopically passed preoperative CT colonography is technically feasible and allows detection of synchronous colonic neoplasm with high sensitivity.

Good Practice Point

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer whose tumour cannot be endoscopically passed preoperative CT colonography should only be perfomed and interpreted by appropriately trained individuals.

Good Practice Point

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer who show symptoms of an obstruction, CT colonography should be avoided where risk of perforation outweighs potential benefit of identifying synchronous cancer and advanced neoplasia.

Clinical question 2.2.5

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer, is complete colonoscopy always necessary prior to surgery?

Evidence summary

One meta-analysis (Pickhardt et al., 2011), three randomised control trials (Halligan et al., 2015, Atkin et al., 2013, von Wagner et al., 2012) and one prospective study (Mulder et al., 2011) addressed this clinical question.

An important aspect of preoperative staging is complete visualisation of the colon. When a cancer has been diagnosed a complete colonoscopy or CT colonography should be carried out prior to surgery, if possible, to detect synchronous tumours.

Synchronous colorectal lesions were found in 2.5 % of patients with primary a rectal cancer lesion (Mulder et al., 2011) (Table 4).

	Sample size (n)	Solitary cancer (n)	Synchronous tumour prevalence (%)
Rectum	3,168 (23.1%)	3,088	80 (2.5%)
Left colon	5,985 (43.7%)	5,724	261 (4.4%)
Right colon	4,530 (33.2%)	4,337	193 (4.3%)
Total	13,683	13,149	534 (3.9%)

Table 4 Tumour localisation and the prevalence of synchronous colorectal cancer (Mulder et al., 2011)

The detection of synchronous tumours is important because of the implications for change of surgical management.

CT colonography and colonoscopy detect a similar proportion of cancers (96.1 vs. 94.7%) (Pickhardt et al., 2011) and their costs are also similar according to Halligan et al. (2015). Colonoscopy has the facility to take a biopsy from any suspected lesion and also permits complete removal of most benign lesions during the same procedure. The presence or absence of an obstruction will determine the feasibility of colonoscopy.

Non-completion rates for diagnostic colonoscopy in symptomatic patients are approximately 11-12% (Atkin et al., 2013). Reasons for incompleteness include the inability of the colonoscope to reach the tumour or to visualise the mucosa proximal to the tumour for technical reasons (e.g., partially or completely obstructing cancer, tortuous colon, poor preparation) and patient intolerance of the examination.

In non-emergent obstructing lesions or in the presence of an impending obstruction, where a colonoscopy may not be possible, CT colonography provides a non-invasive alternative (see Clinical Question 2.2.4). CT colonography is more tolerable and acceptable to patients (von Wagner et al., 2012).

Recommendation 2.2.5.1	Grade
In patients with rectal cancer, complete visualisation of the entire colon by colonoscopy or CT colonography is recommended prior to surgery. CT colonography should only be performed in centres experienced in the technique.	С

Recommendation 2.2.5.2	Grade
In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer whose tumour cannot be endoscopically passed, preoperative CT colonography should be considered to look for synchronous lesions and to allow for surgical planning. CT colonography should only be performed when local expertise is available.	D

Clinical question 2.2.6

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer, is there a minimum number of lymph nodes that need to be identified in a resection specimen and, if so, what is that number?

Evidence summary

Current guidelines (NCCN, 2020, Royal College of Pathologists (RCPath), 2018) addressed this clinical question.

It is very important to emphasise that all of the lymph nodes that can be found in a specimen are examined histologically as the number of lymph nodes identified in resection specimens from patients with stage II and stage III colon cancer has been positively correlated with survival (Chang et al., 2007). The setting of a standard of 12 for the median number of lymph nodes examined per specimen in no way means that pathologists should stop searching for lymph nodes once 12 have been identified. Placing the specimen in a fat-clearing agent for 24 hours, after initial dissection, may be used to help increase nodal yield. Other methods such as GEWF (glacial acetic acid, ethanol, distilled water, formaldehyde) fixation have also been used for this purpose. This approach is not routinely recommended but should be considered if the laboratory has low lymph node yields or in the context of preoperative therapy. Judgement of quality should be on the median number of lymph nodes found by an individual dissector interpreted in the light of the material reported by the individual pathologist. (RCPath, 2018)

Two studies confined only to rectal cancer have reported 14 and >10 lymph nodes as the minimal number to accurately identify stage II rectal cancer (Pocard et al., 1998, Tepper et al., 2001). The number of lymph nodes retrieved can vary with age of the patient, gender, tumour grade, and tumour site (Sarli et al., 2005). For stage II (pN0) colon cancer, if fewer than 12 lymph nodes are initially identified, it is recommended that the pathologist go back to the specimen and resubmit more tissue of potential lymph nodes. If 12 lymph nodes are still not identified, a comment in the report should indicate that an extensive search for lymph nodes was undertaken. The mean number of lymph nodes retrieved from rectal cancers treated with

neoadjuvant therapy is significantly less than those treated by surgery alone (13 vs. 19, p<.05, 7 vs. 10, p<.001) (Wichmann et al., 2002, Baxter et al., 2005). If 12 lymph nodes is considered the number needed to accurately identify stage II tumours, then only 20% of cases treated with neoadjuvant therapy had adequate lymph node sampling (Baxter et al., 2005). To date, the number of lymph nodes needed to accurately stage neoadjuvant-treated cases is unknown. (NCCN, 2020)

A more recent analysis of patients with stage I or II rectal cancer in the SEER database found that OS improved with greater numbers of lymph nodes retrieved (Kidner et al., 2012). (NCCN, 2020)

Recommendation 2.2.6.1	Grade
In patients undergoing surgery with rectal cancer, it is recommended to identify as many nodes as possible, all of which should be submitted for microscopic examination/evaluation. Overall, the median for the laboratory should be at least 12.	С

Good Practice Point

Where fewer than 12 nodes are identified, additional effort should be made to identify further lymph nodes, particularly in the area adjacent to the tumour (primary nodal basin).

Good Practice Point

There are many factors which may reduce the number of nodes retrieved in individual cases, including neoadjuvant treatment, patient age and surgical technique.

| A National Clinical Guideline

Clinical question 2.2.7

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer, are the Haggitt and Kikuchi classification systems sufficiently applicable to recommend their use?

Evidence summary

An International guideline (RCPath, 2018) addressed this clinical question.

Neither Kikuchi (for sessile tumours) nor Haggitt (for polypoid tumours) systems are always easy to use in practice, especially if there is fragmentation or suboptimal orientation of the tissue, and one study found lymph node metastatic disease in 6/24 Haggitt level 3 lesions (Ueno et al., 2004). Kikuchi level requires division of the submucosa into thirds and this is not possible to do accurately unless muscularis propria is included in the specimen, which is rare in most local excision specimens with the exception of some transanal resection specimens. (RCPath, 2018)

Given these difficulties, and resultant limitations on clinical utility of Haggitt and Kikuchi levels, they should be reported as applicable and where possible, in the absence of good evidence as yet to recommend alternative measures. (RCPath, 2018)

Recommendation 2.2.7.1	Grade
In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer Haggitt and Kikuchi classification systems may be	D
considered where deemed applicable but are not routinely recommended.	_

Clinical question 2.2 8

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer receiving neoadjuvant chemoradiation:

a) Should a tumour regression grading (TRG) system be employed

b) If so, which one?

a) Multiple grading systems have been shown to predict recurrence and survival outcome.

An International guideline (RCPath, 2018) and a prospective cohort study (Ryan et al., 2005) addressed this clinical question.

"Tumour regression grade is a useful method of scoring tumour response to chemoradiotherapy in rectal cancer" (Ryan et al., 2005).

b) The four tier system currently advocated by the AJCC is recommended, based on a modification of that described by Ryan et al., (2005) and should be applied when any form of preoperative therapy is administered (Amin et al., 2017, Ryan et al., 2005) (Table 5). (RCPath, 2018)

 Table 5 Modified Ryan tumour regression grading system

Evaluation	Tumour regression
	score
No viable cancer cells (complete response)	0
Single cells or rare small groups of cancer cells (near-complete response)	1
Residual cancer with evident tumour regression, but more than single cells or	2
rare small groups of cancer cells (partial response)	
Extensive residual cancer with no evident tumour regression (poor or no	3
response)	

Tumour regression should be assessed only in the primary tumour; lymph node metastases should not be included in the grading assessment. A separate comment may be considered in evaluating the response in lymph nodes.

Recommendation 2.2.8.1	Grade
In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer receiving neoadjuvant chemoradiation, it is	R
recommended to employ the modified Ryan tumour regression grading system.	b

2.2.9 Staging algorithm for patients with rectal cancer and suspected hepatic metastases



Figure 1 Staging algorithm recommended by the Guideline Development Group for patients with rectal cancer and suspected hepatic metastases

2.3 Restaging

Responsibility for the implementation of recommendations regarding restaging

While the CEO, General Manager and the Clinical Director of the hospital have corporate responsibility for the implementation of the recommendations in this National Clinical Guideline, each member of the multidisciplinary team is responsible for the implementation of the individual guideline recommendations relevant to their discipline.

Clinical question 2.3.1

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer who have an apparent complete clinical response to chemoradiation, which radiological investigation best determines if the patient is a complete pathological responder?

Evidence summary

A recent UpToDate review (Willett et al., 2020) has summarised the key findings.

The role of imaging for restaging for assessment of primary tumour and regional nodes after neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy has been the subject of several studies, and all suggest that neither MRI, CT, transrectal EUS, or integrated PET-CT are sufficiently accurate for identifying the true complete responders (Patel et al., 2011, Kristiansen et al., 2008, Gollub et al., 2012, Perez et al., 2012, Zhang et al., 2012, Guillem et al., 2013, van der Paardt et al., 2013, Zhao et al., 2014, Hanly et al., 2014, Memon et al., 2014, Maffione et al., 2015b). (Willett et al., 2020)

- With MRI it is difficult to differentiate small areas of residual tumour from fibrosis, and readers tend to overestimate the presence of tumour (Zhao et al., 2014, Barbaro et al., 2009, Dresen et al., 2009, Jonas and Bähr, 2006).
- PET-CT findings that suggest a cCR are also associated with a low positive predictive value for a pCR (39% in one systematic review (Joye et al., 2014)). (Willett et al., 2020)

Ryan et al. (2016) stated that molecular profiling may hold the greatest potential to predict pCR but further research is required.

Recommendation 2.3.1.1	Grade
In patients with primary rectal cancer, after chemoradiotherapy no radiological investigation to date reliably predicts a pathological complete response.	С

Recommendation 2.3.1.2	Grade
In patients with primary rectal cancer following chemoradiotherapy where a non-operative strategy is planned frequent multimodal assessment and surveillance including DRE, endoscopy and imaging should be undertaken.	D

Good Practice Point

Patients on a watch and wait strategy following chemoradiotherapy should be enrolled on a clinical register.

2.4 Treatment: Emergency presentation

Responsibility for the implementation of recommendations regarding emergency presentation

While the CEO, General Manager and the Clinical Director of the hospital have corporate responsibility for the implementation of the recommendations in this National Clinical Guideline, each member of the multidisciplinary team is responsible for the implementation of the individual guideline recommendations relevant to their discipline.

Clinical question 2.4.1

In patients diagnosed with obstructive rectal cancer, what is the role of stenting:

(i) When intention of treatment is curative?

(ii) When intention of treatment is palliative?

Evidence summary

Three meta-analyses (Allievi et al., 2017, Ceresoli et al., 2017, Ribeiro et al., 2018), an UpToDate review (Rodriguez-Bigas et al., 2020) and three clinical guidelines (van Hooft et al., 2014, NCCN, 2020, NICE, 2020) addressed this clinical question.

The majority of the evidence is based on left sided malignant colorectal obstruction. There are no specific data on obstructing rectal cancers.

In patients with colorectal cancer there are two major indications for colonic stenting:

- preoperative decompression in patients being treated with curative intent, and
- palliation in patients with advanced disease.

Curative intent

An updated meta-analysis, including seven randomised controlled trials, found no difference in the mortality rate between the stent group and the emergency surgery group (Allievi et al., 2017). The incidence of postoperative complications was significantly reduced in the stent group compared to the emergency surgery group (37.84% vs. 54.87%; RR 0.6, 95% CI 0.38-0.96, p=0.02). Primary anastomosis rate was not significantly different between the groups but stoma rate was significantly reduced in the stenting as a bridge to surgery group (28.8% vs. 46.02%, p<0.0001). Technical and clinical success rate was reported at 78.83% and 75.23% respectively and the perforation rate was 5.89%. (Allievi et al., 2017). Perforation of the tumour has led to two trials being closed prematurely (van Hooft et al., 2011, Pirlet et al., 2011). Stenting has no effect on mortality or recurrence (Ceresoli et al., 2017).

NICE (2020) recommend that either stenting or emergency surgery are offered to patients presenting with acute left-sided large bowel obstruction if potentially curative treatment is suitable. Patients need to be counselled regarding the risk of tumour perforation.

Palliative intent

Endoscopic or radiographic placement of self-expanding metal stent (SEMS) may achieve successful palliation of an obstructing or nearly obstructing tumour.

A meta-analysis including four randomised controlled trials (n=125 patients) in the palliative setting found no significant difference in 30-day mortality, mean survival days or adverse events between the emergency surgery and SEMS group (Ribeiro et al., 2018). Clinical success was higher in the emergency surgery group (96%) than in the SEMS group (84%) (Risk Difference (RD), -0.13, 95% Cl -0.23 to -0.02, I^2 : 51%). Permanent stoma rate was 84% in the emergency surgery group and 14.3% in the SEMS group (RR, 0.19, 95% Cl 0.11-0.33], I^2 : 28%).

Among the advantages of SEMS over palliative surgery are a faster recovery time (permitting earlier administration of chemotherapy) and a shorter hospital stay (Tilney et al., 2007, Karoui et al., 2007, Vemulapalli et al., 2010). (Rodriguez-Bigas et al., 2020)

A potential complication includes stent migration. According to the European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) SEMS placement is strongly discouraged for patients who are being treated or considered for further treatment with antiangiogenic drugs (bevacizumab) due to the risk of perforation (van Hooft et al., 2014). The NCCN (2020) panel also cautions that the use of bevacizumab in patients with colon or rectal stents is associated with a possible increased risk of bowel perforation (Small et al., 2010, Cennamo et al., 2009).

Recommendation 2.4.1.1	Grade
Curative intent	
In select patients with obstructing upper rectal cancers stenting as a bridge to surgery may	С
be considered.	

Recommendation 2.4.1.2	Grade
Palliative intent	
Stenting can be considered for the palliation of patients with upper rectal cancer (i.e. in those	С
who are not appropriate for immediate resection or in those with advanced disease).	

Good Practice Point

Rectal stent insertion has the potential for significant morbidity and is only suitable in a minority of patients.

Good Practice Point

The risk of colonic perforation should be taken into account in every patient undergoing stenting.

2.5 Treatment: Patients with early rectal cancer

Responsibility for the implementation of recommendations regarding patients with early rectal cancer While the CEO, General Manager and the Clinical Director of the hospital have corporate responsibility for the implementation of the recommendations in this National Clinical Guideline, each member of the multidisciplinary team is responsible for the implementation of the individual guideline recommendations relevant to their discipline.

Clinical question 2.5.1

In predicted node negative patients diagnosed with T1 or T2 rectal cancer, what is the evidence for local resection without total mesorectal excision (TME)?

Evidence summary

Three clinical guidelines (SIGN, 2016, NCCN, 2020, ESMO, 2017), two meta-analyses (Rogers et al., 2016, Choi et al., 2015) and six retrospective studies (Saraste et al., 2013, Ozturk et al., 2015, Blumberg et al., 1999, Borschitz et al., 2008, Stornes et al., 2016, Junginger et al., 2016) addressed this clinical question.

The Guideline Development Group considered node negative T1 and T2 tumours exclusively.

The techniques of local excision include:

- transanal excision (TAE)
- transanal endoscopic microsurgery (TEM)
- transanal minimally invasive surgery (TAMIS)

International guidelines are consistent in recommending local excisional procedures as a single modality for node negative T1 early stage cancers without adverse features (NCCN, 2020, ESMO, 2017). More advanced tumours up to and including cT2c/T3a/b should be treated by radical TME surgery because of higher risks of recurrence and the higher risk of mesorectal lymph node involvement (Stornes et al., 2016). (ESMO, 2017)

T1 tumours (those with the smallest local spread) are often deemed suitable for local excision, but it must be stressed that extensive involvement of the submucosa is associated with a 17% rate of lymph node involvement (Kikuchi et al., 1995). Minimal involvement of the submucosa (T1 sm1 tumours) appears to be associated with minimal risk of lymph node involvement. Some rectal cancers may be excised locally and cohort studies indicate that such lesions do not require further surgery unless there is histopathological evidence of tumour at the margin (incomplete excision), lymphovascular invasion, or if the invasive tumour is poorly differentiated (Wolff et al., 1990, Chapman et al., 2000). (SIGN, 2016)

Factors which are known to influence lymph node status or prognosis in early rectal cancer include poor differentiation (Saraste et al., 2013, Choi et al., 2015), vascular invasion (Saraste et al., 2013, Choi et al., 2015), and tumour budding (Rogers et al., 2016, Choi et al., 2015), and should be accounted for when making treatment plans. As yet, perineural invasion and mucinous histology have not demonstrated prognostic potential in this specific subset, but they should be considered due to their association with negative outcomes in all stages of colorectal cancers (Ozturk et al., 2015, Blumberg et al., 1999, NCCN, 2020).

For patients undergoing a local excision, recurrences typically occur within the first three years after treatment. Local recurrences after five years have been reported (Junginger et al., 2016, Stornes et al., 2016).

Immediate reoperation for unfavourable histology is associated with better survival rates and lower rates of local recurrence compared with delayed salvage surgery (Borschitz et al., 2008).

Adjuvant radiotherapy and chemotherapy may reduce local recurrence rates, but a reliable and widely accepted regimen has not yet been developed (Breen and Bleday, 1997). (SIGN, 2016)

Recommendation 2.5.1.1	Grade
For patients who present with predicted node negative T1 rectal cancer with favourable histopathological features, local excision may be considered.	В

Recommendation 2.5.1.2	Grade
For patients being treated with curative intent for T1 rectal cancer with unfavourable	В
histopathological features or T2 cancers. TME is recommended.	-

Good Practice Point

Every patient undergoing local resection for significant rectal lesion/polyps should be discussed at a multidisciplinary team meeting, ideally prior to the procedure.

Good Practice Point

All patients who have had local excision of rectal cancer should undergo serial clinical and radiological surveillance.

Good Practice Point

Consideration should be given to the potential impact of local excision if a further radical procedure might be required. The risk of compromising further surgery is particularly marked in lower third lesions.

Good Practice Point

TAMIS/TEMS should only be undertaken by someone with appropriately trained surgical expertise and outcomes should be audited.
Clinical question 2.5.2

In patients with early-stage rectal cancer treated with local excision what pathological features indicate that radical surgery is required?

Evidence summary

Three clinical guidelines (CAP, 2017, NCCN, 2020, RCPath, 2018), three meta-analyses (Rogers et al., 2016, Choi et al., 2015, Wada et al., 2015) and three retrospective studies (Saraste et al., 2013, Ozturk et al., 2015, Blumberg et al., 1999) addressed this clinical question.

Following the introduction of the National Bowel Screening Programme in Ireland, early rectal cancers are being diagnosed with increased frequency. Such cancers are expected to have a good prognosis. Local resection of early malignant lesions may be sufficient as the only management. There is a risk of local recurrence or metastatic spread, particularly to local lymph nodes, since the mesorectum, which contains the local lymph nodes, is usually not resected.

A number of meta-analyses have identified risk factors associated with recurrent malignancy or lymph node metastasis following local resections. Choi et al. (2015) revealed that submucosal invasion (\geq SM2 or \geq 1,000 µm) (odds ratio [OR], 3.00, 95% CI, 1.36-6.62, p=0.007), vascular invasion (OR, 2.70, 95% CI, 1.95-3.74; p<0.001), lymphatic invasion (OR, 6.91, 95% CI, 5.40-8.85; p<0.001), poorly differentiated carcinomas (OR, 8.27; 95% CI, 4.67-14.66; p<0.001) and tumour budding (OR, 4.59; 95% CI, 3.44-6.13; p<0.001) were significantly associated with lymph node metastases. The authors concluded that a more extensive resection accompanied by a lymph node dissection is necessary. Similarly, Wada et al. (2015) revealed two factors significantly associated with T1 colorectal cancer lymph node metastasis: lymphatic vessel invasion identified by an anti-human podoplanin antibody [Mantel–Haenszel OR, 5.19, 95% CI 3.31–8.15; p=0.01] and tumour budding (OR 7.45, 95% CI 4.27–13.02; p=0.0077).

The completeness of the endoscopic excision appears to be the most reliable predictor of tumour recurrence and, although publications vary, it can be assumed that a distance of less than 1mm from the tumour to the margin of excision is associated with a high risk of cancer recurrence (CAP, 2017, RCPath, 2018).

Even when local excision margins are clear, a number of pathological features indicate a higher risk of recurrence or lymph node metastasis, and in such cases radical resection should be considered.

Factors which are known to influence lymph node status or prognosis in early rectal cancer include poor differentiation (Saraste et al., 2013, Choi et al., 2015) vascular invasion (Saraste et al., 2013, Choi et al., 2015), and tumour budding (Rogers et al., 2016, Choi et al., 2015), and should be accounted for when making treatment plans. As yet, perineural invasion and mucinous histology have not demonstrated prognostic potential in this specific subset, but they should be considered due to their association with negative outcomes in all stages of colorectal cancers (Ozturk et al., 2015, Blumberg et al., 1999, NCCN, 2020).

Local excision should only be performed in patients being treated with curative intent when a specimen of sufficient diagnostic quality can be obtained. The specimen should allow detailed pathologic examination including the criteria specified above, and should be discussed at a multidisciplinary team meeting.

Local excision has the potential to render a subsequent attempt at curative resection more technically challenging. In some cases it may compromise the patient's ability to have reconstructive surgery or may require a more radical procedure with adverse quality of life for patients. This risk is particularly marked for tumours of the middle and lower third of the rectum.

Recommendation 2.5.2.1	Grade
In patients with rectal cancer who have undergone local excision radical surgery should be	_
considered if adverse pathological features are present.	В

Good Practice Point

Any suspicious lesions (histologically or endoscopically) should be discussed at a multidisciplinary team meeting involving a colorectal surgeon prior to treatment.

Good Practice Point

Local resection specimens should be of sufficient quality to enable pathological assessment and should be discussed at a multidisciplinary team meeting. A further local excision may be valuable in selected cases.

2.6 Treatment: Patients receiving neoadjuvant therapy

Responsibility for the implementation of recommendations regarding patients receiving neoadjuvant therapy

While the CEO, General Manager and the Clinical Director of the hospital have corporate responsibility for the implementation of the recommendations in this National Clinical Guideline, each member of the multidisciplinary team is responsible for the implementation of the individual guideline recommendations relevant to their discipline.

Clinical question 2.6.1

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer, what subgroups of patients would benefit from preoperative radiotherapy or chemoradiotherapy?

Evidence summary

A Cochrane meta-analysis (Abraha et al., 2018) addressed this clinical question.

The meta-analysis included four randomised controlled trials (van Gijn et al., 2011, Sebag-Montefiore et al., 2009, Marsh et al., 1994, Swedish RCT, 1997) that looked at the effect of preoperative radiotherapy on overall survival, disease specific survival and local recurrence. In total, they included 4663 patients with operable rectal cancer. All four included trials were of preoperative SCRT. One of these trials (van Gijn et al., 2011) allowed post operative radiotherapy for positive margins and Sebag-Montefiore et al. (2009) allowed post operative CRT in those with positive margins. TME was mandated in only one trial (van Gijn et al., 2011) and while not mandated occurred in 92% of patients in Sebag-Montefiore et al. (2009). On meta-analysis the mortality proportion was 42.5% in the preoperative radiotherapy group vs 45.4% in the control group, studies = 4; participants = 4,663; Peto odds ratio (OR) 0.90, 95% CI 0.83-0.98; p=0.02. Moderate quality evidence suggests an improvement in OS with preoperative radiotherapy. Two trials published disease specific mortality and meta-analysis shows a mortality proportion of 32.6% in the preoperative radiotherapy group and 31.9% in the control group. Low quality evidence suggests no difference in DSS (studies = 2, participants = 2145; Peto OR 0.89, 95% CI 0.77- 1.03; I² = 10%). As regards local recurrence this was mentioned in all 4 trials. LR was 6.7% in the preoperative radiotherapy group and 16.1% in the control group. Moderate quality evidence shows a reduction in pelvic recurrence (studies = 4; participants = 4663; Peto OR 0.48, 95% CI 0.40-0.57; I² = 51%, p=0.10).

The meta-analysis carried out various subgroup analyses. Subgroup analysis according to stage was attempted but unsuccessful. Some trials reported Duke's stage while others utilised TNM. Swedish RCT 2007 showed no difference in OS across all stage groups. Van Gijn et al. (2011) published 10 year follow-up data on OS for TNM stage I-III patients. When CRM status was not taken into account there was no survival benefit shown. When analysis was restricted to patients with a negative CRM, 10 year OS was superior in the preoperative radiotherapy group in stage III patients (45% vs 37%; Peto OR 0.76, 95% CI 0.59-0.98). The Swedish RCT (1997) reported LR according to stage, showing lower LR rates for both higher and lower stages. Three studies investigated the distance of the tumour from the anal verge in relation to effect of radiotherapy on local recurrence (van Gijn et al., 2011, Sebag-Montefiore et al., 2009, Swedish RCT, 1997). Due to the difference in the way data was reported between the trials it was not possible to perform metaanalysis. The Swedish RCT (1997) reported lower LR rates for tumour \leq 5 cm and 6-10 cm from anal verge in those receiving preoperative radiotherapy but not for those at >10 cm. In Sebag-Montefiore et al. (2009) there was a significant reduction in LR at all tumour heights, with the effect of radiotherapy increasing with increasing distance from anal verge. Further supporting the importance of tumour height Van Gijn et al. (2011) reported that for all eligible patients, the effect of radiotherapy became stronger as the distance from the anal verge increased, with a significant distance by treatment interaction (p=0.03). However, when patients in this study with a negative CRM were excluded from the analysis, the relationship between distance from anal verge and effect of radiotherapy disappeared.

Quality of life/Benefit and Harm

Preoperative radiotherapy has been shown to reduce local recurrence and in some studies to improve overall survival. Among the characteristics to be considered when determining the need for preoperative radiotherapy are stage, tumour height, CRM status and distance from the anal verge. Caution is required in interpreting studies due to differences in surgical techniques; preoperative staging techniques; radiotherapy dose, fractionation and technique and reporting of disease stage between different trials.

Recommendation 2.6.1.1	Grade
In patients with stage III rectal cancer preoperative short-course radiotherapy or chemoradiotherapy should be considered.	В

Recommendation 2.6.1.2	Grade
In patients with rectal cancer, preoperative chemoradiotherapy is recommended for patients with a threatened or involved CRM.	В

Good Practice Point

The potential risks and benefits of preoperative radiotherapy should be considered at the preoperative multidisciplinary team meeting and subsequently discussed with every patient.

Good Practice Point

In patients with rectal cancer, tumour height, stage and CRM status need to be considered in decision making.

Clinical question 2.6.2

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer who have an apparent complete clinical response to chemoradiotherapy, what is the evidence to support a watch and wait strategy?

Evidence summary

Five meta-analysis of retrospective studies (Chadi et al., 2018, Dattani et al., 2018, Sammour et al., 2017, Dossa et al., 2017, Kim et al., 2017) and a large retrospective study (van der Valk et al., 2018) addressed this clinical question.

The five meta-analysis studies were heterogeneous with different inclusion criteria, intervention, comparisons and outcomes used. They included retrospective studies with different baseline characteristics, neoadjuvant treatment, imaging modalities used and definition of what constitutes a cCR.

The Guideline Development Group agreed that the highest quality evidence currently available to address this clinical question was the individual participant meta-analysis carried out by Chadi et al. (2018) which included 11 studies (n=602 patients) and aimed to investigate factors affecting occurrence of local regrowth.

Chadi et al. sought to include a more uniform population and only included studies in which the definition of clinical complete response was judged to have used criteria equivalent to those of the So Paulo benchmarks described by Habr-Gama and colleagues (Habr-Gama et al., 2004, Habr-Gama et al., 2010). This is defined as absence of residual ulceration, stenosis, or mass within the rectum on clinical and endoscopic examination.

The summary two-year cumulative incidence of local regrowth was 21.4% however, there was a high level of between-study heterogeneity (I²=61%). Two-year cumulative incidence of local regrowth increased in a stepwise manner from 31% (26–37) for cT3, to 37% (21–60) for cT4. Chadi et al. also reported that in 166 patients with local regrowth, 137 had salvage surgery (random-effects estimate 89% [95% CI 80–98]). R0 status was achieved in 131 of these patients (random-effects 98% [95–100]). The most common reason for no salvage surgery was synchronous distant metastases (12 patients). The three-year incidence of distant metastasis was 9.1% (random effects 95% CI 8.7–9.5) (Chadi et al., 2018).

The Guideline Development Group agrees that the benefit of a watch and wait approach is the potential to avoid radical surgery. The potential harms of a watch and wait approach includes an unsalvageable regrowth or the patient may develop otherwise avoidable metastatic disease.

Recommendation 2.6.2.1	Grade
In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer who have an apparent complete clinical response to chemoradiation radical surgery is the standard of care. However, a watch and wait approach should be discussed with the patient and may be considered following shared decision making.	С

Good Practice Point

In a subgroup of high risk patients the harms of surgery may outweigh the benefits and a watch and wait approach should be considered.

Clinical question 2.6.3

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer, how does short-course preoperative radiotherapy (SCPRT) compare with chemoradiotherapy for survival, toxicity, down-staging (or sphincter preservation), local recurrence rates, and postoperative complications?

Evidence summary

Five randomised trials (Ngan et al., 2012, Bujko et al., 2005, Bujko et al., 2004, Bujko et al., 2006, Bujko et al., 2016, Ciseł et al., 2019, Latkauskas et al., 2016) addressed this clinical question.

Short-course radiotherapy alone with immediate surgery versus chemoradiotherapy

The Guideline Development Group define SCPRT as 5 x 5 Gy over five consecutive days to a total dose of 25 Gy followed by surgery within a week and CRT as 1.8-2.0 Gy per fraction to a total dose of 45-50.4 Gy with concomitant 5FU based chemotherapy, followed by surgery in 4-8 weeks.

Two trials were identified comparing short-course radiotherapy alone with chemoradiotherapy (Bujko et al., 2004, Bujko et al., 2005, Bujko et al., 2006, Ngan et al., 2012).

One randomised study of 312 patients in Poland directly compared conventional fractionation radiotherapy (50.4 Gy in 28 fractions of 1.8 Gy per fraction) in conjunction with bolus FU and LV during weeks 1 and 5 versus short-course radiotherapy (5 x 5 Gy fractions with surgery within seven days of the last RT dose) (Bujko et al., 2006). Early adverse effects were higher in the chemoradiation group (18.2% vs 3.2%; p<0.001) but there was no significant difference in the actuarial four-year overall survival (67.2% in the short-course group and 66.2% in the chemoradiation group), disease-free survival (58.4% in the short-course group vs. 55.6% in the chemoradiation group), crude incidence of local recurrence (9.0% short-course group vs. 14.2% in the chemoradiation group) and severe late toxicity (10.1% short-course group vs. 7.1% in the chemoradiation group) (Bujko et al., 2006). Despite significant downsizing, chemoradiation did not result in an increased sphincter preservation rate (Bujko et al., 2005). Furthermore there was no significant difference between arms in the numbers of patients with postoperative complications (Bujko et al., 2004).

In addition, an Australian/New Zealand trial (the Trans-Tasman Radiation Oncology Group [TROG] trial 01.04) randomly assigned 326 patients to short-course radiation or conventional fractionation chemoradiotherapy and found no differences in local recurrence and overall survival rates (Ngan et al., 2012). Rates of late toxicity, distant recurrence, and relapse-free survival were also not significantly different between the arms. Patients in the chemoradiotherapy arm were more likely to experience serious adverse events such as radiation dermatitis (0% vs. 5.6%; p=0.003), fatigue (0% vs 3.7%, p=0.016) and grade 3/4 diarrhoea (1.3% vs 14.2% p<0.001). In the short-course arm patients were more likely to have a permanent stoma (38.0% vs. 29.8%; p=0.13) (Ansari et al., 2017). However, no overall difference was seen in health-related quality of life between the groups in the first 12 months, after surgery (McLachlan et al., 2016).

Short-course radiotherapy alone with delayed surgery versus chemoradiotherapy

Studies have been published comparing SCPRT with delayed surgery to standard chemoradiotherapy. A trial published by Latkauskas et al. (2016), included 150 patients with resectable stage II or III (T3 N0, T4 N0, Tx N+) rectal cancer randomly allocated to receive either SCRT or conventional chemoradiation with surgery 6-8 weeks following completion of radiotherapy. The median number of days from radiotherapy to surgery was 48 in the SCPRT arm and 47 in the CRT arm. The investigators report a pCR rate of 4.4% in the SCPRT arm and 11.1% in the CRT arm (p=0.112). Downstaging was achieved in 30.9% with SCPRT vs 37.5% with CRT (p=0.409). There was no difference in three-year overall survival (78% vs 82.4%; SCRT vs CRT; p=0.145), but an improvement in disease free survival (59% vs. 75.1%; SCPRT vs CRT; p=0.022) with CRT.

Short-course radiotherapy and consolidation neo adjuvant chemotherapy versus chemoradiotherapy

Cisel et al. (2019) published a RCT evaluating SCPRT with consolidation chemotherapy using FOLFOX followed by surgery as compared to neoadjuvant oxaliplatin based chemoradiotherapy. The early results of this study were previously published (Bujko et al., 2016), but are now presented with mature follow-up. 515

patients were included in the final analysis, randomised to SCPRT and chemotherapy, or chemoradiotherapy. The patients randomised to the SCPRT and chemotherapy arm received 5 x 5 Gy followed by three cycles of FOLFOX 4, cycle 1 beginning 1 week post radiotherapy. Oxaliplatin was administered in 70% in the SCPRT group and 66% in the CRT group. The median time from the start of radiotherapy to surgery was the same in both groups (12.4 weeks). Acute toxicity was higher in the CRT arm. Comparing the SCPRT and chemotherapy arm and the CRT arm, radical resection (defined in the trial as -ve CRM and -ve distal resection margin), was achieved in 77% vs 71% (p=0.07), and pCR was 16% vs 12% (p=0.17). There was no difference in post operative complications. There was no difference in overall survival (49% at eight years in both groups) or disease free survival. Late toxicity did not differ, late G3+ toxicity 11% for SCPRT and chemotherapy vs 9% for CRT (p=0.66).

Recommendation 2.6.3.1	Grade
In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer where preoperative therapy has been recommended and the CRM is not threatened or involved short-course radiotherapy or chemoradiotherapy may be considered.	Α

Recommendation 2.6.3.2	Grade
In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer preoperative chemoradiotherapy is recommended for patients with a threatened or involved CRM.	А

Good Practice Point

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer who are CRM threatened or involved but not fit for chemoradiotherapy short-course radiotherapy with a delay to surgery may be considered.

Clinical question 2.6.4

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer undergoing neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy, is IMRT (intensitymodulated radiotherapy) superior to 3D-CRT (three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy) with regard to toxicity and outcomes?

Evidence summary

A meta-analysis of retrospective studies (Wee et al., 2018) and a large retrospective study (Sun et al., 2017) addressed this clinical question.

The meta-analysis, which included six small retrospective studies demonstrated that IMRT resulted in less toxicity compared to 3D-CRT with reduced grade \geq 2 acute overall GI toxicity and diarrhoea and reduced grade \geq 2 and \geq 3 proctitis (p<0.05) (Wee et al., 2018).

In a retrospective study of 7386 rectal cancer patients, IMRT significantly increased the rate of positive margins and sphincter loss surgery compared to 3D-CRT; however patient selection biases may have been present. At five years, unadjusted overall survival (follow up range: 1–102 months) was not different between patients who received IMRT vs. 3D-CRT (73 vs. 75 %, p=0.131) (Sun et al., 2017).

The potential benefit to the patient with IMRT is a reduction in toxicity, however we do not have randomised data to support this.

Recommendation 2.6.4.1	Grade
In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer undergoing neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy IMRT	
and 3D-CRT techniques can both be considered.	C

Clinical question 2.6.5

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer undergoing neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy, does addition of boost (e.g. EBRT, brachytherapy, simultaneous integrated boost, endocavitary contact x-ray) improve oncological outcomes?

Evidence summary

Three randomised controlled trials (Gerard et al., 2004, Ortholan et al., 2012, Jakobsen et al., 2012, Appelt et al., 2014) addressed this clinical question.

Contact radiotherapy

In a study by Gerard et al. (2004), 88 patients with a rectal carcinoma located in the lower rectum, were randomly assigned to one of two groups: preoperative external-beam radiotherapy (EBRT; 39 Gy in 13 fractions over 17 days) versus the same EBRT with boost (85 Gy in three fractions) using endocavitary contact x-ray. A significant improvement was seen in favour of the contact x-ray boost for complete clinical response (24% vs. 2%) and for a complete or near-complete sterilisation of the operative specimen (57% v 34%). A significant increase in sphincter preservation was observed in the boost group (76% vs. 44%; P=.004). At a median follow-up of 35 months, there was no difference in morbidity, local relapse, and 2-year overall survival. Ortholan et al. (2012) reported the 10-year results of this trial and found that the 10-year cumulative colostomy rate was 29% in the EBRT+CXRT group vs. 63% in the EBRT alone group (p < 0.001). The 10-year disease-free survival and overall survival was similar between the two groups (DFS; 54% vs. 53%, respectively, in the EBRT group vs. The EBRT+CXRT group; p=0.99) and (OS; 56% vs.55%, respectively (p=0.85)).

High dose rate brachytherapy

A prospective randomised trial of 248 patients with locally advanced rectal cancer comparing two radiation doses (arm A: 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions to the tumour and pelvic lymph nodes; arm B: the same treatment supplemented with an endorectal boost given as high-dose-rate brachytherapy [10 Gy in 2 fractions]) and concurrent chemotherapy was carried out by Jakobsen et al. (2012). The rate of R0 resection was different in T3 tumours (90% and 99%; p=.03). The same applied to the rate of major response (tumour regression grade, 1+2), 29% and 44%, respectively (p=.04), indicating that the higher dose increased the rate of major response by 50% in T3 tumours. There was however, no significant difference found in toxicity or surgical complications between the two groups and no significant difference was found in the pathological complete response rate between the two arms (18% and 18%).

Appelt et al. (2014) presented mature data on tumour control and overall survival for the 224 patients in the Danish part of the trial. 221 patients (111 control arm, 110 brachytherapy boost arm) had data available for analysis, with a median follow-up time of 5.4 years. Despite a significant increase in tumour response at the time of surgery, no differences in 5-year OS (70.6% vs 63.6%, HR=1.24, P=.34) or PFS (63.9% vs 52.0%, HR=1.22, p=.32) were observed. Freedom from locoregional failure at 5 years were 93.9% and 85.7% (HR=2.60, p=.06) in the standard and in the brachytherapy arms, respectively. There was no difference in the prevalence of stoma. Explorative analysis based on stratification for tumour regression grade and resection margin status indicated the presence of response migration. Despite increased pathologic tumour regression at the time of surgery, there was no benefit observed on late outcome and improved tumour regression does not necessarily lead to a relevant clinical benefit when the neoadjuvant treatment is followed by high quality surgery.

There is no clear evidence of a reduction in local recurrence however evidence is emerging that there is increased toxicity associated with boost (Couwenberg et al., 2019).

Recommendation 2.6.5.1	Grade
In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer undergoing neoadjuvant chemoradiation the routine use of a boost is not recommended.	В

Recommendation 2.6.5.2	Grade
In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer undergoing neoadjuvant chemoradiation boost can	D
be considered in selected high risk patients.	U

2.7 Treatment: Surgical techniques

Responsibility for the implementation of recommendations regarding patients receiving specific surgical techniques

While the CEO, General Manager and the Clinical Director of the hospital have corporate responsibility for the implementation of the recommendations in this National Clinical Guideline, each member of the multidisciplinary team is responsible for the implementation of the individual guideline recommendations relevant to their discipline.

Clinical question 2.7.1

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer, what is the evidence for specific surgical techniques and the effectiveness of these techniques on patient outcomes?

Evidence summary

Laparoscopic versus open approach

Six randomised control trials COlorectal cancer Laparoscopic or Open Resection (COLOR II) (van der Pas et al., 2013, Bonjer et al., 2015), the COREAN trial (Kang et al., 2010, Jeong et al., 2014), the ACOSOG Z6051 trial (Fleshman et al., 2015, Fleshman et al., 2019), the Australian Laparoscopic Cancer of the Rectum Trial (ALaCaRT) (Stevenson et al., 2015, Stevenson et al., 2019), Robotic versus Laparoscopic Resection for Rectal Cancer (ROLARR) trial (Jayne et al., 2017), a prospective phase II randomised controlled trial (Kim et al., 2018) a Cochrane Review (Schwenk et al., 2005), a meta-analysis (Trastulli et al., 2012) a clinical guideline (SIGN, 2016) and a moratorium (Larsen et al., 2019) addressed this clinical question.

Curative resection of a rectal cancer was traditionally carried out with open techniques (i.e., low anterior resection [LAR] or abdominoperineal resection [APR]). Laparoscopic rectal cancer surgery has been compared with open surgery in four randomised trials with conflicting results (van der Pas et al., 2013, Bonjer et al., 2015, Kang et al., 2010, Jeong et al., 2014, Fleshman et al., 2015, Stevenson et al., 2015).

An international trial COLOR II compared laparoscopic and open resection of rectal cancer (van der Pas et al., 2013, Bonjer et al., 2015). The study randomised 1,044 patients with a solitary adenocarcinoma of the rectum within 15 cm from the anal verge without distant metastases (699 in the laparoscopic-surgery group and 345 in the open-surgery group). Van der pas et al. (2013) reported that completeness of resection was not different between the groups (589 [88%] of 666 vs 303 [92%] of 331; p=0.25), positive circumferential resection margins (<2 mm) were similar comparing laparoscopic and open groups (56 [10%] of 588 vs 30 [10%] of 300; p=0.85). In addition, median distal margin (3 cm [2.0-4.8] vs. 3 cm [1.8-5.0]; p=0.676), and mortality (8 [1%] of 699 vs. 6 [2%] of 345; p=0.409) were also similar. Bonjer et al. (2015) reported that at three years, the locoregional recurrence rate was 5.0% in the two groups (difference, 0 percentage points; 90% CI, -2.6 to 2.6). Disease-free survival rates were 74.8% in the laparoscopic-surgery group and 70.8% in the open-surgery group (95% CI, -1.9 to 9.9). Overall survival rates were 86.7% in the laparoscopic-surgery group and 83.6% in the open-surgery group (95% CI, -1.6 to 7.8).

The safety and short-term efficacy of laparoscopic surgery for rectal cancer after preoperative chemoradiotherapy was assessed in the COREAN trial (Kang et al., 2010, Jeong et al., 2014). The COREAN trial randomised 340 patients (cT3N0–2 mid or low rectal cancer without distant metastasis after preoperative chemoradiotherapy) to receive either open surgery (n=170) or laparoscopic surgery (n=170). Kang et al. (2010) found that involvement of the circumferential resection margin, macroscopic quality of the total mesorectal excision specimen, number of harvested lymph nodes, and perioperative morbidity did not differ between the two groups. Jeong et al. (2014) reported the three year disease-free survival was 72.5% (95% CI. 65.0-78.6) for the open surgery group and 79.2% (72.3–84.6) for the laparoscopic surgery group, with a difference that was lower than the pre-specified non-inferiority margin (–6.7%, 95% CI –15.8 to 2.4; p<0.0001).

The ACOSOG Z6051 randomised trial aimed to determine whether laparoscopic resection is non-inferior to open resection (Fleshman et al., 2015). 486 patients with clinical stage II or III rectal cancer within 12 cm of the anal verge were randomised after completion of neoadjuvant therapy to laparoscopic (n=243) or open resection (n=243). The primary endpoints were successful pathologic outcome, distal margin without tumour, and completeness of total mesorectal excision. A successful outcome (defined as a negative distal and circumferential radial margin) occurred in 81.7% of laparoscopic resections (95% CI, 76.8%-86.6%) and 86.9% of open resections (95% CI, 82.5%-91.4%), which did not support non-inferiority (p=0.41). A follow-up study reported no difference for two-year disease-free survival (laparoscopic 79.5 % vs. open 83.2 %), local and regional recurrence (laparoscopic 4.6 % vs. open 4.5 %), and distant recurrence (laparoscopic 14.6 % vs. open 16.7 %) (Fleshman et al., 2019). However it did not exclude the benefit of open over laparoscopic resection.

The Australian Laparoscopic Cancer of the Rectum Trial (ALaCaRT) aimed to determine whether laparoscopic resection is non-inferior to open rectal cancer resection for adequacy of cancer clearance (Stevenson et al., 2015). 475 patients with T1-T3 rectal adenocarcinoma less than 15 cm from the anal verge were randomised to laparoscopic resection (n=237) or open rectal cancer resection (n=238). The primary endpoint was successful resection, similar to the above study. Successful resection was achieved in 194 (82%) of 238 patients in the laparoscopic group vs. 208 (89%) of 237 patients in the open surgery group. Similarly, laparoscopic surgery failed to achieve the non-inferiority criteria (p=0.38). A follow-up study reported similar results for two-year disease-free survival (laparoscopic 80% vs. open 82%), overall survival (laparoscopic 94 % vs. open 93 %), and local and regional recurrence (laparoscopic 5.4% vs. open 3.1%) (Stevenson et al., 2019).

A Cochrane Review by Schwenk et al. (2005) analysed 25 randomised controlled trials for short-term (surgery to 3 months postoperative) benefits of laparoscopic colorectal resection. Operative time was longer in laparoscopic surgery, but intraoperative blood was less than in conventional surgery. Intensity of postoperative pain and duration of postoperative ileus was shorter after laparoscopic colorectal resection and pulmonary function was improved after a laparoscopic approach. Total morbidity and local (surgical) morbidity was decreased in the laparoscopic groups. General morbidity and mortality was not different between both groups. Until the 30th postoperative day, quality of life was better in laparoscopic patients. Postoperative hospital stay was less in laparoscopic patients.

The best surgical approach needs to be determined individually by tumour and patient characteristics, as well as surgeon experience. When performing laparoscopic rectal surgery for cancer, surgeons should have a low threshold for converting to open surgery when difficulties arise with dissection.

Benefits vs. Harms

Open surgery may be associated with a higher quality pathological specimen when compared to laparoscopy, which would be predicted to have an impact on local recurrence and survival.

Laparoscopic rectal cancer surgery is associated with short-term benefits such as less postoperative pain, shorter length of stay, less blood loss, lower wound morbidity. The issue of sexual and urinary dysfunction is addressed in clinical question 2.7.2.

Anastomotic leakage is one of the most significant complications after resection with anastomosis for rectal cancer. The rates are equivalent between open and laparoscopic (Kang et al., 2010, Stevenson et al., 2015). Leakage is increased with a low (<5 cm form anorectal junction) anastomosis (Rullier et al., 1998). (SIGN, 2016)

Robot-assisted laparoscopic vs conventional laparoscopic resection

A randomised controlled trial and a meta-analysis compared robot-assisted laparoscopic resection and conventional laparoscopic resection in patients with rectal cancer (Jayne et al., 2017, Trastulli et al., 2012).

In the ROLARR trial, 471 patients with rectal adenocarcinoma suitable for curative resection were randomly assigned to receive conventional laparoscopic surgery or robotic-assisted laparoscopic surgery (234 v 237) (Jayne et al., 2017). The short-term results to 6-month follow-up found that the overall rate of conversion to open laparotomy was 12.2% (28 of 230 patients) in the conventional laparoscopic group and 8.1% (19 of 236 patients) in the robotic assisted laparoscopic group (unadjusted difference in proportions, 4.1% [95% Cl,1.4% to 9.6%]). There was no statistically significant difference between robotic-assisted and conventional laparoscopic surgery with respect to odds of conversion (adjusted OR=0.61 [95% Cl, 0.31-1.21]; p=.16), circumferential resection margin positivity (adjusted OR = 0.78 [95% Cl, 0.35-1.76]; p=.56) and intraoperative (adjusted OR=1.02 [95% Cl, 0.60-1.74]; p=.94) and postoperative (adjusted OR 0.72 [95% Cl, 0.41-1.26]; p=.25) complications. 30-day mortality was low at 0.9% and there was no significant difference in bladder and sexual dysfunction (Jayne et al., 2017).

Benefit vs Harms

Robot-assisted rectal surgery has demonstrated higher costs, longer intra-operative set-up times and longer procedure times (Jayne et al., 2017, Kim et al., 2018). In the ROLARR trial there was no difference in urogenital function between the conventional laparoscopic surgery or robotic-assisted laparoscopic surgery (Jayne et al., 2017). Rates of anastomotic leakage in robotic (6.7% [22/316]) and laparoscopic (7.5% [32/424]) resections have also been found to be similar OR = 0.91, 95% CI 0.52-1.61, p=0.76 (Trastulli et al., 2012).

TaTME

TaTME is a transanal technique, performed in conjunction with laparoscopic protectomy that may facilitate sphincter preservation in complex low rectal cancer. There is an international register of patients undergoing this novel technique and long-term outcomes remain to be determined but concern has been expressed about the risk of atypical local reccurrence related to this procedure (Larsen et al., 2019). As a result it is recommended that this should only be performed by surgeons formally trained in its use and that every patient undergoing this procedure should be included in a international registry.

Recommendation 2.7.1.1

In patients with rectal cancer high quality total mesorectal excision (TME) surgery should be performed.

Good Practice Point

Laparoscopic resection should only be performed by surgeons experienced in laparoscopic rectal cancer resection.

Good Practice Point

Laparoscopic resection should not be performed without HD laparoscopic equipment.

Good Practice Point

Patients should be informed that all minimally invasive procedures may require conversion to open surgery to ensure optimal oncological results.

Good Practice Point

New techniques are currently in evolution. These techniques should only be undertaken by surgeons trained in their use, patient outcomes should be audited.

Grade

В

Clinical question 2.7.2

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer undergoing radical resection is minimally invasive or open total mesorectal excision (TME) more likely to preserve postoperative sexual and/or urinary function?

Evidence summary

A Cochrane review (Vennix et al., 2014), meta-analysis (Broholm et al., 2015), systematic review (Celentano et al., 2017) and two randomised trials (Jayne et al., 2017, Andersson et al., 2014) addressed this clinical question.

There is moderate quality evidence that laparoscopic TME leads to better short-term post-surgical outcomes in terms of recovery for non-locally advanced rectal cancer. There was no clear evidence of any differences in quality of life after laparoscopic or open TME regarding functional recovery, bladder and sexual function.

The reports on bladder and sexual functioning suffered from low response rates, varying from 71% overall response rate down to 10% on specific questions about sexual enjoyment and problems (Vennix et al., 2014).

Kang et al. (2010) showed that sexual function was better 3 months after surgery than at baseline (open group 92.5 vs 83.6, p<0.0001; laparoscopic group 90.9 vs 81.2 p<0.0001). In contrast, male sexual problems were worse three months after surgery but there was no difference between both groups. The laparoscopic TME group had significantly fewer micturition, gastrointestinal and defecation problems at three months after surgery. (Vennix et al., 2014)

MRC CLASICC (2005a; 2005b) both reported on participants in the CLASICC trial, but used different populations, questionnaires and time points. Jayne et al. (2005) showed worse sexual functioning after laparoscopic TME (overall function: difference –11.18 (95% CI –22.99 to 0.63), p=0.063; erectile function: difference –5.84 (95% CI –10.94 to –0.74), p=0.068) but none were statistically significant. No differences in sexual interest, activity and enjoyment were seen at any time point, although for women there was a significant decrease compared to the preoperative baseline for both groups. (Vennix et al., 2014) Similarly the Colorectal cancer Laparoscopic or Open Resection (COLOR II) randomised trial, comparing laparoscopic and open surgery found no significant differences regarding sexual dysfunction or micturition problems at any time point for patients (Andersson et al., 2014). The available data suggests that neither laparoscopic nor open surgery demonstrates superiority in preservation of sexual and bladder function (Celentano et al., 2017).

Long-term results for laparoscopic and open TME are consistent in showing a similar disease-free survival (OR 1.02; 95% CI 0.76-1.38, n=943) and overall survival (OR 1.15; 95% CI 0.87-1.52, n=957), and local recurrence (OR 0.89; 95% CI 0.57-1.39, n=1,538), although due to imprecision we cannot rule out superiority of either approach. We await long-term data from a number of ongoing and recently completed studies to contribute to a more robust analysis of long-term disease free, overall survival and local recurrence (Vennix et al., 2014).

A meta-analysis (Broholm et al., 2015) on urological and sexual dysfunction after robot-assisted rectal cancer surgery suggested improved function compared to laparoscopic surgery. International Prostate Symptom Scores (IPSS) at 3- and 12-month follow-up showed a small but significant difference in favour of robotic surgery (mean difference [MD] -1.58, 95% CI -3.1 to -0.05, p=0.04; MD -0.90, 95% CI -1.81 to 0.02, p=0.05, respectively). However, the quality of the evidence was low. Similarly International Index of Erectile Function (IIEF) scores at 3- and 6-month follow-up were also better after robot-assisted surgery (MD -2.59, 95% CI -4.25 to -0.94, p=0.002; MD -3.06, 95% CI -4.53 to -1.59, p=0.0001, respectively). However, the ROLARR trial found no significant difference in urogenital function from baseline to 6 months between conventional laparoscopic and robotic-assisted laparoscopic surgery (Jayne et al., 2017).

There is very little information in the literature to address genitourinary function in female patients and what was available in the Cochrane review (Vennix et al., 2014) was underpowered. There is no evidence to

date in favour of any surgical approach (open vs laparoscopic vs robotic) and further studies are needed with long-term follow-up (Celentano et al., 2017).

Recommendation 2.7.2.1	Grade
There is no clear evidence of difference in postoperative genitourinary function between minimally invasive and open total mesorectal excision (TME).	D

Good Practice Point

The risk of impaired genitourinary function following treatment for rectal cancer should be discussed with patients during the informed consent process. Supportive services and information should be made available to patients.

52

2.8 Treatment: Patients receiving adjuvant therapy

Responsibility for the implementation of radiation oncology recommendations

While the CEO, General Manager and the Clinical Director of the hospital have corporate responsibility for the implementation of the recommendations in this National Clinical Guideline, each member of the multidisciplinary team is responsible for the implementation of the individual guideline recommendations relevant to their discipline.

Clinical question 2.8.1

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer, does postoperative radiotherapy or chemoradiotherapy compensate for positive surgical margins?

Evidence summary

Several randomised controlled trials addressed this clinical question (Marijnen et al., 2003, Sebag-Montefiore et al., 2006, Sauer et al., 2004).

The use of short-course preoperative radiotherapy (SCPRT) did not influence the risk of local recurrence if the circumferential resection margin (CRM) was involved (1mm or less), 9.3% vs 16.4%; p=0.08 and 13.8% vs 20.7% (HR 0.64, 95% CI 0.25-1.64)) for the Dutch TME (Marijnen et al., 2003) and UK MRC CR07 (Sebag-Montefiore et al., 2009) trials, respectively. Postoperative radiotherapy or chemoradiotherapy (CRT) has not been shown to compensate adequately for an involved CRM in either trial.

Of 120 patients in the surgery-only group with a positive CRM, 47% received postoperative radiotherapy, in the Dutch trial. There was no difference in the local recurrence rate between the irradiated and non-irradiated patients (17.3% vs. 15.7%, p=0.98) (Marijnen et al., 2003).

In the German GAO/ARO/AIO-94 trial (Sauer et al., 2004), 402 patients were randomised to receive postoperative chemoradiotherapy. When compared to patients who were randomised to preoperative radiotherapy, the overall five-year survival rates were 76% and 74%, respectively (p=0.80). The five-year cumulative incidence of local relapse was 6% vs. 13% (p=0.006). Grade 3 or 4 acute toxic effects occurred in 27% of the patients in the preoperative-treatment group, as compared with 40% in the postoperative-treatment group (p=0.001); the corresponding rates of long-term toxic effects were 14% and 24%, respectively (p=0.01).

If a patient had a resection and has not received preoperative therapy then postoperative chemoradiotherapy is an acceptable salvage approach.

Recommendation 2.8.1.1	Grade
In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer who have had a resection with a positive margin and have not received preoperative radiotherapy then postoperative chemoradiotherapy is an acceptable salvage approach.	с

2.9 Treatment: Palliative Care

Responsibility for the implementation of palliative care recommendations

While the CEO, General Manager and the Clinical Director of the hospital have corporate responsibility for the implementation of the recommendations in this National Clinical Guideline, each member of the multidisciplinary team is responsible for the implementation of the individual guideline recommendations relevant to their discipline.

Clinical question 2.9.1

When should palliative care be introduced for patients with cancer?

Evidence summary

Palliative care is an approach that improves the quality of life of people and their families facing the problems associated with life-limiting illness, through the prevention and relief of suffering by means of early identification and impeccable assessment and treatment of pain and other problems, physical, psychosocial and spiritual (World Health Organization, 2014). It is a vital and integral part of all clinical practice.

When combined with standard cancer care or as the main focus of care, palliative care leads to better patient and caregiver outcomes. These include improvement in symptoms, quality of life (QOL), and patient satisfaction, with reduced caregiver burden. Earlier involvement of palliative care also leads to more appropriate referral to and use of hospice, and reduced use of futile intensive care (Smith et al., 2012). No trials to date have demonstrated harm to patients and caregivers from early involvement of palliative care (Smith et al., 2012).

A 2013 literature review on the cost and cost-effectiveness of palliative care found that despite wide variation in study type, characteristics and study quality, there are consistent patterns in the results. Palliative care is most frequently found to be less costly relative to comparator groups, and in most cases, the difference in cost is statistically significant. (Smith et al., 2014)

Good clinical practice dictates that assessment of palliative care needs should be an ongoing process throughout the course of a patient's illness; assessments should be carried out at key transition points in the patient pathway, for example:

- At diagnosis of a life-limiting condition
- At episodes of significant progression/exacerbation of disease
- A significant change in the patient's family/social support
- A significant change in functional status
- At patient or family request
- At end of life. (Health Service Executive (HSE), 2014)

Palliative care services should be structured in three levels of ascending specialisation according to the expertise of the staff providing the service (Department of Health, 2001):

- Level one (Palliative Care Approach): Palliative care prinicples should be appropriately applied by all healthcare professionals.
- Level two (General Palliative Care): At an intermediate level, a proportion of patients and families will benefit from the expertise of healthcare professionals who, although not engaged full time in palliative care, have had some additional training and experience in palliative care.
- Level three (Specialist Palliative Care): Specialist palliative care services are those services whose core activity is limited to the provision of palliative care.

All patients should be able to engage easily with the level of expertise most appropriate to their needs.

Recommendation 2.9.1.1	Grade
For patients with cancer, early provision of palliative care can improve patient outcomes.	С
Recommendation 2.9.1.2	Grade
Assessment of palliative care needs should be an ongoing process throughout the course of a patient's cancer illness and services provided on the basis of identified need.	D

Good Practice Point

Palliative care specialist services should be an integral part of the colorectal cancer multidisciplinary team meeting.

3 Development of this National Clinical Guideline

3.1 Epidemiology

3.1.1 Incidence

The estimated annual average incidence for colorectal cancer in Ireland between 2018 and 2020 was 2,818 cases per annum (Table 6), which represents 11.4% of invasive cancers (excluding non-melanoma skin cancer (National Cancer Registry Ireland (NCRI), 2020).

 Table 6 Estimated annual average incidence for colorectal cancer in Ireland, 2018–2020 (NCRI, 2020)

Colorectal Cancer	Cases		
	Males	Females	Total
Colon C18*	1,038	853	1,891
Rectosigmoid junction C19*	108	79	187
Rectum C20*	487	253	740
Total	1,633	1,185	2,818

*C18 – malignant neoplasm of colon; C19 – malignant neoplasm of rectosigmoid junction; C20 – malignant neoplasm of rectum.

In 2020 the European Cancer Information System (ECIS) estimated age-standardised incidence rate of colorectal cancer in males in Ireland of 68.1 per 100,000 was 17.0% higher than the EU27 rate of 58.2 per 100,000, while the estimated age-standardised incidence rate in females in Ireland of 43.7 per 100,000 was 19.7% higher than the EU27 rate of 36.5 per 100,000 (ECIS, 2020).

Table 7 shows the annual average estimated percentages and rank of the most commonly diagnosed invasive cancers in Ireland from 2018 –2020. Excluding non-melanoma skin cancer, colorectal cancer was the 2nd most common cancer in males, making up 12.4% of all cancers (age-standardised rate per 100,000 was 58.3), and the 3rd most common cancer in females making up 10.1% of all cancers (age-standardised rate per 100,000 was 38.3) (NCRI, 2020).

Table 7 Estimated percentage and ranking among total cancer incidences of the most commonly diagnosed invasive cancers (excluding non-melanoma skin cancers) in Ireland, 2018 –2020 (NCRI, 2020)

Invasive Cancer	Males		Fer	nales
	%	Rank	%	Rank
Prostate	29.6	1	-	-
Breast	-	-	31.5	1
Colorectal	12.4	2	10.1	3
Lung	11.4	3	10.7	2

3.1.2 Mortality

The annual average number of deaths from colorectal cancer in Ireland from 2015–2017 was 1,025 (605 males; 420 females), which represents 11.0% of all registered cancer deaths (Table 8) (NCRI, 2020).

Table 9 shows the average annual estimated percentages and rank of the most common causes of cancer death in Ireland from 2015-2017. Colorectal cancer was the second most common cancer death in males and the third most common cancer death in females (NCRI, 2020).

Table 8 Annual average mortality rate from colorectal cancer, 2015 –2017 (NCRI, 2020)

	Death		Rate/100,000*	
	Males	Females	Males	Females
Colorectal Cancer	605	420	23.5	13.4

*Rates are standardised to the 1976 European standard population

Table 9 Percentage and ranking of the most common cance	er deaths in Ireland, 2015 –2017 (NCRI, 2020)
---	---

	Males		Females	
	%	Rank	%	Rank
Lung	22.1%	1	19.7%	1
Colorectal	12.3%	2	9.7%	3
Prostate	11.0%	3	-	-
Breast	-	-	16.9%	2

In 2020, the estimated age-standardised mortality rate of colorectal cancer in males in Ireland of 26.5 per 100,000 was 7.7% higher than the EU27 rate of 24.6 per 100,000, while the estimated agestandardised mortality rate in females in Ireland of 15.7 per 100,000 was 12.1 % higher than the EU27 rate of 14.0 per 100,000 (ECIS, 2020).

3.1.3 Survival

According to the latest NCRI statistics, the estimated complete prevalence of colorectal cancer at the end of December 2018 was 22,738 (12,427 males; 10,310 females) (Table 10). Overall, colorectal cancer is the third most common cancer in the prevalent cancer population (12% of all cancer survivors) after breast (23%) and prostate (21%) (NCRI, 2020).

The estimated five-year net survival (age-standardised for patients with colorectal cancer during the period 2012–2016 was 64% (NCRI, 2020).

Table 10 Estimated complete prevalence of colorectal cancer on 31st December 2018, by age and sex (NCRI,2020)

	Males		Females		All	
Age	n	%	n	%	n	%
<50	677	5	894	9	1,570	7
50+	11,751	95	9,417	91	21,167	93
All	12,427	100.0	10,310	100.0	22,738	100.0

3.1.4 Cancer trends and projections 2020-2045

The annual numbers of cases of rectal and anal cancer (C19-21) are projected to increase. Based on the median of 5 model projection estimates and the demographic population increase (5+1), in females cases are projected to increase from 338 in 2015 to 656 in 2045 (+97%). In males, the projected increase is from 585 in 2015 to 1,126 in 2045 (+93%). Table 11 shows the projected numbers of incident cases of cancer of the rectum and anus up to the year 2045 (NCRI, 2019b).

Cancer of the Rectum & Anus (C19-20)					
	Projected numbers o	f incident cases 2020-	% inc	rease	
	2045		compare	d to 2015	
	(based on median of 5 models and demographic projections)				
Year	Males	Females	Males	Females	
2020	716	387	22%	18%	
2025	810	440	39%	34%	
2030	903	496	54%	51%	
2035	986	553	69%	68%	
2040	1,062	607	81%	83%	
2045	1,126	656	93%	97%	

Table 11 Projected numbers of incident cases 2020-2045 (with % increase compared to 2015): cancer of the rectum & anus (NCRI, 2019b)

3.2 Rationale for this National Clinical Guideline

The National Cancer Strategy (Department of Health and Children (DoHC), 2006) recommended that national tumour site-specific multidisciplinary groups be convened to develop national evidence-based clinical guidelines for cancer care.

The National Cancer Strategy 2017-2026 (DoH, 2017) recommends: *The NCCP will develop further guidelines for cancer care in line with National Clinical Effectiveness Committee (NCEC) standards.*

The purpose of developing this guideline is to improve the quality of care delivered to patients.

Rectal cancer is distinct from colon cancer, with different aetiologies and risk factors. The treatment for rectal cancer is highly specialised and can cause a number of cancer specific issues for patients which require expert management to provide the best outcomes. The diagnosis, staging, and treatment of patients with rectal cancer requires multidisciplinary care in an acute hospital setting. The majority of patients will require diagnostic tests (radiology, pathology) and depending on the treatment plan may require surgery, radiotherapy and chemotherapy. When centralisation of surgical services takes place, rectal cancer surgery will be performed in a number of designated cancer centres who will provide the multidisciplinary team expertise and possess the specialist facilities required to manage this type of cancer. As a result, the Guideline Development Group made the decision to develop an individual guideline which dealt specifically with rectal cancer.

3.3 Aims and objectives

The overall objectives of the NCCP's National Clinical Guideline 'Diagnosis, staging and treatment of patients with rectal cancer' are outlined below, along with the clinical question number that addresses the specific aim. The recommendations within this guideline relate to the clinical treatment of cancer and do not provide specific guidance on nutritional intervention, physical rehabilitation or full multidisciplinary management of patients with rectal cancer. The guideline is based on the best research evidence in conjunction with clinical expertise, and developed using a clear evidence-based internationally used methodology.

- Improvement in patient outcomes including potential for reduction in morbidity and mortality, improvement in quality of life (Clinical Questions 2.3.1, 2.4.1, 2.5.1, 2.5.2, 2.6.1, 2.6.2, 2.6.3, 2.6.4, 2.6.5, 2.7.1, 2.7.2, 2.8.1, 2.9.1),
- Promotion of interventions of proven benefit and discouragement of ineffective interventions, improvement in standard of care (Clinical Questions 2.2.1, 2.2.2, 2.2.3, 2.2.4, 2.2.5, 2.2.6, 2.2.7, 2.2.8),

- Improvement in consistency of care, and reduce variation in practice (Clinical Questions 2.2.1, 2.2.2, 2.2.3, 2.2.4, 2.2.5, 2.2.6, 2.2.7, 2.2.8, 2.5.2, 2.6.1, 2.6.3, 2.8.1),
- To address areas of clinical care with new and emerging evidence (Clinical Questions 2.6.2, 2.6.5, 2.7.2),
- Potential to have the most impact (on patients and resources) (Clinical Questions 2.7.2, 2.9.1).

3.4 Financial impact of rectal cancer

A population-based cost analysis (Luengo-Fernandez et al., 2013) illustrated the economic burden of cancer on the European Union (EU). In 2009, cancer is estimated to have cost the EU \pounds 126 billion, with healthcare costs accounting for \pounds 51 billion (40%). Across the EU, the cost of cancer healthcare was equivalent to \pounds 102 per person, but varied substantially from \pounds 33 per person in Lithuania to \pounds 171 per person in Germany.

In Ireland, in-patient care costs were estimated to account for ≤ 417 million of cancer-related healthcare costs out of a total of ≤ 619 million. Drug expenditure accounted for a further ≤ 127 million while primary, outpatient and emergency care were estimated at ≤ 32 million, ≤ 30 million and ≤ 13 million respectively (Luengo-Fernandez et al., 2013). Across the EU, healthcare costs per person were estimated to cost between ≤ 1 and ≤ 22 for colorectal cancer (≤ 15 per person in Ireland) (Luengo-Fernandez et al., 2013). With rectal cancer incidence expected to increase by 93% in males and 97% in females by 2045 (NCRI, 2019b), there could be a significant increase seen in healthcare costs per person in Ireland.

The costs of colorectal cancer related informal care and productivity losses were estimated at $\in 2.84$ billion and $\in 3.77$ billion, respectively (Luengo-Fernandez et al., 2013).

A recent productivity loss analysis carried out in an Irish context (Pearce et al., 2016) projected that by 2030, premature death as a result of colorectal cancer will cost a value of \notin 7 billion household production lost and an overall productivity loss of \notin 1.3 billion.

The resource implications of implementing the recommendations within the guideline were identified by the clinicians during meetings to discuss and develop the recommendations (Appendix 6: Economic Assessment and Appendix 7: Implementation plan).

Healthcare investment of over €1.5 million over three years is required to implement the recommendations of this guideline. However, this estimate does not include the cost for centralisation of cancer surgical services and workforce planning. The NCCP in partnership with the Department of Health will be in a position to provide more accurate costing for this area once the project to centralise cancer services is complete in late 2020.

A number of the recommendations made within the surgical section can be implemented by centralising the service which would take into consideration staffing, expertise, infrastructure and equipment requirements. By adopting novel surgical techniques as recommended, length of hospital stay could be reduced resulting in a cost-saving, which is currently unknown.

Much of the budget is required to ensure adequate availability the different radiological modalities to appropriately diagnose stage and restage disease in patients with rectal cancer. €695,250 is required for contrast enhanced CT-TAP, €719,532 is required to adequately finance the use of MRI while CT colonography requires €120,450 in funding for this patient population.

Importantly, by implementing the recommendations of this guideline, the misuse of PET-CT as a first line staging modality for rectal cancer can be reduced, resulting in a potential cost-saving. The recommendations relating to pathology, gastroenterology, and radiation oncology are mostly current practice and do not require any further healthcare investment outside of what is already provided via normal service planning.

3.5 Guideline scope

3.5.1 Target population

Patients that are covered by this guideline are:

- Adults (18 years or older) that have a suspected diagnosis of rectal cancer.
- Adults with newly diagnosed early and locally advanced rectal cancer.

3.5.2 Target audience

This guideline is intended for all health professionals involved in the diagnosis, staging and treatment of patients with rectal cancer. While the CEO, General Manager and the Clinical Director of the hospital have corporate responsibility for the implementation of the recommendations in this Clinical Guideline, each member of the multidisciplinary team is responsible for the implementation of the individual guideline recommendations relevant to their discipline.

This guideline is also relevant to those involved in clinical governance, in both primary and secondary care, to help ensure that arrangements are in place to deliver appropriate care for the population covered by this guideline.

Whilst the guideline is focused on clinical care, it is expected to be of interest to patients diagnosed with rectal cancer and their significant others. A list of medical abbreviations used throughout the guideline can be found in Appendix 9: Glossary of terms and abbreviations.

3.6 Conflicts of interest statement

A conflict of interest form developed by the NCEC was signed by all Guideline Development Group members and reviewers. The Guideline Development Group was managed by the Chair to promote the highest professional standard in the development of this guideline.

Any member of the Guideline Development Group who declares a conflict of interest is not permitted to attend a recommendation meeting where their stated conflict is relevant to the evidence being reviewed or which may influence the recommendation being generated. All research evidence along with an assessment of its quality is presented to the Guideline Development Group by its research members. Membership of colleges or professional bodies do not represent a conflict of interest in this guideline. No specific pharmaceutical devices, products or equipment are specified in this guideline and no items were discussed which were relevant to any conflicts declared. Conflicts of interests declared by members of the Guideline Development Group are described in Table 12.

Guideline Development Group Member	Detail of conflict declared		
Professor Debbie McNamara	RCSI Council member and Co-Lead National Clinical Programme		
	for Surgery.		
Professor Padraic MacMathuna	Member of Bowel Screen Clinical Advisory Group.		
Dr Brian O' Neill	Principal investigator of an national rectal cancer trial TRILARC		
	with cancer trials Ireland. This is a randomised trial		
	comparing 3D-CRT with IMRT for locally advanced rectal cancer.		
Professor Kieran Sheahan	Consultancy work for Roche Diagnostics, research		
	sponsorship by Roche Diagnostics, research Sponsorship by		
	Genomics Medicine Ireland.		

Table 12 Conflicts of interests declared b	y members of the Guideline Develop	ment Group
	includers of the Galacine Developi	nene Group

3.6.1 Governance

Governance of the guideline development process was provided by a multidisciplinary Guideline Steering Group which was chaired by the Director of the NCCP. Details of Guideline Development Group members are provided at the beginning of the document and Guideline Steering Group members are available in Appendix 1: Guideline Development Group terms of reference

The Guideline Development Group was responsible for the development and delivery of the National Clinical Guideline and included representatives from relevant professional groups (radiology, pathology, gastroenterology, surgery and radiation oncology) with expertise in the diagnosis, staging and treatment of patients with rectal cancer, a project manager, a methodologist, a research officer, a health economist and a number of clinical librarians.

3.7 Sources of funding

The guideline was commissioned and funded by the NCCP; however, the guideline content was not influenced by the NCCP or any other funding body. This process is fully independent of lobbying powers. All recommendations were based on the best research evidence integrated with clinical expertise.

3.8 Guideline methodology

The methodology for the development of the guideline was designed by a research methodologist and is based on the principles of Evidence-Based Practice (EBP) (Sackett et al., 2000). The methodology is described in detail in the NCCP Methodology Manual for guideline development which is available on the NCCP website. This manual adheres to the standards outlined in the NCEC Guideline Development Manual. Figure 2 outlines the stages of guideline development.

3.8.1 Step 1: Formulate the clinical questions

Guideline Development Group members met and through clinician led experience identified areas of new and emerging evidence, areas with identifiable variation in practice, or areas with potential to impact on patients care. These questions then formed the basis for the types of evidence being gathered, the search strategy, and the inclusion and exclusion criteria.

To formulate the clinical questions they were broken down into their component parts using the PICO(T) framework:

- Participant/Population
- Intervention/Exposure
- Control/Comparison
- Outcome
- Time

This process was carried out by discipline specific subgroups. The Guideline Development Group signed off the entire list of clinical questions to ensure a comprehensive guideline. The resulting 20 clinical questions are listed in Appendix 2: Clinical and Economic Questions in PICO format.

3.8.2 Step 2: Search methodology

The clinical questions formulated in step one were used to conduct literature searches of the primary literature. The systematic literature review protocol was developed for the guideline development process by the HSE librarians in conjunction with the NCCP (Appendix 4: Systematic literature review protocol). The following bibliographic databases were searched in the order specified below using keywords implicit in the PICO(T) question and any identified subject headings:

- Cochrane Library
- Point-of-Care Reference Tools
- Medline
- Embase (where available)
- Other bibliographic databases such as PsycINFO, CINAHL, as appropriate.

The literature was searched based on the hierarchy of evidence. The search strategies for all clinical questions and the five economic questions in the budget impact assessment are available on request by contacting the NCCP at <u>guidelines@cancercontrol.ie</u>

3.8.3 Step 3: Screen and appraise the evidence

International guidelines were appraised using the international, validated tool the AGREE II instrument (Brouwers et al., 2010). Primary papers were appraised using validated checklists developed by the Scottish Intercollegiate Guideline Network (SIGN).

Economic papers included in the Budget Impact Assessment (Part A: Economic) were appraised by a health economist using validated economic checklists developed by SIGN.

There were three main points considered when appraising all the research evidence:

- Are the results valid? (internal validity)
- What are the results? (statistical and clinical significance)
- Are the results applicable/generalisable to the patient/population of this guideline? (external validity)

After literature appraisals were completed, the data selected for possible inclusion in the guideline were compiled in the data extraction tables by the research officers. The data extraction tables are available upon request.

3.8.4 Step 4: Formulation and grading of recommendations

The evidence which addressed each clinical question from international guidelines and primary literature was extracted into evidence tables. Recommendations were formulated through a formal structured process. A 'considered judgment form' (adapted from SIGN) was completed for each clinical question.

The following items were considered and documented:

- What evidence is available to answer the clinical question?
- What is the quality of the evidence?
 - Is the evidence consistent?
 - Is the evidence generalisable to the Irish population?
 - > Is the evidence applicable in the Irish context?
- What is the potential impact on the health system?
- What is the potential benefit versus harm to the patient?
- Are there resource implications?

The evidence summaries and recommendations were then written. Each recommendation was assigned a grade by the Guideline Development Group. The grade reflected the level of evidence upon which the recommendations were based, the directness of the evidence, and whether further research is likely to change the recommendation. The levels of evidence tables and grading systems used are documented in Appendix 10: Levels of evidence & grading systems.

Good Practice Points are intended to assist guideline users by providing short pieces of advice which may not have an evidence base, but which are seen as essential to good clinical practice (SIGN, 2015). The Good Practice Points presented in this clinical guideline were based on the clinical expertise of the Guideline Development Group. For the economic literature, key messages are presented in boxes entitled 'relevance to the guideline recommendations'.

Practical considerations around patient care are statements developed through collaboration with patients and patient representative organisations on issues that were important to them with regards to their own experience of the diagnosis and staging of their cancer.



Figure 2 The stages of guideline development

3.9 Consultation process

The guideline was placed on the NCCP website and circulated for comment from the 17th of February 2020 to March 16th 2020. Stakeholders were asked to comment on the comprehensiveness of evidence used to form the recommendations. Stakeholders were required to submit feedback with supporting evidence on a form provided (see NCCP Methodology Manual) along with a completed conflict of interest form. A time-period of four weeks was allocated to submit comments. A list of the stakeholders including groups, organisations and committees can be found in Appendix 5: Details of consultation process.

All feedback received was reviewed by the project managers and research team. Suggested amendments and supporting evidence were reviewed by the discipline specific subgroup and consensus reached to accept or reject the amendments. Amendments were rejected following discussion between members of the relevant subgroup(s) and in instances where no superior evidence was provided or no conflict of interest form was provided. All modifications were documented and the report is available upon request.

3.9.1 Patient involvement

The views and preferences of the target population were sought by inviting patient advocacy groups (HSE Patient Forum, Irish Cancer Society, Cancer Care West, Marie Keating Foundation, Gary Kelly Cancer Support Centre Purple House Support Centre and a number of nationwide stoma support groups) to engage in the National Stakeholder Review process.

A number of cancer patients groups and charitable organisations were contacted and their patient representatives and family members were invited to engage with the NCCP and asked to provide feedback on issues important to them with regards to their own experiences of the diagnosis, staging and treatment of their rectal cancer.

Three patients from various patient cancer organisations and charities provided feedback which included issues around quality of life and patient dissatisfaction. A list of practical considerations from a patient perspective was developed and this can be found in Section 2.1 Summary of clinical recommendations, practical considerations around patient care and summary of budget impact analysis.

3.9.2 Patient advocacy

A collaborative approach is used in the development of the NCCP patient information, clinical guidelines and other national projects. All NCCP booklets are submitted to the National Adult Literacy Agency (NALA) (www.nala.ie) for the Plain English Award. This is to ensure comprehension and readability is in line with health literacy best practice standards. Service user testing is a key part of the process, and includes liaising with the HSE Patient Forum, online surveys, and engaging with other relevant patient groups e.g. Irish Cancer Society, Marie Keating Foundation.

The NCCP in partnership with the Irish Cancer Society has commenced a cancer survivorship programme. The main goal for the NCCP Survivorship Programme is to empower patients to achieve their best possible health while living with and beyond a diagnosis of cancer. This involves providing information, guidance and support to survivors and their families and healthcare professionals in relation to healthy lifestyle, disease prevention and control. It aims to promote a good quality of life and prolonged survival for people who experience cancer.

3.10 External review

The draft guideline was submitted for international expert review. The Guideline Development Group nominated six international reviewers to provide feedback on the draft guideline. These reviewers were chosen based on their in-depth knowledge of the subject area and guideline development processes. The review followed the same procedure as the National Stakeholder Review. The guideline was circulated for comment from 17th of February 2020 to March 16th 2020.

All feedback received was reviewed by the project managers and research team. Suggested amendments and supporting evidence were reviewed by the discipline specific subgroup and consensus reached to accept or reject the amendments. Amendments were rejected following discussion between members of the relevant subgroup(s) and in instances where no superior evidence was provided or no conflict of interest form was provided. All modifications were documented.

A log was recorded of all submissions and amendments from the national stakeholder review and international expert review process and is available on request from the Guideline Development Group.

3.11 Plan to update this National Clinical Guideline

This guideline published in December 2020 will be considered for review by the NCCP in three years. Surveillance of the literature base will be carried out periodically by the NCCP. Any updates to the guideline in the interim period or as a result of three year review will be subject to the NCEC approval process and noted in the guidelines section of the NCCP and NCEC websites.

3.12 Implementation

The implementation plan (Appendix 7: Implementation plan) was developed based on the NCEC implementation guide (Department of Health, 2018). The implementation plan outlines the actions required to implement the recommendations, who has lead responsibility for delivering the action, the timeframe for completion and the expected outcomes of implementation.

This National Clinical Guideline including the implementation plan should be reviewed by the multidisciplinary team and senior management in the hospital to plan the implementation of the recommendations.

The CEO, General Manager and the Clinical Director of the hospital have corporate responsibility for the implementation of the National Clinical Guideline and to ensure that all relevant staff are appropriately supported to implement the guideline.

The Colorectal Cancer Clinical Leads group will also have an important role in implementation of the recommendations contained in this guideline with regards to local clinical arrangements, clinical audit, sharing of good practice and problem solving.

All medical staff with responsibility for the care of patients with rectal cancer are required to:

- Comply with this National Clinical Guideline and any related procedures or protocols.
- Adhere to their code of conduct and professional scope of practice guidelines as appropriate to their role and responsibilities.
- Maintain their competency for the management and treatment of patients with rectal cancer.

The National Clinical Guideline will be circulated and disseminated through the professional networks who participated in developing and reviewing this document. The guideline will also be available on the NCEC and NCCP websites.

A summary of tools to assist in the implementation of this National Clinical Guideline are available in Appendix 3: Supporting tools.

3.12.1 Dissemination and communication plan

The National Clinical Guideline will be circulated and disseminated through the professional networks who participated in developing and reviewing this guideline (HSE Clinical Programmes in Surgery, Radiology, and Palliative Care, RCSI, HSE Patient Forum, Irish Cancer Society, Cancer Care West etc.). The guideline will also be available via the NCEC and NCCP websites.

The NCCP will co-ordinate with HSE Communications to distribute, share and disseminate through the media (HSE Broadcast, Health Matters, and Twitter). The guideline will be officially launched and circulated to all relevant faculties and colleges for dissemination to their members. The implementation of the guideline will also be supported by communication, training and education.

Potential dissemination and communication strategies:

- Create slide for inclusion in presentations by clinical leads, subgroup chairs, NCCP Director around published guidelines.
- Included link to guidelines in NCCP email signatures.
- Liaise with cancer voluntary support groups, organisations and charities to ensure guidelines are represented in their patient and public information.
- Promote through NCCP website and social media.
- Direct communication from NCCP Director/CCO/Acute Operations to hospital managers raising awareness and setting out expectations/actions.
- Include discussion on implementation at launch.

3.13 Monitoring and audit

The NCCP engages regularly with the individual cancer centres and with Hospital Group structures. Discussion of performance data, improvement plans, resources including manpower, service planning and development takes place at regular review meetings between the NCCP and senior management at cancer centre and Hospital Group level.

It is important that both the implementation of the guideline and patient outcomes are audited to ensure that this guideline positively impacts on patient care. For audit criteria see Appendix 8: Monitoring and audit.

3.14 Recommendations for research

The following areas have been identified by the Guideline Development Group that require further research:

Recommendation 2.2.6.1

In patients undergoing surgery with rectal cancer, it is recommended to identify as many nodes as possible, all of which should be submitted for microscopic examination/evaluation. Overall, the median for the laboratory should be at least 12.

Recommendation 2.6.2.1

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer who have an apparent complete clinical response to chemoradiation radical surgery is the standard of care. However, a watch and wait approach should be discussed with the patient and may be considered following shared decision making.

Recommendation 2.6.5.1

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer undergoing neoadjuvant chemoradiation the routine use of a boost is not recommended.

Recommendation 2.7.2.1

There is no clear evidence of difference in postoperative genitourinary function between minimally invasive and open total mesorectal excision (TME).

Appendices

Appendix 1: Guideline Development Group terms of reference and logic model

Membership of the Guideline Development Group is outlined at the beginning of this document.

Terms of Reference: To develop a national evidence-based clinical guideline for the diagnosis, staging, and treatment of patients with rectal cancer. Full terms of reference are available in the NCCP Methodology Manual for guideline development.

Name	Title/Position	Role on guideline group
Professor Risteárd Ó Laoide	National Director, NCCP	Chair
Ms Fiona Bonas	Interim Deputy Director, NCCP	Member
Dr Eve O'Toole	Head of Evidence and Quality Hub, NCCP	Member
Dr Deirdre Murray	Health Intelligence, NCCP	Member
Ms Patricia Heckmann	Assistant National Director, NCCP	Member
Professor Arnold Hill	NCCP Surgical Advisor & BH	Member
Dr Aileen Flavin	NCCP Radiation Oncology Advisor & CUH	Member
Professor Maccon Keane	NCCP Medical Oncology Advisor & GUH	Member
Mr Brendan Leen	Regional Librarian, HSE South-East	Member
Mr David Galvin	Chair Prostate GDG, SVUH	Member
Dr Marcus Kennedy	Chair Lung GDG, CUH	Member
Professor John Reynolds	Chair Gastrointestinal GDG, SJH	Member
Professor Deborah	Chair Lower GI GDG, BH	Member
McNamara		
Mr Justin Geoghegan	Chair Hepatobiliary GI GDG, SVUH	Member
Dr Josephine Barry	Co-chair Ovarian GDG, CUH	Member
Dr Ciarán Ó Riain	Co-chair Ovarian GDG, SJH	Member
Mr Martin O Sullivan	Chair Breast GP GDG, CUH	Member
Mr John Coulter	Chair Gestational trophoblastic disease GDG,	Member
	СИН	
Dr Brian Creedon	Clinical Lead Clinical Programme for Palliative	Member
	Care, UHW	

Table 13 Membership of the NCCP Guideline Steering Group

Table 14 Guideline contributors

Name	Title/Position	Role
Mr Rory Kennelly	Consultant Colorectal Surgeon, SVUH	Contributor
Dr Ciara Lyons	Consultant Radiation Oncologist, CUH	Contributor
Dr Moya Cunnigham	Consultant Radiation Oncologist, SLRON	Contributor
Dr Aoife McErlean	Consultant Radiologist, BH	Contributor
Ms Michelle O'Neill	Senior Health Economist, HIQA	Contributor
Dr Paul Patrick Healy	Clinical Lecturer, RCSI	Contributor
Ms Laura Currie-Murphy	Postdoctoral Research Fellow, SJH	Contributor
Ms Elaine Scanlon	Library Assistant, Dr Steevens' Library	Contributor
Professor Mike Clarke	Director of MRC Methodology Hub, QUB	Methodology advisor
Mr Robin Harbour	Lead Methodological, SIGN	Contributor
Dr Sandra Deady	Data Analyst, NCRI	Contributor

| Diagnosis, staging and treatment of patients with rectal cancer

68

Name	Title/Position	Role
Dr Francis Delaney	Radiology Specialist Registrar, MMUH	Contributor
Dr Austin Donnelly	Radiology Specialist Registrar, NI ST2	Contributor
Dr Padraic Kennedy	Radiology Specialist Registrar, CUH	Contributor
Dr David Ryan	Radiology Specialist Registrar, SVUH	Contributor
Dr Joseph Morrow	Radiology Specialist Registrar, SVUH	Contributor
Dr Niamh Kilgallen	Senior Research Officer, NCCP	Contributor

Monitoring and Evaluation

Audit on compliance of implementation of guideline recommendations, identification of key performance indicators and NCRI data monitoring on rectal cancer incidence

Situation Analysis

- Approximately 2,818 new cases of colorectal cancer diagnosed yearly
- 1,025 deaths from colorectal cancer yearly contributing to 11% of all cancer deaths
- Ranked Ireland's 2nd and 3rd most common mortalitycausing cancer in males and females respectively
- The incidence rate of colorectal cancer in males in Ireland is 68.1 per 100,000 (7 % higher than the EU27 rate of 58.2 per 100,000) and in females 43.7 per 100,000 (19.7 % higher than the EU27 rate of 36.5 per 100,000)
- By 2045 cancer of the rectum and anus is expected to increase by 93% in males and 97% in females
- Variation in practice regarding how rectal cancer is diagnosed, staged and treated in Ireland
- There is new and emerging evidence to suggest changes to practice
- All rectal cancer patients should be provided with the best opportunity at survival
- Emphasis on QOL
- Rectal cancer patient treatment specific to specialist centres
- Need for national guidance

Inputs

- Department of Health- NCEC
- Rectal cancer Guideline Development Group (GDG)
- Patient representatives
- Non GDG clinical expert input
- Guideline Steering Group
- NCCP colorectal clinical leads group
- National and international reviewers
- HSE
 - NPSO
 - QID
- Local implementation teams
- Colorectal Clinical Nurse Specialists
- Hospital management
- Medical & nursing specialists in every hospital
- Allied healthcare professionals
- Guideline champions
- Undergraduate colleges nursing and medical
- Hospital pricing unit
- Service planning
- NCRI

Activities/Outputs

- Communication & engagement
 with key stakeholders
- Dissemination and communication of guideline recommendations
- Accessibility of guideline recommendations to frontline staff
- Delivery of appropriate diagnosis, staging and treatment
- Staff training
- Staff support
- Resources to provide education at local level
- Development of audit tools and schedule of audit
- National audits
- Guideline Steering Group
 meetings
- Monitoring of rectal cancer KPIs

Short-Term Outcomes

- Implementation Outcome
 Acceptance of the rectal cancer guideline by clinicians
- Rectal cancer guideline widely disseminated & used in the care of rectal cancer patients
- All relevant staff have understanding and awareness of new rectal cancer guideline and its recommendations
- Pathways of care are feasible
- Programme of education established for undergraduate and qualified staff incorporating current practice
- Increase clinician satisfaction with care provided

Service Outcomes

- Use of rectal cancer guideline for diagnosis, staging and treatment of rectal cancer
- Guideline widely available in all clinical areas to aid diagnosis, staging and treatment
- Recommendations widely used and documented by all staff
- Better communication across all healthcare teams & professionals
- Funding from the DOH

Client Outcomes

- Decreased mortality and morbidity associated with rectal cancer
- Evidence-based treatment for patients in all clinical settings
- Reduction of adverse outcomes
- Increased QOL

Long-Term Outcomes Implementation Outcome

- National adoption of guideline with fidelity
- Use of the national guidelines is embedded across all service areas

Service Outcomes

- Cost-effective implementation of recommendations
- Recommendations fully resourced
- Reduction in variation in practice
 Standardised practices across
- Standardised practices across
 Ireland

Client Outcomes

- Decreased mortality/morbidity associated with rectal cancer
- Improved quality of life for patients
- Improved patient and family satisfaction with care received
 Measurable patients outcomes
- Micusulusic putients outcomes via regular audit
 Minimal deviation from
- recommendations- patient dependent
- Sustainable improvements in care provided to rectal cancer patients

Evidence

Systematic review of literature; international guidelines; expert national and international review; budget impact analysis

Diagnosis, staging and treatment of patients with rectal cancer

Appendix 2: Clinical and Economic Questions in PICO format

Diagnosis and staging

Clinical question 2.2.1	
In patients with newly diagnosed rectal cancer, is CT-TAP the best imaging modality for diagnosing:	
i) Extrahenatic metastasis	
Population:	Patients diagnosed with rectal cancer
Intervention:	СТ-ТАР
Comparison:	Chest x-ray, ultrasound, MRI, PET-CT
Outcome:	Sensitivity, specificity, diagnosis of hepatic & extrahepatic metastases
Clinical question 2.2.2 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer with a potentially resectable liver lesion, is MRI of the liver superior to PET-CT in determining the presence of further liver lesions?	
Population:	Patients diagnosed with rectal cancer with a potentially resectable liver lesion
Intervention:	MRI
Comparison:	PET-CT
Outcome:	Sensitivity, specificity, diagnosis of additional lesions
In patients newly diagnosed with rectal cancer, is MRI superior to endorectal ultrasound in assessing the local extent of tumour?	
Population:	Patients newly diagnosed with rectal cancer
Intervention:	MRI
Comparison:	Endoanal ultrasound
Outcome:	Sensitivity, specificity, assessing local extent of tumour
Clinical question 2.2.4 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer whose tumour cannot be endoscopically passed, is CT colonography necessary prior to surgery?	
Population:	Patients diagnosed with obstructing rectal cancer
Intervention:	No colonography (pre-operatively)
Comparison:	No CT colonography
Outcome:	Clinical effectiveness (diagnosis, treatment), sensitivity, specificity, safety and harms
Clinical question 2.2.5 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer, is complete colonoscopy always necessary prior to surgery?	
Population:	Patients newly diagnosed with rectal cancer
Intervention:	Complete preoperative colonoscopy
Comparison:	Incomplete preoperative conventional colonoscopy
Outcome:	Clinical effectiveness (diagnosis, treatment), sensitivity, specificity, safety and harms
Clinical question 2.2.6

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer, is there a minimum number of lymph nodes that need to be identified in a resection specimen and, if so, what is that number?

Population:	Patients diagnosed with rectal cancer
Intervention:	Minimum threshold of lymph nodes sampled
Comparison:	Any number of lymph nodes sampled
Outcome:	Accuracy of staging, survival benefit

Clinical question 2.2.7

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer, are the Haggitt and Kikuchi classification systems sufficiently applicable to recommend their use?

Population:	Patients diagnosed with rectal cancer
Intervention:	Application of Haggitt (polypoid tumours) and Kikuchi (sessile tumours) classification systems
Comparison:	Non-application of Haggitt and Kikuchi classification systems
Outcome:	Accuracy of assessing local invasion

Clinical question 2.2.8

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer receiving neoadjuvant chemoradiation:

a) Should a tumour regression grading (TRG) system be employed

b) If so, which one?

Population:	Patients diagnosed with rectal cancer
Intervention:	3-point TRG system (Royal College of Path 2007 Dataset) 5-point TRG (Mandard 1994/Dworak 1997)
Comparison:	Non-application of a TRG system
Outcome:	Correlation with overall survival, reproducibility of TRG system, Prognosis

Restaging

Clinical question 2.3.1

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer who have an apparent complete clinical response to chemoradiation, which radiological investigation best determines if the patient is a complete pathological responder?

Population:	Patients diagnosed with rectal cancer with an apparently complete clinical
	response to chemoradiation
Intervention:	Digital rectal examination (DRE), endoscopy with biopsy, CT-TAP, PET-CT, carcinoembryogenic antigen (CEA) measurements, EMR, local resection, MRI, endorectal ultrasound, observation of lesion
Comparison:	Rectal resection with TME
Outcome:	ypT0N0M0, local recurrence, disease free survival, overall survival

Treatment: Emergency presentations

Clinical question 2.4.1 In patients diagnosed with obstructive rectal cancer, what is the role of stenting: (i) When intention of treatment is curative? (ii) When intention of treatment is palliative?	
Population:	Patients diagnosed with obstructive rectal cancer
Intervention:	Stenting
Comparison:	Immediate surgery
Outcome:	Bridge to surgery, tumour dissemination, palliation, safety, stoma rates, curative resection, mortality, perforation

Treatment: Patients with early rectal cancer

Clinical question 2.5.1

In predicted node negative patients diagnosed with T1 or T2 rectal cancer, what is the evidence for local resection without total mesorectal excision (TME)?

Population:	Node negative patients diagnosed with T1 or T2 rectal cancer
Intervention:	Local resection without total mesorectal excision (TME)
Comparison:	Local resection with TME
Outcome:	Recurrence, overall survival

Clinical question 2.5.2

In patients with early-stage rectal cancer treated with local excision what pathological features indicate that radical surgery is required?

Population:	Patients with early-stage rectal cancer who have had local excision
Intervention:	Pathological features on local excision specimen
Comparison:	-
Outcome:	Radical surgery required

Treatment: Patients receiving neoadjuvant therapy

Clinical question 2.6.1

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer, what subgroups of patients would benefit from preoperative radiotherapy or chemoradiotherapy?

Population:	Patients diagnosed with rectal cancer
Intervention:	Need for preoperative radiotherapy indicated by any of the following: MRI,
	endorectal ultrasound, endoscopy, surgical concern over ability to sphincter spare,
	tumour location, other patient specific factors
Comparison:	-
Outcome:	Recurrence, disease-free survival, overall survival, safety and harms
Clinical question 2.6.2 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer who have an apparent complete clinical response to chemoradiotherapy, what is the evidence to support a watch and wait strategy?	
Population:	Patients diagnosed with rectal cancer with an apparent complete clinical response
	to chemoradiation being treated with curative intent

Intervention:	Local resection, abdomino-perineal excision of rectum, total mesorectal excision
	(IME)
Comparison:	Radical surgery, active surveillance
Outcome:	Recurrence, overall survival

Clinical question 2.6.3

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer, how does short-course preoperative radiotherapy (SCPRT) compare with chemoradiotherapy for survival, toxicity, down-staging (or sphincter preservation), local recurrence rates, and postoperative complications?

Population:	Patients diagnosed with rectal cancer undergoing SCPRT or LCPRT (+/-
	chemotherapy)
Intervention:	SCPRT or LCPRT (+/- chemo)
Comparison:	No SCPRT or LCPRT (+/- chemo)
Outcome:	Overall survival
	Toxicity, down-staging, pathological complete response rate, local recurrence,
	postoperative complications, sphincter preservation

Clinical question 2.6.4

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer undergoing neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy, is IMRT (intensitymodulated radiotherapy) superior to 3D-CRT (three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy) with regard to toxicity and outcomes?

Population:	Patients diagnosed with rectal cancer undergoing neoadjuvant long-course
	chemoradiotherapy
Intervention:	IMRT
Comparison:	3D-CRT or 2D-CRT
Outcome:	Toxicity, pathological complete response rate, dosimetric parameters (example
	bowel and bladder dose & coverage), local recurrence, postoperative
	complications, overall survival

Clinical question 2.6.5

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer undergoing neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy, does addition of boost (e.g. EBRT, brachytherapy, simultaneous integrated boost, endocavitary contact x-ray) improve oncological outcomes?

Population:	Patients diagnosed with rectal cancer being treated with adjuvant or neoadjuvant
	LCCRT
Intervention:	"Boost" following standard dose (45-50.4 Gy)
Comparison:	No "boost"
Outcome:	Toxicity, downstaging, pathological complete response rate, local recurrence,
	postoperative complications, overall survival

Treatment: Surgical techniques

Clinical question 2.7.1 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer, what is the evidence for specific surgical techniques and the effectiveness of these techniques on patient outcomes?					
Population:	Patients diagnocod with restal cancer				
Intervention: Laparoscopic surgery, abdomino-perineal excision of rectum (resection), to					
	mesorectal excision (TME), robotic surgery				
Comparison:	Radical surgery				
Outcome:	Lymph node harvest, pathology scoring in macroscopic specimens, survival,				
	recurrence – local and distant, morbidity, quality of life				
Clinical guestion 2.7.2					
In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer undergoing radical resection is minimally invasive or open total					
mesorectal excision (TMF) more likely to preserve postoperative sexual and/or urinary function?					
mesoreetal excloser (milly more mery to preserve postoperative sexual ana/or annary function.					
Bonulation :	Datients diagnesed with restal sanser undergoing radical resection				

Population:	Patients diagnosed with rectal cancer undergoing radical resection			
Intervention: Laparoscopic TME, robotic surgery				
Comparison:	Open TME			
Outcome:	Post-operative sexual/urinary function			

Treatment: Patient receiving adjuvant therapy

Clinical question 2.8.1

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer, does postoperative radiotherapy or chemoradiotherapy compensate for positive surgical margins?

Population:	Patients diagnosed with rectal cancer with positive surgical margins				
Intervention:	ntervention: Postoperative radiotherapy/CRT				
Comparison:	No postoperative radiotherapy/CRT				
Outcome:	Local recurrence, overall survival				

Treatment: Palliative care

Clinical question 2.9.1

When should palliative care be introduced for patients with cancer?

Population:	Patients with cancer			
Intervention:	rvention: Timing of palliative care			
Comparison:				
Outcome:	Quality of life			

75

Economics

Radiology

What is the cost-effectiveness of various imaging modalities in staging patients with colorectal cancer?

Population:	Patients diagnosed with colon or rectal cancer					
Intervention:	Complete colonoscopy, CT colonography, CT-TAP (thorax, abdomen, pelvis), chest radiography, ultrasound, MRI, PET-CT					
Comparison:	-					
Outcome:	Cost-effectiveness analysis, cost-benefit analysis, cost-utility analysis, economic evaluation					
Pathology						
What is the cost-effective	ness of processing lymph nodes or classifying pathological specimens in patients					
with colorectal cancer?						
Population:	Patients diagnosed with colon or rectal cancer					
Intervention:	Processing lymph nodes (≤12 vs. 12)					
	Classifying pathological specimens (Haggitt, Kikuchi, 3-point TRG system, 5-point					
Comparison	TRG system)					
Comparison:						
Outcome:	Cost-effectiveness analysis, cost-benefit analysis, cost-utility analysis, economic evaluation					
Gastroenterology						
What is the cost-effective	ness of gastroenterology services in patients with colorectal cancer?					
Population:	Patients diagnosed with colon or rectal cancer					
Intervention:	Tattooing lesions during colonoscopy, preoperative colonoscopy, CT					
-	colonography, endoscopic mucosal resection, endoscopic submucosal dissection					
Comparison:	-					
Outcome:	Cost-effectiveness analysis, cost-benefit analysis, cost-utility analysis, economic evaluation					
Surgery What is the cost-effective	ness of various surgical techniques in patients with colorectal cancer?					
Population:	Patients diagnosed with colon or rectal cancer					
Intervention:	Laparoscopic surgery, colonic resection, mesocolon excision, complete mesocolic					
	excision, stenting, abdomino-perineal excision, total mesorectal excision, robotic					
	surgery, radical/open surgery, open low anterior surgery, endoscopic mucosal					
	resection, endoscopic submucosal dissection, transanal excision, mesocolic					
Comparison:						
Outcome:	Cost-offectiveness analysis, cost-benefit analysis, cost-utility					
Badiation Oncology	cost-enectiveness analysis, cost-benefit analysis, cost-utility					
What is the cost-effectiveness of radiotherapy in patients with colorectal cancer?						
Population:	Patients diagnosed with colon or rectal cancer					
Intervention:	Short-course radiotherapy, Long-course radiotherapy, boost, intensity modulated					
	radiotherapy (IMRT), 3D conformal radiotherapy (3DCRT), 2D conformal					
	radiotherapy (2DCRT), postoperative radiotherapy (±chemotherapy)					
Comparison:	-					
Outcome:	Cost-effectiveness analysis, cost-benefit analysis, cost-utility analysis, economic					
	evaluation					

Appendix 3: Supporting tools

Downloading this guideline

This National Clinical Guideline will be available to download on the following websites:

- NCCP: <u>https://www.hse.ie/eng/services/list/5/cancer/profinfo/guidelines/</u>
- NCEC: <u>https://health.gov.ie/national-patient-safety-office/ncec/national-clinical-guidelines/</u>

Clinician information

- GP Electronic referral form National Colorectal Cancer GP Referral for Symptomatic Patients
 <u>https://www.hse.ie/eng/services/list/5/cancer/profinfo/resources/gpreferrals/gp-referral-pathway-for-suspected-colorectal-cancer.pdf</u>
- NCCP Website: Information for Health Professionals
 https://www.hse.ie/eng/services/list/5/cancer/profinfo/
- Algorithms available in this guideline for clinicians:
 - **Figure 1** Staging algorithm recommended by the Guideline Development Group for patients with rectal cancer and suspected hepatic metastases

Patient information booklets/website

- Booklet Sexual Wellbeing after breast or pelvic cancer treatments- a guide for women <u>https://www.hse.ie/eng/services/list/5/cancer/patient/leaflets/sexual-wellbeing-after-breast-or-pelvic-cancer-treatment.pdf</u>
- Booklet Information for men on sexual wellbeing after pelvic cancer treatment- What you should know

https://www.hse.ie/eng/services/list/5/cancer/profinfo/resources/booklets/pelvic%20cancer.pdf

- Booklet-Good bone health after cancer treatment- What you should know
 <u>https://www.hse.ie/eng/services/list/5/cancer/patient/leaflets/good-bone-health-after-cancer-treatment.pdf</u>
- Booklet Irish Cancer Society. (2019) Understanding bowel (colorectal) and anal cancer booklet
 <u>https://www.cancer.ie/cancer-information-and-support/cancer-types/bowel-cancer</u>
- NCCP Colorectal cancer patient passport https://www.hse.ie/eng/services/list/5/cancer/profinfo/cancer-nursing-programme/patient% 20passport.html
- NCCP Website: Patient Information <u>https://www.hse.ie/eng/services/list/5/cancer/patient/</u>

Service quality

- Department of Health (2017) National Cancer Strategy 2017-2026
 https://health.gov.ie/blog/publications/national-cancer-strategy-2017-2026/
- Department of Health (2018) Framework for Public Involvement in Clinical Effectiveness Processes https://health.gov.ie/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Final-WEB-COPY_PI-Framework-Feb-2018-1.pdf
- Department of Health (2018) NCEC Implementation Guide and Toolkit for National Clinical Guidelines https://www.gov.ie/en/collection/cd41ac-clinical-effectiveness-resources-and-learning/
- Health Information and Quality Authority (2012) National Standards for Safer Better Healthcare www.hiqa.ie/standards/health/safer-better-healthcare

Publications to assist with implementation of this guideline

- Department of Health (2017) Working Together for Health- A National Strategic Framework for Health and Social Care Workforce Planning <u>https://health.gov.ie/blog/publications/working-together-for-health-a-national-strategic-framework-for-health-and-social-care-workforce-planning/</u>
- Health Service Executive (2017) Palliative Care Services- Three Year Development Framework 2017-2019
- <u>https://www.hse.ie/eng/services/publications/clinical-strategy-and-programmes/palliative-care-services-development-framework.pdf</u>

- Department of Health (2017) Framework for Safe Nurse Staffing and Skill Mix in General and Specialist Medical and Surgical Care settings in Adult Hospitals in Ireland 2018
- <u>https://health.gov.ie/blog/publications/framework-for-safe-nurse-staffing-and-skill-mix-in-general-and-specialist-medical-and-surgical-care-settings-in-ireland-2018/</u>
- Department of Health (2014) Strategic Review of Medical Training and Career Structure
- <u>https://health.gov.ie/blog/publications/strategic-review-of-medical-training-and-career-structure-final-report/</u>
- Kumarasinghe et al., (2020) Pathological assessment of endoscopic resections of the gastrointestinal tract: a comprehensive clinicopathologic review. Mod Pathol ;33(6):986-1006. doi: 10.1038/s41379-019-0443-1.

Appendix 4: Systematic literature review protocol



ICER HSE Library Services NCCP Guideline Development



SYSTEMATIC LITERATURE REVIEW PROTOCOL

Literature searches to answer clinical questions identified by the relevant tumour group will be conducted using the following procedure. Questions should only be submitted if they have not been adequately answered in the guidelines adopted by the tumour group, or where guidelines need to be updated. Guidelines should be identified in consultation with library services.

Tumour Group	1	PICO(T)		Analyse the clinical question using PICO(T) and complete a Clinical Query		
				See below Append 1: Clinical Query Request		
Tumour	2	Question		Assign a question category if appropriate:		
Group or	2	Category	Therapy/Intervention \Box Actionary/Rick Factors \Box			
Library		Category		Diagnosis Drognosis/Drediction Dreguency/Rate Deenomena Other		
Services						
Library	3	Literature Search		Conduct searches of the following hibliographic databases in the order		
Services				specified below using keywords implicit in the PICO(T) strategy and any identified subject headings:		
		Cochrane	3.1	Cochrane Library		
				Comprising: the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews; the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (Central); the Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects; the Health Technology Assessment Database; the NHS Economic Evaluation Database.		
				relevant studies.		
		Point-of-Care	3.2	Point-of-Care Reference Tools		
				One or more of the following point-of-care reference tools: BMJ Best		
				Practice; DynaMed; UpToDate.		
		Medline	3.3	Medline		
				filter. Unless otherwise specified by the tumour group or warranted by the specific clinical question, limit results to studies from the previous 5 years. Where appropriate, limit intervention questions according to the following		
				priority: Medline clinical queries; Cochrane systematic reviews; other systematic reviews or meta-analyses; RCTs; systematic reviews of cohort or cross-sectional studies; cohort or cross-sectional studies; general Medline or other sources.		
				Where appropriate, limit diagnosis, prognosis or aetiology questions according to the following priority: Medline clinical queries; systematic reviews of cohort or cross-sectional studies; cohort or cross-sectional studies; general Medline or other sources.		
		Embase	3.4	Embase		
				Repeat the Medline search strategy above using Embase, if available.		
		Other Databases	3.5	Other Bibliographic Databases Repeat the Medline search strategy above using the Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature and/or PsycINFO, as appropriate.		
		Other Sources	3.6	Other Sources		
				Use any other sources for background or additional information, as		
				appropriate.		
				Other sources may include: PubMed, particularly for in-process or ahead-		
				or-print citations; quality-assured, subject-specific internet resources;		
		Trial Pagistors	27	Trial Projectore		
		That Registers	5.7	When a relevant trial is identified through searching the hibliographic		
				databases, a search of trial registers should be carried out to identify any		
				related trials which have been completed but whose findings have not		
				been published or made available. The tumour group should be alerted to		
				the presence of these unpublished trials. The following sources may be		



| Diagnosis, staging and treatment of patients with rectal cancer

Annex 1-Clinical Question Request to Library

Your Contact Details			
Name			
Job Title			
Work Address			
Telephone			
Email			
Employee Number			
Please state your clinical	question		
and list any relevant ke	eywords		
	-		
or (optional) enter keyv	vords under the followi	ing headings (PICO)	
		PICO	
Population/Problem			
Intervention/Indicator			
Comparator/Control			
Outcome			
Is your question specific t	o any of the categories	s below?	
GEN	DER	AGE GROUP	DATE OF PUBLICATION
Male Female		Infant (0 – 23 months) \square Child (2 – 12 years) \square Adolescent (13 – 18 years) \square Adult (19 – 65 years) \square	Current year only 0 – 5 years > 5 years
	Que	estion Type	
Therapy/Intervention			
Aetiology/Risk Factors			
Diagnosis 🗆			
Prognosis/Prediction			
Frequency/Rate			
Phenomena 🗆			
Other			
Additional Information			

Annex 2-Clinical Question Response from Library

Dear_____

Thank you for your email. Please see attached in response to your clinical query and, below, details of the search strategy applied to your question. If you wish to source any of the references contained in these results, or to search further, please do not hesitate to contact us.

Best wishes,

[ATTACH CLINICAL QUESTION REQUEST HERE]

Search Strategy				
Primary Database(s) Searched				
Search Strategy				
Other/Secondary Resources Searched				
Comments				
	-	Contact		
Your Library Staff Contact		1		
Date				

Annex 3-Clinical Question: Summary of Search Strategy

Clinical Question							
	PICO						
Population/Problem							
Intervention/Indicator							
Comparator/Control							
Outcome							
Is your question specific to any	of the categories below?						
GENDER	AGE GROUP		DATE OF PUBLICATION				
Male 🗆 Female 🗆	Infant (0 – 23 months) \Box Child (2 – 12 years) \Box Adolescent (13 – 18 years) \Box Adult (19 – 65 years) \Box Aged (> 65 years) \Box		Current year only 0 – 5 years > 5 years				
Question Type							
Therapy/Intervention			uency/Rate 🗆				
Aetiology/Risk Factors	F	Phenomena 🗆					
Diagnosis 🗆		Other 🗆					
Prognosis/Prediction							
	Search St	rate	gy				
Primary Database(s) Searched							
Search Strategy	[Copy of base Medline and/or PubMed search strategy HERE. Include subject headings and search hits].						
Other/Secondary Resources Searched							
Search Strategy: Other Resources	[Copy of other search strategies HERE. Include subject headings and search hits].						
Comments	[Short paragraph describing search].						
Date							

Annex 4-Systematic Literature Review Workflow*



* Based in part on "Figure 10: Systematic Literature Review" of SIGN 50: A Guideline Developer's Handbook. - Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (2011). SIGN 50: A Guideline Developer's Handbook. Revised ed. Edinburgh: Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network.

Protocol designed by the HSE/hospital librarians in conjunction with the NCCP.

Appendix 5: Details of consultation process

As part of the consultation process, the draft guideline was circulated for review to this list of groups, committees and organisations. The guideline was also available on the NCCP website so it was accessible to all who wished to comment and feedback. All submissions and amendments from the national stakeholder and international expert review process are available on request from the Guideline Development Group. Further information regarding the consultation process can be found in section 3.10 External review.

Clinical leaders and	National Colorectal Clinical Leads group
healthcare managers	HSE Clinical Programme in Surgery
	HSE Clinical Programme in Radiology
	HSE Clinical Programme in Palliative Care
	HSE Clinical Programme in Medicines management & pharmacological interventions
	HSE Clinical Programmes in Renal Failure
	HSE Clinical Programme in Primary Care CEOs of the Hospital Groups
	CEOs of the designated cancer centres
	CEO/managers of the Cancer Network Hospitals
National groups,	Faculty of Surgery, RCSI
organisations, faculties &	Faculty of Radiology, RCSI
committees	Faculty of Pathology, RCSI
	Irish Society for Medical Oncologists (ISMO)
	Irish Association for Nurses in Oncology (IANO)
	Irish Stoma Care and Colorectal Nurses Association (ISCCNA)
	Irish College of General Practitioners (ICGP)
	Irish Association of Emergency Medicine
	Irish Association of Directors of Nursing and Midwifery
	Hospital Pharmacists Association of Ireland
	Oncology Pharmacists Special Interest Group
	Irish Association of Physicists in Medicine (IAMP)
Patient support and	HSE Patient Forum
advocacy groups	Irish Cancer Society
	Cancer Care West
	Marie Keating Foundation
	Gary Kelly Cancer Support Centre
	Purple House Support Group
	All Ireland Institute of Hospice and Palliative Care
	The Irish Hospice Foundation
	The Irish Association for Palliative Care
	ASH Ireland
	Stoma Support Groups nationwide
International Expert	Dr David Burling, Consultant Radiologist, St. Mark's Hospital, Harrow, UK
Review	Professor Brian Saunders, Professor of Endoscopy Practice, London North West
	Hospitals University Healthcare Trust, UK
	Professor Paul Horgan, Professor of Surgery, University of Glasgow, UK
	Mr Fergal Flemming, Assistant Professor of Surgery and Oncology. University of
	Rochester Medical Center, Rochester, New York, USA
	Dr Maria A. Hawkins, Professor of Radiation Oncology, University College London, UK
	Dr Amitabh Srivastava, Associate Professor of Pathology, Harvard Medical School, USA

Appendix 6: Economic Assessment

Key message

This budget impact assessment of the diagnosis, staging and treatment of rectal cancer is covered in two sections (Part A: Economic evidence summary and Part B: Budget Impact Analysis)

The report was compiled by: Ms Rebecca Moore Ms Keira Doherty-McCullough Dr Helena Gibbons

The following people are thanked for the input they contributed: Ms Michelle O'Neill, Senior Health Economist (HIQA) Ms Margaret Morgan, Librarian (Midlands Regional Hospital) Ms Nicola Fay, Regional Librarian (Midlands Regional Hospital)

Part A: Economic evidence summary

The Guideline Development Group undertook a literature search for evidence of clinical- and cost-effectiveness, cost and resource impact, including primary (research studies) and secondary (reviews) sources.

Methods

The literature sources searched are specified in the literature search strategy and include relevant resources, such as trial/guideline registries and relevant citation databases. The NCCP identified six economic questions pertaining to relevant areas within the guideline requiring cost-effectiveness analysis. Literature searches were carried out by HSE librarians and sifted by NCCP research staff. Selected literature was reviewed and quality appraised by the Guideline Development Group Health Economist to determine the cost of diagnosis, staging and treatment options. Using the SIGN economic literature checklist, a paper was determined to be too low quality to be used if the process of ensuring internal validity could not be established. A clearly focused question with an appropriate study design and measurable outcomes were important items considered in the overall assessment of study quality.

The estimated costs per quality adjusted life year (QALY) or life years gained (LYG) given in the following summaries are those reported within each study for the given year and national currency. These cost-effectiveness ratios have been complemented in brackets by euro estimates to correct for the purchasing power parity (PPP) between countries and health inflation to 2016-2017 costs as per the Health Information and Quality Authority's Economic Evaluation Guidelines (Health Information and Quality Authority (HIQA), 2014).

The following summaries report the conclusions regarding cost-effectiveness made by the authors of the reviewed literature. It is important to note that the thresholds of cost-effectiveness in other countries differ from that in Ireland and that statements of cost-effectiveness made in another context therefore may not be applicable to Ireland. While Ireland has no explicit cost-effectiveness threshold for non-drug interventions, cost-effectiveness ratios falling within the region of €45,000/QALY are conventionally considered cost-effective in Ireland.

Despite the conversion of the reported costs to PPP-adjusted 2016-2017 euro values it is also important to remember that there may still be a number of other factors which mean that cost-effectiveness ratios from other countries are not necessarily directly applicable to the Irish setting. For example, Ireland's discount rate is higher than that applied in the UK; so many interventions assessed in the UK would have less favourable ratios if the Irish discount rate was applied. Similarly, some analysis are conducted from the societal perspective and may account for more costs than are considered in Irish cost-effectiveness analyses (CEAs), which only account

for costs to the health sector. Accordingly, the euro-adjusted ratios reported here should only be considered broadly indicative of the level of cost-effectiveness rather than precisely adjusted estimates for the Irish health system.



Figure 3 Economic literature review results breakdown

*Inclusion criteria

Economic study Applicable to the Irish healthcare system Applicable to patient population/intervention/outcome English Language Relevant to guideline recommendations

*Exclusion criteria

Not an economic study Not in English language Methodological or quality issues Not applicable to Irish healthcare system Not applicable to patient population/intervention/outcome Not relevant to guideline recommendations Table 15 Economic literature review protocol

ID	Search
1	Economics/
2	"costs and cost analysis"/
3	Cost allocation
4	Cost-benefit analysis/
5	Cost control/
6	Cost savings/
7	Cost of illness/
8	Cost sharing/
9	"deductibles and coinsurance"/
10	Medical savings accounts/
11	Health care costs/
12	Direct service costs/
13	Drug costs/
14	Employer health costs/
15	Hospital costs/
16	Health expenditures/
17	Capital expenditures/
18	Value of life/
19	Exp economics, hospital/
20	Exp economics, medical/
21	Economics, nursing/
22	Economics, pharmaceutical/
23	Exp "fees and changes"/
24	Exp budgets/
25	(low adj cost).mp.
26	(high adj cost).mp.
27	(health?care adj cost\$).mp.
28	(fiscal or funding or financial or finance).tw.
29	(cost adj estimate\$).mp.
30	(cost adj variable).mp.
31	(unit adj cost\$).mp.
32	(economic\$ or pharmacoeconomic\$ or price\$ or pricing).tw.
33	Or/1-32

Radiology

What is the cost-effectiveness of various imaging modalities in staging patients with colorectal cancer?

Of the 20 articles identified only five were relevant high quality economic studies assessing the costeffectiveness of various imaging modalities in staging patients with colon or rectal cancer. The diagnostics included in the search were complete colonoscopy, CT colonography, CT-TAP, chest radiography, ultrasound, MRI, PET-CT.

The first study included was a very high quality health technology assessment from the UK under the NHS National Institute for Health Research Health Technology Assessment Programme. This study, "Brush et al. (2011) *The value of FDG positron emission tomography/computed tomography (PET/CT) in pre-operative staging of colorectal cancer: a systematic review and economic evaluation*" is a very comprehensive 192 page document. The research objectives were to "evaluate the diagnostic accuracy and therapeutic impact of PET-CT for the pre-operative staging of primary, recurrent and metastatic cancer using systematic review methods; undertake probabilistic decision-analytic modelling; and construct a value of information analysis". The systematic review did not find sufficient evidence for the use of PET-CT in primary colorectal cancer and only little supportive evidence in the use of PET-CT in pre-operative staging for recurrent and metastatic disease. The review judged the quality of the data identified to be generally of poor quality. The authors concluded that they could not support the use of PET-CT in staging primary colorectal cancer. The economic evaluations demonstrated a cost-effectiveness ratio of £21,409/QALY for recurrent rectal cancer, £6,189/QALY for recurrent colon cancer and £21,434 for metastatic disease.

Conclusions: PET-CT as an add-on imaging device is cost-effective in the preoperative staging of recurrent rectal and metastatic disease but not in primary colon or rectal cancer.

The second study by Halligan et al. (2015) "Computed tomographic colonography compared with colonoscopy or barium enema for diagnosis of colorectal cancer in older symptomatic patients: two multicenter randomised trials with economic evaluation (the SIGGAR trials)" is a 134 page long NHS National Institute for Health research health technology assessment. The cost-effectiveness is based on the SIGGAR trials and compares CT colonography with colonoscopy or barium enema in diagnosing symptomatic elderly patients. The objective was to examine the diagnostic efficacy, acceptability, safety and cost-effectiveness of CT colonography compared with BE or colonoscopy. The authors concluded that CT colonography detects more cancers and large polyps then barium enema and misses fewer cancers and improves patient experience but does increase follow-up investigations. The way in which results were delivered, quicker and face to face favoured colonoscopy however CT colonography improved patient experience in the short term. Compared to barium enema, CT colonography detected an extra serious colonic neoplasm for approximately £4,000. However detection rates were similar for CT colonography and colonoscopy and costs were also similar so there was not enough evidence for a solid recommendation.

Conclusions: No conclusions were possible.

In Huppertz et al. (2010) "Whole-body MRI imaging versus sequential multimodal diagnostic algorithm for staging patients with rectal Cancer: Cost Analysis", the direct and fixed costs of 33 patient were compared. Algorithm A included rectoscopy, endoscopic and abdominal ultrasound, chest x-ray, thoracic/abdominal CT in the case of positive findings in abdominal ultrasound or x-rays. The comparator was Algorithm B which consisted of rectoscopy followed by whole body MRI scanner. The study concluded that substantial savings are achievable with the use of whole-body MRI in pre-operative TNM staging of patients with rectal cancer compared to conventional work-up. The MRI option was deemed preferable to patients due to faster definitive diagnostic and to hospitals as the method involved less planning, personnel, steps and procedures and was thus easier to control. However, this study was a cost-minimisation study as the evidence for the superiority of the MRI scanner was not in the scope of the paper and was only based on one study Brown et al., (2003).

A National Clinical Guideline

Conclusions: There is not enough evidence to conclude recommendations based on this study.

Yip et al. (2014) in "Optimal imaging sequence for staging colorectal liver metastasis: Analysis of three hypothetical imaging strategies" assessed inappropriate over investigations which can lead to delays in treatment and additional costs. Based on cost-analyses they concluded that a specialist multidisciplinary team should assess the initial CT of all patients with liver limited metastatic colorectal cancer, who are deemed fit for consideration for hepatectomy, prior to further radiological assessment by both PET-CT and MRI.

Conclusions: The most cost-effective option would be a specialist multidisciplinary team assessing the initial CT of all patients with liver limited metastatic colorectal cancer, who are deemed fit for consideration for hepatectomy, prior to further radiological assessment by both PET-CT and MRI.

In Zech et al. (2009)"*Health economic evaluation of three imaging strategies in patients with suspected colorectal liver metastasis: Gd-EOB-DTPA-enhanced MRI vs. extra cellular contrast-media enhanced MRI and 3-phase MDCT in Germany, Italy and Sweden*" the authors performed an economic evaluation of PV-MRI, ECCM-MRI and three-phase-MDCT as initial modalities in the work up of patients with metachronous colorectal liver metastasis. The authors concluded that PV-MRI with the lowest rate of further imaging needed can lead to cost-savings.

Conclusions: PV-MRI can lead to cost-savings.

Relevance to the guideline recommendation

The literature above discussed the cost-effectiveness of radiological modalities and techniques addressed within guidelines recommendations 2.2.1.3, 2.2.2.2, 2.2.4.1 and 2.2.5.2

Cost-effectiveness literature was available for recommendations 2.2.1.3 and 2.2.2.2. The recommendations discusses the use of PET-CT in patients with suspected liver metastases or used as a problem solving tool in patients with equivocal imaging results. This is supported by the cost-effectiveness literature which concluded that they could not support the use of PET-CT in staging primary colorectal cancer. The use of PET-CT in this cohort of patients should only be used after careful consideration of the patient at a multidisciplinary team meeting.

Cost-effectiveness literature was also available for CT colonography which is mentioned in recommendations 2.2.4.1, 2.2.5.1 and 2.2.5.2. Recommendation 2.2.4.1 advises that in patients with obstructing rectal cancer full colonic evaluation with CT colonography should be carried out to detect the presence of a synchronous tumour in patients where colonoscopy is not possible. Recommendation 2.2.5.1 advises that complete visualisation of the entire colon by colonoscopy is recommended prior to surgery. If colonoscopy is not possible CT colonography is the modality of choice.

A HTA addressed the use of CT colonography (compared with colonoscopy and barium enema) specifically in diagnosing colorectal cancer in older symptomatic patients (≥55 years) with symptoms suggestive of colorectal cancer. The cost-effectiveness analysis is not relevant to the recommendations made in this guideline, as the setting is different (i.e. diagnosing rectal cancer).

Cost-effectiveness literature was not available for recommendations 2.2.1.1, 2.2.1.2, 2.2.2.1, 2.2.3.1, 2.2.3.2. Recommendations 2.2.1.1 relates to the utility of CT-TAP as standard for initial staging of patients

Recommendations 2.2.1.2 and 2.2.2.1 relates to the utility of MRI and its role in the evaluation and resectability of liver metastases. Recommendation 2.2.3.1 relates to the use of MRI for locoregional staging. The cost-effectiveness literature detailed above is supportive of PV-MRI and Yip et al. states that patients who are deemed fit for consideration for hepatectomy; CT is more economically cost effective when assessed by a MDT prior to further radiological assessment by both PET-CT and MRI.

Recommendation 2.2.1.3 states that PET-CT is not a first line imaging tool and this is support by the costeffectiveness data presented above.

Pathology

What is the cost-effectiveness of processing lymph nodes or classifying pathological specimens in patients with colorectal cancer?

We were unable to include any studies in this section. Of the six articles found in the literature that were included for full text extraction, there were no high quality cost-effectiveness studies relevant to the key question.

Relevance to the guideline recommendation $N/{\rm A}$

Gastroenterology

What is the cost-effectiveness of gastroenterology services for colorectal cancer?

Of the eight articles found in the literature search that were included for full text extraction only two were high quality. An additional study by Halligan et al. (2015) was found during the search for cost-effectiveness literature for the radiology economics question but is relevant to the gastroenterology recommendations made within this guideline.Law et al. (2016) compared the cost-effectiveness of endoscopic resection (ER) versus Laparoscopic resection (LR) in the management of complex colon polyps. The two strategies ER versus LR were compared in a hybrid markov model with a 10 year time horizon. In the first strategy the patient underwent ER followed by surveillance colonoscopy at three, six and 12 months any failed ER and residual adenoma at 12 months were referred for LR. Under strategy two, patients underwent LR as primary treatment. Performance was obtained for a systematic review of the literature. Medicare and Medicaid services were used to obtain costs and loss of utility. The results showed that LR was more costly and yielded fewer QALYs compared with ER. The cost of ER was \$5,570 per patient with an average QALY of 9.64 while a LR was \$1,8717 and yielded fewer QALYs (9.577). The authors concluded that ER is a cost-effective strategy for removal of complex colon polyps.

The second study to be included, Jayanna et al. (2016) undertook a cost-analysis of endoscopic mucosal resection versus surgery for large laterally spreading colorectal lesions. The authors concluded that EMR for large laterally spreading colorectal lesions is safer than surgery and savings of AU\$8,839 and 2.81 inpatient nights can be achieved with a primary EMR strategy for large laterally spreading colorectal lesions in comparison with hypothetical ideal Survival outcome. Event specific costs were derived from Australian Refined Diagnostic Related Groups (AR-DRG).

The third study conducted by Haligan et al. (2015), "Computed tomographic colonography compared with colonoscopy or barium enema for diagnosis of colorectal cancer in older symptomatic patients: two multicenter randomised trials with economic evaluation (the SIGGAR trials)" is a 134 page long NHS National Institute for Health research health technology assessment. The cost-effectiveness is based on the SIGGAR trials and compares CT colonography with colonoscopy or barium enema in diagnosing symptomatic elderly patients. The objective was to examine the diagnostic efficacy, acceptability, safety and cost-effectiveness of CTC compared with BE or colonoscopy. The authors concluded that CTC detects more cancers and large polyps then BE and misses fewer cancers and improves patient experience but does increase follow-up investigations. They way in which results were delivered, quicker and face to face favoured colonoscopy however CTC improved patient experience in the short term. Compared to barium enema, CTC detected on extra serious colonic neoplasm for approximately £4,000. However detection rates were similar for CTC and colonoscopy and costs were also similar so there was not enough evidence for a solid recommendation.

Relevance to the guideline recommendation

The literature above discussed the cost-effectiveness of interventions in Section 2.2 Diagnosis and staging, Section 2.5 Treatment: Patients with early rectal cancer and Section 2.4 Treatment: Surgical techniques.

2.2.5.1 recommends that complete visualisation of the entire colon by colonoscopy should be performed prior to surgical intervention. 2.2.5.2 adds that in the event the patient is unsuitable for colonoscopy, CT colonography should be performed and these recommendations are supported by evidence from a meta-analysis, a number of randomised controlled trials, two population-based studies and an international guideline. The HTA conducted by Halligan et al. (2015) found that detection rates for cancer and large polyps were similar for CTC and colonoscopy, as were costs but added due to paucity of further evidence, a solid conclusion on cost-effectiveness could not be formed.

Surgery

What is the cost-effectiveness of various surgical techniques in patients with colorectal cancer?

Of the 25 articles identified, ten were relevant high quality economic studies assessing the cost-effectiveness of various surgical procedures in colon and rectal cancer. An additional economics analysis by NICE 2019 was sourced separately to the literature search carried out but was deemed relevant for this question.

The results of an economic analysis carried out by NICE 2019 which looks at the optimal surgical technique by comparing laparoscopic, open, TaTME and robotic approaches for rectal cancer. It has been suggested that the laparoscopic approach may be cost effective for rectal cancer surgery but there is uncertainty regarding the results largely driven by the uncertainty around some of the clinical effectiveness estimates especially around recurrence. A speculative analysis comparing the open, laparoscopic, robotic and TaTME approaches also suggests that the TaTME may be cost-effective.

Conclusion: The lack of clear data as well as the assumptions required to run this four-way comparison severely limit the conclusions that can be drawn from the analysis

The cost-effectiveness of laparoscopy in rectal cancer was assessed by authors Keller at al. (2014) in *"Cost-effectiveness of Laparoscopy in Rectal Cancer"*. This was a case-matched study from the US conducted at a tertiary referral setting. 250 patients were included in the study through a review of a prospective database for elective laparoscopic rectal cancer resection which was matched to open cases. There was no significant difference in TNM stage, tumour distance from the anal verge or neoadjuvant therapy received between the two groups. The two groups were oncologically equivalent and there were no significant difference in postoperative complications, 30-day readmission, re-operation or mortality. However the laparoscopic group had significantly shorter stay and lower total hospital costs and more patients in the open resection group required intensive care. The average total cost for open surgery was USD \$21,803 vs. USD \$17,214 for laparoscopic surgery in this tertiary hospital setting.

Conclusion: Laparoscopy is cost-effective for rectal cancer surgery, improving patient outcomes and lowering costs in a US tertiary hospital setting.

Another study, "Cost-savings for elective laparoscopic resection compared with open resection for colorectal cancer in a region of high uptake" by Thompson et al. (2014) also looked at the cost-effectiveness of laparoscopic surgery versus open resection. This study used hospital data from public hospitals in Queensland, Australia between 2009-2011. The results showed that the crude mean cost for laparoscopic resection was AUS \$20,036 and for open resection was. AUS \$22,780. The two procedures had the same length of surgery in this study but patients in the laparoscopic surgery group had shorter length of stay and fewer admissions to the ICU.

Conclusions: Laparoscopic resection for CRC was shown to be cost-saving when the technique is widely adopted and the surgeons are experienced in the technique.

Norwood et al. (2011) assessed the nursing and financial implications of laparoscopic colorectal-surgery in a paper titled *"The nursing and financial implications of laparoscopic colorectal surgery: data from a randomised controlled trial"*. They looked at the cost of the nursing staff as according to the authors this topic was unaddressed. They included patients from the Australasian Laparoscopic Colon Cancer Study from one hospital in Australia. Of the 44 patients in the open surgery group an average of 80 hours nursing was needed and in the 53 patients in the laparoscopic arm 58.5 hours of nursing had been utilised. The cost of open surgery was AUS \$9,698 and laparoscopic surgery AUS \$10,951.

Conclusions: Laparoscopic surgery reduces nursing intensity versus open resection.

In a study from the US, "Cost-effectiveness of Lparoscopic vs Open Resection for Colon and Rectal Cancer", Jensen et al (2012) constructed a decision model with data from previously published studies. The results showed that Laparoscopic surgery yielded average savings of USD \$4,283 per patient. There was no difference in QALYs (0.001 more QALY than open surgery). The only issue that would not make laparoscopic surgery more cost-effective was the postoperative hernia rates which needed to be equivalent or less than that of open surgery rates to ensure cost-effectiveness of Laparoscopic resection. The study from 2012 concluded that more surgeons, nurses and operating room staff needed to be trained in this procedure.

Conclusions: Laparoscopic resection is cost-effective versus open resection under almost all conditions.

Jordan et al (2014) assessed quality of life in the first six weeks after surgery to assess cost-effectiveness of Laparoscopic surgery versus open surgery in *"Laparoscopic versus Open colorectal resection for cancer polyps: a cost-effectiveness study"* as all other comparators of the two procedures according to the authors suggested the methods were equivalent. Using the EQ-5D quality of life measurement the laparoscopic group gained an average of 0.011207 QALYs. Incremental cost-effectiveness ratios showed the cost per QALY gained in the Laparoscopic surgery group was GBP £12,375 compared to the open surgery group.

Conclusion: Cost-Effective Acceptability Curves showed that at a willingness to pay threshold of GBP £30,000 there was a >65% chance that laparoscopic surgery would be cost-effective in the NHS.

In a study, "Clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of laparoscopic surgery for colorectal cancer: systematic reviews and economic evaluation" Murray et al. (2006) pooled 20 different studies on laparoscopic surgery and pooled them into a Markov model. The results did not find Laparoscopic surgery to be more cost-effective as the outcomes were similar, except for a quicker recovery time with Laparoscopic surgery but the laparoscopic method was more costly and surgery times were also longer with laparoscopy. They concluded that Laparoscopy yielded an extra cost of GBP £250-300 per patient. The authors suggested that long-term follow-up of the RCT patients would make the results more robust.

Conclusions: Additional data on both costs and outcomes was deemed useful for further research, ideally from methodologically sound RCT's. However Laparoscopic surgery seemed more costly than open surgery this would vary depending on patient selection and surgery technique. This paper used data from 2000-2005.

Another study from the UK by Hernandez et al. (2008) "Systematic review of economic evaluations of laparoscopic surgery for colorectal cancer" undertook a systematic review of economic evaluations of laparoscopic surgery using published papers form 2000-2005. Five studies were included and the results were inconsistent. The authors concluded that laparoscopic surgery was generally more expensive but the effectiveness data was not consistent and unreliable.

Conclusions: Studies from 2000-2005 on the clinical and economic aspects of laparoscopic surgery were imprecise and unreliable.

Using the NHS perspective Roberts et al. (2015) paper "Cost-Utility of operative versus non-operative treatment for colorectal liver metastasis" wanted to find out if surgery was more cost-effective than non-surgical interventions (palliative care, including chemotherapy) for treating colorectal liver metastasis (CRLM) (Roberts et al., 2015). Results were conclusive and surgery had a mean survival of 41 months versus 21 months in the non surgical group. In addition, surgery was less costly ξ 22,200 compared to ξ 32,800 and yielded 4.017 QALYS versus 1.111 QALY.

Conclusion: Surgery to treat CRLM cost-effective as it is less costly and more effective than non-surgical intervention.

The cost-effectiveness of robotic surgery for rectal cancer focusing on short term outcomes was analysed by Kim et al. (2015). Two patient groups were retrospectively compared to ascertain the cost-effectiveness of robotic surgery versus laparoscopic surgery in patients with rectal cancer. Propensity matched scoring was used to reduce bias between the robotic surgery group and the laparoscopic surgery group. Costs and short term outcomes were compared. The short-term outcomes were similar between the groups, and 30-day post-surgery complications were not significantly different. In patients with robotic surgery with complications the postoperative course seemed to be milder. However the costs were \$3,137 higher on average in the robotic surgery group.

Conclusions: Short term outcomes were similar in the two patient groups receiving either robotic surgery or laparoscopic surgery but costs were higher in the robotic surgery group, cost-effectiveness of robotic surgery was not demonstrated. It is not known how the South Korean costs would compare in the Irish healthcare setting.

Van den Broeck et al. (2009) in "Transanal endoscopic microsurgery (TEM) versus endoscopic mucosal resection (EMR) for large rectal adenomas" studied TEM versus EMR for large rectal adenomas the randomise controlled TREND trial. The costs and effects from a Dutch healthcare perspective were collected alongside the trial. The trial was not able to demonstrate statistical non-inferiority of EMR. There was no difference in quality of life. Nevertheless EMR could be considered a primary method because of a tendency of lower complication rates and a better cost-effectiveness ratio.

Conclusions: EMR saved approximately €3,000 per patient without any difference in QALYs and is thus the preferable treatment in terms of cost-effectiveness.

Relevance to the guideline recommendation

The literature above discussed the cost-effectiveness of surgical interventions and techniques which are addressed within this guideline for recommendations 2.7.1.1. and 2.7.2.1.

The cost-effectiveness literature suggests that TaTME may be cost effective but they cannot state this with absolute certainty due some of the estimates around disease recurrence. This is relevant to Recommendation 2.7.1.1 where high quality TME is recommended for patients with rectal cancer.

The cost-effectiveness literature detailed above concludes that laparoscopic approach is generally more cost effective than open procedures however the technique needs to be widely adopted with surgeons expertly trained. Recommendation 2.7.2.1 relates to post operative continence and sexual function but states there is no clear evidence in post operative genitourinary function between minimally invasive surgery and open TME. Evidence from a Cochrane review and a meta-analysis (Broholm et al., 2015) was used to support this recommendation regarding these important quality of life issues.

Radiation Oncology

What is the cost-effectiveness of radiotherapy in patients with colorectal cancer?

Of the eight articles found in the literature search that were included for full text extraction only two were high quality cost-effectiveness studies relevant to our interventions of interest: Short-course radiotherapy, long-course radiotherapy, boost, Intensity modulator radiotherapy, 3D conformal radiotherapy, 2D conformal radiotherapy, postoperative radiotherapy (+/- chemotherapy).

The first study of the two papers to be included, conducted by van der Brink et al. (2004) *Cost Utility Analysis of preoperative radiotherapy in patients with rectal cancer undergoing total mesorectal excision: A study of Dutch colorectal cancer group*", compared the societal costs and the quality adjusted life expectancy of patients undergoing mesorectal excision with or without short-term radiotherapy (5 x 5 Gy). A Markov model was constructed to predict the clinical and economical outcomes of preoperative radiotherapy with data from a randomised clinical trial. The results from the model estimated that the loss of quality of life was outweighed by the gain in life-expectancy, 0.39 years, and costs, \$9,800. The cost-effectiveness ratio was \$25,100/QALY.

Conclusions: Preoperative radiotherapy in patients with rectal cancer undergoing total mesorectal excision is cost effective. \$25,000/QALY is below the Irish threshold of €40,000/QALY. The paper was of high quality and the Dutch healthcare setting is comparable to the Irish, however the paper is from 2003 and costs are presented in USD.

The second paper to be included was a study from Dahlberg et al. (2002),"*Cost-effectiveness of preoperative radiotherapy in rectal cancer: results from the Swedish rectal cancer trial.*" In the study 98 randomised patients from the Swedish rectal cancer trial were followed for eight years and costs related to the treatment of rectal cancer and any associated complications were analysed. The irradiated group had 30% higher costs compared to the surgery alone group. However the higher recurrence rates for the surgery

alone group contributed to an over-all increase in costs of 70 per cent. An average increase in costs of \$5,000 per patient with an increase in mean survival generated a QALY of \$3,650.

The paper's Swedish setting is comparable to an Irish setting. The study was of high quality based on a RCT that finished in 1997. Only caveat is that the paper is from 2003 and costs are presented in USD. Conclusions: Preoperative radiotherapy in rectal cancer is cost effective as \$3,650 per QALY is below the Irish threshold of €40,000/QALY.

Relevance to the guideline recommendation

The literature above discussed the cost-effectiveness of radiotherapy alone or with concurrent chemotherapy which is addressed within guidelines recommendation 2.8.1.1.

Recommendation 2.8.1.1 states that in patients with rectal cancer who have had a resection with a positive margin and have not received preoperative therapy than postoperative chemoradiotherapy is an acceptable salvage approach in. Neoadjuvant therapy is deemed cost effective by the literature presented above with Brink et al. (2004) estimating that the loss of quality of life was outweighed by the gain in life-expectancy.

Cost-effectiveness studies: Evidence tables

Radiology								
Authors (year), country	Intervention and comparator(s)	Population	Analysis details	Costs	Clinical outcomes	Methods for dealing with uncertainty	Results (ICERs)	
Brush et al. (2011) The value of FDG positron emission tomography/computed tomography (PET/CT) in pre-operative staging of colorectal cancer: a systematic review and economic evaluation (United Kingdom)	FDG Positron emission tomography- computed tomography (FDG PET-CT).	HTA Systematic review of 5 studies. Unknown patient population.	Model type: Probabilistic decision- analytic model Perspective: UK NHS Time horizon: Not provided Discount rate: 3.5%	The economic evaluations demonstrated a cost- effectiveness ratio of £21,409/QALY for recurrent rectal cancer, £6,189/QALY for recurrent colon cancer and £21,434 for metastatic disease.	PET-CT as an add-on imaging device is cost- effective in the pre-operative staging of recurrent rectal and metastatic disease but not in primary colon or rectal cancer.	A lower confidence interval was used to calculate the standard error for use in the probabilistic analysis as it represented the widest range of uncertainty.	The recurrent models found FDG PET-CT as an add- on device to have an incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER) of £21,409 per QALY in the rectal model and £6,189 per QALY in the colon model. The metastatic model produced an ICER of £21,434 per QALY. Considering the NICE monetary threshold of £20,000-£30,000 per QALY, these ICERs can be considered cost- effective.	
Halligan et al. (2015) Computed tomographic colonography compared	CT colonography and colonoscopy vs. CT colonography and	5,384 patients from 21 NHS	Model type: Markov model Perspective:	CT colonography detected on	CT colonography detects more	Costs were analysed in relation to	Detection rates in BE trial were 7.3% for CTC compared	
with colonoscopy of	parium enema.	nospitais	INHS Secondary	extra serious	cancers and	the benefits	10 5.6% IOF BE. CI	

Authors (year), country	Intervention and comparator(s)	Population	Analysis details	Costs	Clinical	Methods for dealing with	Results (ICERs)
	comparator(s)		ucturio		outcomes	uncertainty	
barium enema for			care	colonic	large polyps	of detecting	colonography was
diagnosis of colorectal			Time horizon:	neoplasm for	then barium	extracolonic	better at detecting
cancer in older			5.2 years	approximately	enema and	lesions	large polyps with
symptomatic patients:			Discount rate:	£4,000.	misses fewer	separately	no significant
two multicenter			Not provided		cancers and	from colonic	differences for
randomised trials with					improves	lesions.	cancer. CT
economic evaluation					patient	Bootstrappi	colonography was
(The SIGGAR Trials)					experience but	ng was used	associated with
(United Kingdom)					does increase	to estimate	higher healthcare
					follow-up	costs and	costs. The cost per
					investigations.	cost	large polyp or
						differences.	cancer detected as
						ICERS and	£4,235. ICERS
						their CI and	amongst the
						a scatter	studies varied from
						plot were	USD\$2,144-
						produced	USD\$498,668 with
						based on	a tendency for
						1000	more recent
						replicates.	studies to yield
							more favourable
							results.
Huppertz et al. (2010)	Algorithm A:	33 people	Model type:	This study was	The MRI option	Activity	Costs could be
Whole-body MRI	included rectoscopy,	with rectal	Cost	a cost-	was deemed	based	substantially
imaging versus	endoscopic and	cancer.	minimisation	minimisation	preferable to	costing was	reduced by
sequential multimodal	abdominal		Perspective:	study as the	patients due to	used as the	replacing the
diagnostic algorithm for	ultrasound, chest x-		Not provided	evidence for	faster	tramework	current sequential
staging patients with	ray,		Time horizon:	the superiority	definitive	for cost	multimodal
rectal Cancer: Cost	thoracic/abdominal		Not provided	of the MRI	diagnostic and	analysis.	diagnostic
Analysis	CT in the case of		Discount rate:	scanner was	to hospitals as		algorithm with a

Authors (year), country	Intervention and comparator(s)	Population	Analysis details	Costs	Clinical outcomes	Methods for dealing with uncertainty	Results (ICERs)
(Germany) Yip et al. (2014) Optimal imaging sequence for staging colorectal liver metastasis: Analysis of	positive findings in abdominal ultrasound or x-rays. Algorithm B: which consisted of rectoscopy followed by whole body MRI scanner. CT, PET-CT and MRI and the use of appropriate imaging sequencing models.	644 patients with colorectal cancer	Not provided Not provided Model type: Not provided Perspective: Not provided Time horizon:	not in the scope of the paper. Upfront imaging pathway £2,700 compared to	the method involved less planning, personnel, steps and procedures and was thus easier to control. The most-cost effective option would be a specialist MDT assessing	Not provided	novel algorithm based on whole body MRI for the preoperative staging of rectal cancer. Based on cost analysis, assessment with initial CT followed by MDT with
three hypothetical imaging strategies (United Kingdom)			Not provided Discount rate: Not provided	£2,440.73 for a sequential pathway and £2,381 for the hybrid pathway.	the initial CT of all patients with liver limited metastatic colorectal cancer, who are deemed fit for consideration for hepatectomy, prior to further radiological assessment by both PET-CT		subsequent PET-CT and MRI imaging thereafter, was associated with shortest time to decision making and lowest cost.

Authors (year), country	Intervention and comparator(s)	Population	Analysis details	Costs	Clinical outcomes	Methods for dealing with	Results (ICERs)
						uncertainty	
					and MRI.		
Zech et al. (2009)	PV-MRI, ECCM-MRI	26 pairs of	Model type:	A strategy	According to	Results	PV-MRI with the
Health economic	and three-phase-	clinicians	Decision tree	starting with	the estimates,	were	lowest rate of
evaluation of three	MDCT.	(One liver	model	PV-MRI was	the proportion	presented	further imaging
imaging strategies in		surgeon and	Perspective:	€959 and was	of high risk	to a third	needed can lead to
patients with suspected		one	Health care	cost-saving	resectable,	party where	cost-savings.
colorectal liver		radiologist)	Payer	compared to	unresectable	any areas in	
metastasis: Gd-EOB-		from	Time horizon:	ECCM-MRI	and non	the	
DTPA-enhanced MRI vs.		Germany,	Not provided	(€1,123) and	malignant	uncertainty	
extra cellular contrast-		Italy and	Discount rate:	MDCT (€1,044)	categories	of the	
media enhanced MRI		Sweden.	Not provided	in Sweden. In	were higher in	results were	
and 3-phase MDCT in				Italy PV-MRI	the PV-IVIRI in	discussed	
Germany, Italy and			_	was cost-	comparison to	and	
Sweden				saving		resolved.	
(Germany, italy &				Compared to	MDCT. IN		
Sweden)				ECCIVI-IVIRI anu	patients		
				similar to			
					henatic		
				WIDCT.	resections and		
					scheduled for		
					low risk		
					resections, the		
					proportion of		
					"confirmed		
					surgical plans"		
					were		
					estimated to		
					be higher and		

Authors (year), country	Intervention and comparator(s)	Population	Analysis details	Costs	Clinical outcomes	Methods for dealing with	Results (ICERs)
					the proportion of "modified surgical plans" lower following initial imaging with PV-MRI compared with ECCM-MRI and MDCT.	uncertainty	

Pathology

Authors (year),	Intervention and	Population	Analysis details	Costs	Clinical	Methods for	Results (ICERs)
country	comparator(s)				outcomes	dealing with	
						uncertainty	
N/A							

Gastroenterology										
Authors (year), country	Intervention and comparator(s)	Population	Analysis details	Costs	Clinical outcomes	Methods for dealing with uncertainty	Results (ICERs)			
Law et al. (2016) Endoscopic resection is cost-effective compared with laparoscopic resection in the management of complex Colon polyps: an economic analysis (United States)	Endoscopic resection (ER) vs laparoscopic resection (LR).	ER vs LR were evaluated in a hypothetical cohort of patients with complex colon polyps (CCPs). Reference case: a healthy 50- year-old patient who underwent an initial colonoscopy with identification of a complex, sessile colon polyp without features of deep submucosal invasion (>1000 mm).	Model type: Hybrid Markov model Perspective: Third-party payer Time horizon: 10 year Discount rate: None provided	The cost of ER of a CCP was \$5,570. The cost of LR of a CCP was \$18,717 per patient.	The probability of an adverse event with ER was 9.1%; however, the probability that an adverse event would require surgical intervention was 1.0%. After the index resection and routine surveillance colonoscopies at 3 to 6 months and 12 months, the probability of persistent adenomatous tissue was 7.2%.	Baseline estimates and costs were varied by using a sensitivity analysis through the ranges.	The cost of ER of a CCP was \$5,570 per patient and yielded 9.640 QALYs. LR of a CCP cost \$18,717 per patient and yielded fewer QALYs (9.577).			
Jayanna et al.	Endoscopic	Endoscopic	Model type:	EMR for large LSL is	EMR performed	Data was	Endoscopic			
(2016)	mucosal resection	mucosal	Surgical	sater than surgery	at an	compared from	management			
Cost-analysis of	versus surgery for	resection	Management	and savings of	appropriately	patients who	produced a			
endoscopic	large laterally	performed on	model	AU\$8839 and 2.81	experienced	underwent EMR	total cost-			
mucosal	spreading	1489 colorectal	Perspective:	inpatient nights.	and resourced	with those from	saving of US			

Authors (year), country	Intervention and comparator(s)	Population	Analysis details	Costs	Clinical outcomes	Methods for dealing with uncertainty	Results (ICERs)
resection vs surgery for large laterally spreading colorectal lesion (Australia)	colorectal lesions.	lesions in 1253 patients.	Not provided Time horizon: Not provided Discount rate: Not provided		tertiary centre should be first line treatment for patients with large laterally spreading colorectal lesion.	a model where all patients had surgery without complication. Event specific costs based on Australian refined diagnosis related group codes were used to estimate average costs per patient.	\$10,284,909; the mean cost difference per patient was US \$7602. In patient hospitalisation length of stay was reduced by 2.81 nights. This approach is likely to deliver substantial overall health expenditure savings.

Surgery							
Authors (year),	Intervention and	Population	Analysis details	Costs	Clinical	Methods for	Results (ICERs)
country	comparator(s)				outcomes	dealing with	
						uncertainty	
Roberts et al.	Resection for	Observational	Model type:	Non-operative	Median survival	Probabilistic	The operative
(2015)	colorectal liver	study of two	Markov model	treatment mean	was 41 and 21	sensitivity	strategy
Cost-Utility of	metastasis (CRLMs)	patient cohorts.	Perspective:	cost: €32,800	months in the	analysis was	dominated
operative	compared with	Operative cohort	Healthcare		operative and	carried out to	non-operative
versus non-	non-operative	comprised	provider	Operative strategy	non-operative	examine the	treatments,
operative	treatment	consecutive	perspective	mean cost: €22,200	cohorts	impact of	being less
treatment for	(palliative care	patients	(UK NHS)		respectively	uncertainties in	costly (€22,200
colorectal liver	including	undergoing	Time horizon:		(p< 0.001).	the model	<i>vs.</i> €32,800)
metastasis	chemotherapy).	CRLM resection	Lifetime time			parameters on	and more
(United		between 1992	horizon			the robustness	effective
Kingdom)		and 2001	Discount rate:			of the model	(4.017 vs.
		(n=286). The	3.5%			results. One-	1.111 QALYs
		non-operative				way sensitivity	gained). The
		cohort was				analysis was	results of
		identified from a				carried out to	extensive
		review				provide further	sensitivity
		of patients who				insight into the	analysis
		presented to a				impact of	showed that
		dedicated liver				specific	the operative
		surgery				parameters on	strategy
		multidisciplinary				the model	dominated
		team between				results.	non-operative
		2008 and 2010					treatment in
		(n=46).					every scenario.
Kim et al.	Robotic surgery	From January	Model type:	RS:	Most	To reduce the	Total hospital
(2015)	(RS) compared with	2007- December	Cost-	Total hospital	perioperative	selection bias,	charges and
Cost	laparoscopic	2011, 311	effectiveness	charges: \$15,965.10	outcomes were	propensity	patients' bill
effectiveness of	surgery (LS).	patients	analysis	Operation:	similar between	score matching	were higher in
robotic surgery		underwent	Perspective:	\$1,0375.40	the groups	with a 1:1 ratio	RS than in LS.

Authors (year),	Intervention and	Population	Analysis details	Costs	Clinical	Methods for	Results (ICERs)
country	comparator(s)				outcomes	dealing with	
for rectal		totally RS and	Not provided	Anaesthesia:	except for the	was performed	The total
cancer focusina		560 patients	Time horizon:	\$1.028.50	OT. The OT was	according to a	hospital
on short term		conventional LS	30 days	Preoperative	longer in RS	number of	charges for
outcomes		for rectal cancer	Discount rate:	diagnosis: \$1,175.70	than in LS. and	variables such	patients who
(Korea)		in a single large-	Not provided	Postoperative	the time to soft	as sex. age.	recovered with
(/		volume		management:	diet was earlier	vear of	or without
		institution in		\$3,317.00	in RS than in LS.	, operation,	complications
		Korea. As a		Other: \$56.40	Complications	smoking status,	were higher in
		result of the			and readmission	BMI etc.	RS than in LS,
		propensity		LS:	rates within 30	Continuous	although their
		score-matching,		Total hospital	days of surgery	variables were	short-term
		both groups		charges:\$11,933.00	were not	compared	outcomes were
		included 251		Operation:	different	using Student t	similar. In
		patients.		\$6,796.30	between the 2	tests or Mann-	patients with
				Anaesthesia:	groups.	Whitney U	complications,
				\$875.30		tests and	the
				Preoperative		categorical	postoperative
				diagnosis: \$1,184.80		variables were	course after RS
				Postoperative		compared	appeared to be
				management:		using X2 or	milder than
				\$3,010.20		fisher exact	that of LS.
				Other: \$66.50.		tests.	Total hospital
							charges for
							patients who
							were
							readmitted due
							to
							complications
							were similar
							between the

Authors (year), country	Intervention and comparator(s)	Population	Analysis details	Costs	Clinical outcomes	Methods for dealing with	Results (ICERs)
						uncertainty	
							groups.
Keller at al	Elective	Case matched	Model type:	The average total	The two groups	Data analysis	Laparoscopy is
(2014)	laparoscopic rectal	study from the	Cost-	cost for open	were	was completed	cost-effective
Cost-	cancer resection	United States.	effectiveness	surgery was USD	oncologically	by using	for rectal
effectiveness of	versus open	n=254 patients	analysis	\$21,803 versus	equivalent and	Student t test,	cancer surgery
Laparoscopy in	resection	undergoing	Perspective:	USD\$17,214 for	there were no	the X2 test or	improving
Rectal Cancer		elective rectal	Not provided	laparoscopic surgery	significant	fisher exact	patient
(United States)		cancer resection	Time horizon:	in this tertiary	difference in	tests.	outcomes and
		(n=125	Not provided	hospital setting.	postoperative		lowering costs.
		laparoscopic	Discount rate:		complications,		The average
		rectal cancer	Not provided		30-day		total cost for
		resections,			readmission, re-		open surgery
		n=129 open			operation or		was USD
		cases).			mortality.		\$21,803 versus
					However the		USD \$17,214
					laparoscopic		for
					group had		laparoscopic
					significantly		surgery.
					shorter stay and		
					lower total		
					hospital costs		
					and more		
					patients in the		
					open resection		
					group required		
					intensive care.		
Thompson et al	Laparoscopic	1,391 patients	Model type:	The results showed	The two		Laparoscopic
(2014)	surgery versus	who received an	Regression	that the crude mean	procedures had		surgery cost
Cost-savings for	open resection.	elective	Model	cost for laparoscopic	the same length		lower than
elective		resection for	Perspective:	resection was AUS	of surgery in this		open

Authors (year),	Intervention and	Population	Analysis details	Costs	Clinical	Methods for dealing with	Results (ICERs)
country	comparator (3)				outcomes	uncertainty	
laparoscopic		colorectal	Not provided	\$20,036 and for	study but		procedures but
resection		cancer.	Time horizon:	open resection was.	patients in the		this could be
compared with			Not provided	AUS \$22,780.	laparoscopic		due to a
open resection			Discount rate:		surgery group		number of
for colorectal			Not provided		had shorter		confounder
cancer in a					length of stay		factors
region of high					and fewer		
uptake					admissions to		
(Australia)					the ICU.		
					Laparoscopic		
					resection for		
					CRC was shown		
					to be cost-saving		
			-		when the		
					technique is		
					widely adopted		
					and the		
					surgeons are		
					experienced in		
					the technique.		
Norwood et al.	Laparoscopy versus	Participants from	Model type:	The total cost of the	There was no	Subgroup	The median
(2011)	open surgery.	the Australasian	Cost-	procedure from	statistical	analysis was	number of
The nursing and		Laparoscopic	effectiveness	admission to	difference in the	performed	nursing hours
financial		Colon Cancer	analysis	discharge was AUS\$	median	according to	required per
implications of		Study (ALCCaS)	Perspective:	9,916⁄£5,631	LOS between	anatomical	patient was 80
laparoscopic		Data from 97	Healthcare	(AUS\$ 4,694–90,397)	the two groups.	resection which	in the open
colorectal		patients were	Time horizon:	in the open surgery	The median	showed no	group and 58.5
surgery: data		analysed	Not provided	group and AUS	number of	significant	in the
from a		(laparoscopy,	Discount rate:	\$10,951/£,6219	nursing hours	differences in	laparoscopic
randomised		53; open	Not provided	(AUS\$ 6,505–66,236)	per patient for	LOS, nursing	group which

Authors (year), country	Intervention and comparator(s)	Population	Analysis details	Costs	Clinical outcomes	Methods for dealing with	Results (ICERs)
						uncertainty	
controlled trial		surgery, 44).		in the laparoscopy	their total	time in minutes	represents a
(Australia)				group.	hospital stay	or cost.	time saving of
					was 80 (27.5–		10 minutes per
					907) h in the		patient.
					open surgery		Nursing costs
					group and 58.5		were less for
					(15–684.5) h in		laparoscopic
					the laparoscopy		procedures.
					group (a saving		
					of		
					approximately		
					10 min per		
					patient per		
			-		hour).		
Jensen et al.	Laparoscopy versus	Data from	Model type:	The results showed	Laparoscopic	Sensitivity	Laparoscopic
(2012)	open surgery.	previously	Decision	that laparoscopic	resection is cost-	analyses were	resection
Cost-		published	analysis model	surgery yielded	effective versus	performed on	resulted in a
effectiveness of		studies	Perspective:	average savings of	open resection	all variables	cost-savings of
Laparoscopic vs		(randomised	Societal	USD \$4,283 per	under almost all	input into the	\$4,238 and no
Open Resection		controlled trails	Time horizon: 5	patient. There was	conditions.	model. A	difference in
for Colon and		where possible).	years	no difference in	The only issue	sensitivity	QALYS (0.001
Rectal Cancer		Included sources	Discount rate:	QALYs (0.001 more	that would not	model was also	more QALYS
(United States)		of cost and QOL	3%	QALY than open	make	performed in	than open
		data related to		surgery).	laparoscopic	which patients	resection).
		laparoscopic and			surgery more	whose	Post-operative
		open resection			cost-effective	surgeries were	hernia rates
		of colon and			was the post-	converted from	needed to be
		rectal cancer.			operative hernia	laparoscopic to	equivalent or
					rates which	open had	less than that
					needed to be	higher costs	of open
Authors (year),	Intervention and	Population	Analysis details	Costs	Clinical	Methods for	Results (ICERs)
------------------	-------------------	-------------------	------------------	----------------------	-------------------	----------------	-----------------
country	comparator(s)				outcomes	dealing with	
						uncertainty	
					equivalent or	related to the	surgery rates
					less than that of	use of both	to ensure cost-
					open surgery	laparoscopic	effectiveness
					rates to ensure	and open	of laparoscopic
					cost-	equipment and	resection.
					effectiveness of	additional	
					laparoscopic	operating room	
					resection.	time.	
Jordan et al.	Laparoscopic	95 patients with	Model type:	Using the EQ-5D	The cost of the	Uncertainty in	At 28 days the
(2014)	versus open	either cancer or	Multivariate	quality of life	laparoscopic	the ICER point	ICER calculated
Laparoscopic	colorectal	polyps requiring	regression	measurement the	procedure was	estimates are	as the
versus Open	resection for	either	model	laparoscopic group	£1,037 higher	represented	difference in
colorectal	cancer or polyps.	laparoscopic	Perspective:	gained an average of	than open due	using	adjusted
resection for		(n=68) or open	National Health	0.011207 QALYs.	to cost of	confidence	means cost
cancer polyps: a		colorectal	Service	Incremental cost-	equipment. Staff	intervals, on	divided by the
cost-		resection (n=27).	Time horizon:	effectiveness ratios	cost were £190	the cost-	difference in
effectiveness			Not provided	showed the cost per	lower due to	effectiveness	adjusted mean
study			Discount rate:	QALY gained in the	shorter	plan (CEP).	QALYs, and
(United			Not provided	laparoscopic surgery	operative times.		showing the
Kingdom)				group was	The open group		cost per QALY
				GBP £12,375	had a longer		gained from
				compared to the	mean length of		laparoscopic
				open surgery group.	stay which		compared to
					incurred a £897		open surgery,
				Cost-effective	higher bed day		was £12,375.
				acceptability curves	cost compared		Given the
				showed that at a	with a		mean
				willingness to pay	laparoscopic		difference with
				threshold of	procedure.		QALYs
				GBP £30,000 there	There was no		(0.011207) and

Authors (year),	Intervention and	Population	Analysis details	Costs	Clinical	Methods for	Results (ICERs)
country	comparator(s)				outcomes	dealing with uncertainty	
				was a >65% chance	significant		costs (£139)
				that laparoscopic	difference in		observed,
				surgery would be	total cost		laparoscopic
				cost-effective in the	between		procedure
				NHS.	procedures		times could be
					because higher		increased by
					cost for		55 minutes
					laparoscopic		(£197) and still
					surgery was		achieve an
					offset by shorter		ICER \leq £30,000.
					length of stay.		
Murray et al.	Laparoscopically	Systematic	Model type:	Laparoscopy	The results did	Beta	Incremental
(2006)	assisted and hand-	review involving	Markov model	yielded an	not find	distribution and	cost per life-
Clinical	assisted	4,568 patients.	Perspective:	extra cost of	laparoscopic	triangular	year,
effectiveness	laparoscopic	(laparoscopic	Healthcare	GBP £250-300 per	surgery to be	distribution	laparoscopic
and cost-	surgery (HALS) in	n=2,429 and	Time horizon:	patient.	more cost-	was used to	surgery
effectiveness of	comparison with	open surgery	25 years		effective as the	help evaluate	appeared more
laparoscopic	open surgery for	n=2,139).	Discount rate:		outcomes were	uncertainty	costly and no
surgery for	the treatment of		Not provided		similar, except	around the cost	more effective
colorectal	colorectal cancer.				for a quicker	estimates.	than open
cancer:					recovery time	CECGs have	surgery. With
systematic					with	also been used	respect to
reviews and					laparoscopic	to illustrate	incremental
economic					surgery but the	uncertainty and	cost per QALY,
evaluation					laparoscopic	these curves	few data were
(United					method was	help show if a	available to
Kingdom)					more costly and	strategy or	differentiate
					surgery times	intervention is	between
					were also longer	cost-effective.	laparoscopic
					with		and open

Authors (year),	Intervention and	Population	Analysis details	Costs	Clinical	Methods for	Results (ICERs)
country	comparator(s)				outcomes	uncertainty	
					laparoscopy.		surgery. The
							results of the
							base-case
							analysis
							indicate that
							there is an
							approximately
							40% chance
							that
							laparoscopic
							surgery is the
							more cost-
							effective
			-				intervention at
							a threshold
							willingness to
							pay for a QALY
							of £30,000.
Hernandez et al	Laparoscopic	Systematic	Model type:	Most studies	Laparoscopic	NHS-EED	The evidence
(2008)	surgery versus	review (five	Different	reported longer	surgery was	guidelines for	on cost-
Systematic	open surgery for	studies were	models used per	operational times	generally more	reviewers were	effectiveness
review of	the treatment of	included and the	study	and shorter length	expensive but	used to assess	was not
economic	colorectal cancer.	results were	Perspective:	of stay with	the	uncertainty	consistent.
evaluations of		inconsistent)with	Societal and	laparoscopic surgery	effectiveness	across included	Laparoscopic
laparoscopic		1,421	hospital	but had similar long-	data was	studies. Data	resection was
surgery for		participants in	Time horizon:	term outcomes	inconsistent.	from all	generally more
colorectal		total.	Not provided	compared with open		included	costly than
cancer			Discount rate:	procedures.		studies were	open
(United			Not provided			summarised	procedures.
Kingdom)						and appraised	ICERs were

Authors (year),	Intervention and	Population	Analysis details	Costs	Clinical	Methods for	Results (ICERs)
country	comparator(s)				outcomes	dealing with	
						uncertainty	
						in order to	calculated for a
						identify	number of
						common	outcomes
						results,	
						variations and	
						weaknesses.	
						Where ICERs	
						were not	
						included but	
						sufficient data	
						was available,	
						ICERS were	
						estimated.	
Van den Broek	Transanal	178 patients	Model type:	Direct medical costs,	NA	Sensitivity	NA
(2009)	endoscopic	with large rectal	Randomised	out of-		analysis is	
Transanal	microsurgery	adenomas	control trial	pocket expenses,		planned –	
endoscopic	versus endoscopic		protocol	and the indirect		sampling	
microsurgery	mucosal		Perspective:	non-medical costs of		variability, unit	
versus	resection.		Dutch	production loss.		cost of surgery	
endoscopic			healthcare			and endoscopic	
mucosal			Time horizon:			treatment,	
resection for			24 months			discount rates,	
large rectal			Discount rate:			rectal adenoma	
adenomas			Included in			diameter and	
(TREND-study)			sensitivity			distances	
(Netherlands)			analysis			of the adenoma	
						from the anal	
						verge.	

Radiation Oncold	ogy						
Authors (year), country	Intervention and comparator(s)	Population	Analysis details	Costs	Clinical outcomes	Methods for dealing with uncertainty	Results (ICERs)
Van Der Brink et al. (2004) Cost Utility Analysis of preoperative radiotherapy in patients with rectal cancer undergoing total mesorectal excision: A study of Dutch colorectal cancer group (Netherlands)	Compared the societal costs and the quality adjusted life expectancy of patients undergoing mesorectal excision with or without short-term radiotherapy.	1,861 patients with rectal cancer undergoing total mesorectal excision.	Model type: A Markov model Perspective: Societal Time horizon: Not provided Discount rate: 3%	The results from the model estimated that the loss of quality of life was outweighed by the gain in life- expectancy, 0.39 years, and costs, \$9,800. The cost- effectiveness ratio was \$25,100/QALY	Preoperative radiotherapy in patients with rectal cancer undergoing total mesorectal excision is cost effective. \$25,000/QALY is below the Irish threshold of €40,000/QALY.	Uncertainty was dealt with by performing subgroup analysis.	The results from the model estimated that the loss of quality of life was outweighed by the gain in life- expectancy, 0.39 years, and costs, \$9,800. The cost- effectiveness ratio was \$25,100/QALY
Dahlberg et al. (2002) Cost- effectiveness of preoperative radiotherapy in rectal cancer: results from the Swedish rectal cancer trial. (Sweden)	Radiotherapy versus surgery alone.	98 randomised patients from the Swedish rectal cancer trial.	Model type: A Markov model Perspective: Societal Time horizon: Not provided Discount rate: 3%	The irradiated group had 30% higher costs compared to the surgery alone group. However the higher recurrence rates for the surgery alone group contributed to an over-all increase in costs of 70 per cent. An average increase	There was an increased rate of recurrence in the surgery alone group and a survival benefit of 21 months with the addition of radiotherapy.	Sensitivity analysis were performed with variations of survival rates, local recurrence rates and different incidences for early and late adverse effects.	Preoperative radiotherapy in rectal cancer is cost effective as \$3,650 per QALY is below the Irish threshold of €40,000/QALY.

Authors (year), country	Intervention and comparator(s)	Population	Analysis details	Costs	Clinical outcomes	Methods for dealing with	Results (ICERs)
						uncertainty	
				in costs of \$5,000			
				per patient with an			
				increase in mean			
				survival generated a			
				QALY of \$3,650.			

Part B Budget Impact Analysis

For recommendations which affect resource requirements, the budget impact was calculated where data on cost was available. Additional resources where required will be sought through the HSE service planning process.

The burden of cancer is growing, and the disease is becoming a major economic expenditure for all developed countries. In 2008, the worldwide cost of cancer due to premature death and disability (not including direct medical costs) was estimated to be US\$895 billion. This is not simply due to an increase in absolute numbers, but also the rate of increase of expenditure on cancer. Several drivers of cost, such as over-use, rapid expansion, and shortening life cycles of cancer technologies (such as medicines and imaging modalities), and the lack of suitable clinical research and integrated health economic studies, have converged with more defensive medical practice, a less informed regulatory system and a lack of evidence-based socio-political debate. (Sullivan et al., 2011)

"The cancer profession and industry should take responsibility and not accept a substandard evidence base and an ethos of very small benefit at whatever cost." (Sullivan et al., 2011)

Sullivan et al. (2011) believe that value and affordable cancer care can be introduced into the cancer policy lexicon without detracting from quality, and that the management tools, evidence, and methods are available to affect this transformation across all developed countries.

A population-based cost analysis illustrated the economic burden of cancer on the European Union (EU). In 2009, cancer was estimated to have cost the EU ≤ 126 billion, with healthcare costs accounting for ≤ 51 billion (40%) (Luengo-Fernandez et al., 2013). In Ireland, inpatient care costs were estimated to account for ≤ 417 million of cancer-related healthcare costs out of a total of ≤ 619 million. Drug expenditure accounted for a further ≤ 127 million, while primary, outpatient and emergency care were estimated at ≤ 32 million, ≤ 30 million and ≤ 13 million, respectively. Across the EU, lung cancer had the highest economic cost (≤ 18.8 billion) when compared to breast (≤ 15 billion), colorectal (≤ 13.1 billion) and prostate (≤ 8.43 billion) cancer.

A recent productivity loss analysis carried out in an Irish context (Pearce et al., 2016) projected that by 2030, premature death as a result of colorectal cancer will cause a value of $\leq 237,664$ lost household per death and an overall productivity loss per population of ≤ 2.5 billion.

Information on the expected future trends of rectal cancer can be found in the epidemiology section of this guideline (Section 3.1 Epidemiology). Although some patients with rectal cancer may be treated in the private sector, all costing have been calculated on the assumption that all patients diagnosed annually with rectal cancer will attend publically and be treated within that system. This budget impact assessment focused on those recommendations considered to affect resource requirements, as determined by the Guideline Development Group at recommendation meetings held for each clinical question.

The National Cancer Strategy 2017-2026 (DOH, 2017) made a number of recommendations on how Irish cancer services should be organised, including hospital admissions policies, the organisation of hospital care including palliative care, infrastructure and staffing. The strategy encompasses a range of areas within cancer control, prevention, primary care from treatment to post treatment care and patient involvement, facilitating our healthcare system to operate to its full capacity. A number of recommendations (Table 19) made within the cancer strategy are relevant to the implementation of some of the guideline recommendations.

Measuring the performance and quality of cancer services is essential. The strategy also outlines a number of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) (Table 20) that are relevant to how the NCCP proposes to evaluate the level of implementation of a number of recommendations made within the guideline.

All salaries used to calculate costs within this BIA, are based on the mid-point of the 2019 salary scale and are adjusted for pension (4%), pay related social insurance (10.95%) and overheads (25%). Salaries are rounded to the nearest thousand.

Salaries for consultant posts were calculated based on new entrants from 1st October 2012 and are based on the mid-point of contract type B on the 2019 salary scale for adjusted for pension (4%), pay related social insurance (10.95%) and overheads (25%). Salaries are rounded to the nearest thousand.

Budaet impact analysis

The resource implications of implementing the recommendations were identified by the clinicians during meetings to discuss and develop the clinical recommendations. The Guideline Development Group complied with HIQA guidance on conducting this budget impact analysis.

The implementation plan (Appendix 7: Implementation plan) based on the NCEC Implementation Guide (Department of Health, 2018) details the guideline recommendation(s), the implementation barriers/enablers and gaps, the actions/tasks to implement the recommendation, which group/unit/organisation has lead responsibility for the task; an indicative timeframe for completion; some detail on expected outcomes and how they will be verified or measured. The implementation plan also details if there is an additional cost related to implementing the guideline in the context of a rectal cancer patient.

The capital costs of implementing the recommendations in the guideline are summarised in Table 16 and the revenue costs are summarised in Table 17. Each table details the additional resources required, the unit cost, unit of analysis, total cost per annum (2020-2021), and the total cost. In areas where additional resources are required these will be sought through the service planning process. Figures for funding approved by the National Service Plan may differ to those quoted below.

Recommendation	Additional resource required	Unit cost	Number required	2020	2021	2022	Total cos
Recommendation 2.2.1.1 Initial staging Contrast enhanced CT-TAP should be employed for the initial staging of patients diagnosed with rectal cancer.	CT-TAP (potential revenue costs for staffing included in Table 17)	€250 (SJH)	927 ¹	€231,750	€231,750	€231,750	€695,25
Recommendation 2.2.1.2 Hepatic metastases Hepatocyte specific contrast enhanced MRI of the liver is the best modality for evaluation of liver metastases in patients with rectal cancer.	MRI (potential revenue costs for staffing included in Table 17)	€138 (SJH)	649 ²	€89,562	€89,562	€89,562	€268,68
Recommendation 2.2.1.3 Extrahepatic metastases Currently, PET-CT is not a first-line imaging modality for staging rectal cancer and can be used as a problem solving tool in patients with equivocal imaging findings following a discussion at a multidisciplinary team meeting.	PET-CT (potential revenue costs for staffing included in Table 17)	€1,199 (SJH)	Unknown ³	TBD	TBD	TBD	TB

¹ Estimated annual average incidence of rectum cancer (C20) and rectosigmoid junction cancer (C19) in Ireland, 2018–2020 (NCRI, 2020)

² Based on the estimated annual average incidence for rectum cancer (C20) and rectosigmoid junction cancer (C19) in Ireland, 2018–2020 (NCRI, 2020) and the percentage of rectal cancer patients treated with surgery within the first year (70%) (NCRI, 2018)

³ The number of PET-CTs required is unknown. This is due to the nature of the recommendation with states that PET-CT is not a first line imaging modality but can be used for equivocal findings

							A 1
Operational costs (excluding staff)							lat
Recommendation	Additional resource required	Unit cost	Number required	2020	2021	2022	Total cost
Recommendation 2.2.2.1	MRI	€138 (SJH)	162 ⁴	€22,356	€22,356	€22,356	€67,067 을
Imaging for further liver lesions							
Hepatocyte specific contrast enhanced MRI of the liver is the	(potential revenue						al C
imaging modality of choice in patients with rectal cancer with a	costs for staffing						U
potentially resectable liver lesion to detect further liver lesions.	included in Table 17)						de
Recommendation 2.2.2.2	PET- CT	€1,199	Unknown⁵	TBD	TBD	TBD	TBD 🗍
Imaging for further liver lesions							
PET-CT can be considered in patients with potentially resectable	(potential revenue						
liver lesion with equivocal imaging findings following discussion at a	costs for staffing						
multidisciplinary team meeting.	included in Table 17)						
Recommendation 2.2.3.1	MRI	€138 (SJH)	927 ¹	€127,926	€127,926	€127,926	€383,778 —
Patients with rectal cancer should have an MRI for locoregional							
staging.	(potential revenue						Ign
	costs for staffing						SO
	included in Table 17)						IS,
Recommendation 2.2.3.2	TEUS	€160	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A Sta
When local expertise (surgical, radiology or gastroenterology) is		(HIQA CRC					gin
available, preoperative endorectal ultrasound in low early rectal	(potential revenue	screening					6
lesions may be considered to allow for surgical planning following	costs for staffing	HTA)					inc
discussion at a multidisciplinary team meeting.	included in Table 17)						
Recommendation 2.2.4.1	CT Colongraphy	€550	23 ⁶	€40,150	€40,150	€40,150	€120,450 G
In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer whose tumour cannot be		(HIQA					
endoscopically passed, preoperative CT colonography should be	(potential revenue	HTA)					en
considered to look for synchronous lesions and to allow for surgical	costs for staffing						
planning. CT colonography should only be performed when local	included in Table 17)						, p
expertise is available.							

⁴ Based on the estimated annual average incidence for rectum cancer (C20) and rectosigmoid junction cancer (C19) in Ireland, 2018 –2020 (NCRI, 2020), adjusted for the percentage of rectal cancer patients treated with surgery within the first year (70%) (NCRI, 2018), and of those number expected to have a metastases (25%) (NCRI, 2019a)

⁵ The number of PET-CTs required is unknown due to the nature of the recommendation which states that PET-CT should be used in patients with equivocal findings

⁶ Based on the estimated annual average incidence of rectum cancer (C20) and rectosigmoid junction cancer (C19) in Ireland, 2018–2020 (NCRI, 2020) and adjusted for the number of patients expected to undergo surgery (70%) (NCRI, 2018) and of those the number of patients expected to have a failed colonoscopy (11.3%) (Atkin et al., 2013).

Operational costs (excluding staff)							
Recommendation	Additional resource required	Unit cost	Number required	2020	2021	2022	Total cost
Recommendation 2.2.5.1 In patients with rectal cancer, complete visualisation of the entire colon by colonoscopy or CT colonography is recommended prior to surgery. CT colonography should only be performed in centres	Nil (No additional resource required as current practice)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Recommendation 2.2.5.2 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer whose tumour cannot be endoscopically passed, preoperative CT colonography should be considered to look for synchronous lesions and to allow for surgical planning. CT colonography should only be performed when local expertise is available.	CT Colonography (potential revenue costs for staffing included in Table 17)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Recommendation 2.2.6.1 In patients undergoing surgery with rectal cancer, it is recommended to identify as many nodes as possible, all of which should be submitted for microscopic examination/evaluation. Overall, the median for the laboratory should be at least 12.	Nil (No additional resource required as current practice)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Recommendation 2.2.7.1 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer Haggitt and Kikuchi classification systems may be considered where deemed applicable but are not routinely recommended.	Nil (No additional resource required)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Recommendation 2.2.8.1 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer receiving neoadjuvant chemoradiation, it is recommended to employ the modified Ryan tumour regression grading system.	Nil (No additional resource required as current practice)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Recommendation 2.3.1.1 In patients with primary rectal cancer, after chemoradiotherapy no radiological investigation to date reliably predicts a pathological complete response.	Nil (No additional resource required as current practice)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Recommendation 2.3.1.2 In patients with primary rectal cancer following chemoradiotherapy where a non-operative strategy is planned frequent multimodal assessment and surveillance including DRE, endoscopy and imaging should be undertaken.	Nil (No additional resource required)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

								N N
Operational costs (excluding staff) Recommendation	Additional resource required	Unit cost	Number	2020	2021	2022	Total cost	lational
Recommendation 2.4.1.1 Curative intent In select patients with obstructing upper rectal cancers stenting as a bridge to surgery may be considered.	Nil (potential revenue costs for staffing included in Table 17)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Clinical Guid
Recommendation 2.4.1.2 Palliative intent Stenting can be considered for the palliation of patients with upper rectal cancer (i.e. in those who are not appropriate for immediate resection or in those with advanced disease)	Nil (potential revenue costs for staffing included in Table 17)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	leline
Recommendation 2.5.1.1 For patients who present with predicted node negative T1 rectal cancer with favourable histopathological features, local excision may be considered.	Nil (potential revenue costs for staffing included in Table 17)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Diagno
Recommendation 2.5.1.2 For patients being treated with curative intent for T1 rectal cancer with unfavourable histopathological features or T2 cancers, TME is recommended.	Nil (potential revenue costs for staffing included in Table 17)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	osis, staging
Recommendation 2.5.2.1 In patients with rectal cancer who have undergone local excision radical surgery should be considered if adverse pathological features are present.	Nil (No additional resources as current practice)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	; and treati
Recommendation 2.6.1.1 In patients with stage III rectal cancer preoperative short-course radiotherapy or chemoradiotherapy should be considered.	Nil (No additional resource required as current practice)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	ment of p

Operational costs (excluding staff)							
Recommendation	Additional resource required	Unit cost	Number required	2020	2021	2022	Total cost
Recommendation 2.6.2.1 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer who have an apparent complete clinical response to chemoradiation radical surgery is the standard of care. However, a watch and wait approach should be discussed with the patient and may be considered following shared decision making.	Nil (No additional resource required as current practice)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Recommendation 2.6.3.1 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer where preoperative therapy has been recommended and the CRM is not threatened or involved short-course radiotherapy or chemoradiotherapy may be considered.	Nil (No additional resource required as current practice)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Recommendation 2.6.3.2 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer preoperative chemoradiotherapy is recommended for patients with a threatened or involved CRM.	Nil (No additional resource required as current practice)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Recommendation 2.6.4.1 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer undergoing neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy IMRT and 3D-CRT techniques can both be considered.	Availability of RT across centres	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Recommendation 2.6.5.1 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer undergoing neoadjuvant chemoradiation the routine use of a boost is not recommended.	Nil (No additional resource required)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Recommendation 2.6.5.2 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer undergoing neoadjuvant chemoradiation boost can be considered in selected high risk patients.	Nil (No additional resource required)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Recommendation 2.7.1.1 In patients with rectal cancer high quality total mesorectal excision (TME) surgery should be performed.	Nil (potential revenue costs for staffing included in Table 17)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Recommendation 2.7.2.1 There is no clear evidence of difference in postoperative genitourinary function between minimally invasive and open total mesorectal excision (TME)	Nil (No additional resource required)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Recommendation 2.8.1.1 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer who have had a resection with a positive margin and have not received preoperative	Nil (No additional resource required as current practice)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

Operational costs (excluding staff)							
Recommendation	Additional resource required	Unit cost	Number required	2020	2021	2022	Total cost
radiotherapy then postoperative chemoradiotherapy is an acceptable salvage approach.							
Recommendation 2.9.1.1 For patients with cancer, early provision of palliative care can improve patient outcomes.	Nil (potential revenue costs for staffing included in Table 17)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Recommendation 2.9.1.2 Assessment of palliative care needs should be an ongoing process throughout the course of a patient's cancer illness and services provided on the basis of identified need	Nil (potential revenue costs for staffing included in Table 17)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

120

nosis,
staging
and
treatment
of patie
nts w
vith

Duefession	Relevant	Additional staff required	Unit cost	Number required	2020	FYC 2021	FYC 2022	Total cost	On
Profession	Recommendation(s)								a
	2.2.1.1, 2.2.1.2, 2.2.1.3,	Consultant radiologist	€204,944 ⁷	x WTE ⁸					
Radiology	2.2.2.1, 2.2.2.2, 2.2.3.1,								
	2.2.4.1, 2.2.5.1, 2.2.5.2								ے ا
Surgon	2.2.3.2, 2.5.1.1, 2.5.1.2,	Consultant Colorectal surgeon	€204,944 ⁷	x WTE ⁸					
Surgery	2.7.1.1, 2.7.1.2								del
Gastroenter	2.4.1.1, 2.4.1.2	Consultant gastroenterologist	€204,944 ⁷	x WTE ⁸					Ine
ology									
Palliative	2.9.1.1, 2.9.2.1	Palliative Care Consultant	€204,944 ⁷	x WTE ⁸					
Dathology	2.5.1.2	Consultant Histopathologist	€204,944 ⁷	x WTE ⁸					l
Pathology	2.5.1.2	Medical laboratory scientist	€61,953	x WTE ⁸					l
Nursing	2.9.1.1, 2.9.2.1	Palliative care CNS	€74,057	x WTE ⁸					
Admin	All	Administrator (MDT, data	€64,453	x WTE ⁸					Jia
Aumin		management)							gno
Total revenue	e costs of implementing the reco	ommendations						TBD	
									, S
Table 18 Tot	tal cost of implementing the g	uideline recommendations							E.

Table 17 Budget impact assessment of staff costs of implementing recommendations

Б 6

Cost	2020	2021	2022	Total cost
Total operational costs for implementing recommendations	€511,744	€511,744	€511,744	€1,535,232
Total staff costs of implementing the recommendations				
Total cost of implementing the guideline				€1,535,232
				+ total
				revenue
				costs

rectal cancer

⁷ Salaries for consultant posts were calculated based on new entrants from 1st October 2012 and are based on the mid-point of contract type B on the 2019 salary scale for adjusted for pension (4%), pay related social insurance (10.95%) and overheads (25%). Salaries are rounded to the nearest thousand.

⁸ Await outcome of surgical centralisation and workforce planning

Appendix 7: Implementation plan

Diaanosis and staaina

Guideline recommendation or	Implementation	Action / intervention / task to	Lead responsibility for	Timefra	me for com	pletion	Expected outcome and	Clin
number(s)	barriers /enablers/gaps	implement recommendation	delivery of the action	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	verification	ical G
 Rec. 2.2.1.1 Initial staging Contrast enhanced CT-TAP should be employed for the initial staging of patients diagnosed with rectal cancer. Rec. 2.2.1.2 Hepatic metastases Hepatocyte specific contrast enhanced MRI of the liver is the best modality for evaluation of liver metastases in patients with rectal cancer. Rec. 2.2.2.1 Imaging for further liver lesions Hepatocyte specific contrast enhanced MRI of the liver is the imaging modality of choice in patients with rectal cancer with a potentially resectable liver lesions. Rec. 2.2.3.1 Patients with rectal cancer should have an MRI for locoregional staging. Rec. 2.2.1.3 	Barrier: Access to equipment Enabler: National Cancer Strategy recommendation no.14 (Capital investment plan).	Secure funding through the HSE service planning process for equipment. National Cancer Strategy recommendation no.14. The NCCP, working with the other Directorates in the HSE and with the Department of Health, will develop a rolling capital investment plan, to be reviewed annually, with the aim of ensuring that cancer facilities meet requirements	NCCP as per National Cancer Strategy recommendation no. 14.			X	Outcome: All patients with rectal cancer will have access to diagnostic equipment. Verification: Completed capital investment plan. Current programme of work by the NCCP based on cancer strategy recommendation 14.	Suideline Diagnosis, staging and treatment of patients with rectal cancer
Extrahepatic metastases								

Guideline recommendation or	Implementation	Action / intervention / task to	Lead responsibility for	Timefra	me for com	pletion	Expected outcome and
number(s)	barriers	implement recommendation	delivery of the action	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	verification
Currently, PET-CT is not a first- line imaging modality for staging rectal cancer and can be used as a problem solving tool in patients with equivocal imaging findings following a discussion at a multidisciplinary team meeting.	/enablers/gaps						
Rec. 2.2.2.2 Imaging for further liver lesions PET-CT can be considered in patients with potentially resectable liver lesion with equivocal imaging findings following discussion at a multidisciplinary team meeting.		-					
Rec. 2.2.3.2 When local expertise (surgical, radiology or gastroenterology) is available, preoperative endorectal ultrasound in low early rectal lesions may be considered to allow for surgical planning following discussion at a multidisciplinary team meeting.							
Rec. 2.2.4.1 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer whose tumour cannot be endoscopically passed, preoperative CT colonography should be							

Guideline recommendation or	Implementation	Action / intervention / task to	Lead responsibility for	Timefra	me for com	pletion	Expected outcome and
number(s)	barriers /enablers/gaps	implement recommendation	delivery of the action	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	verification
considered to look for synchronous lesions and to allow for surgical planning. CT colonography should only be performed when local expertise is available							
Rec. 2.2.5.2 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer whose tumour cannot be endoscopically passed, preoperative CT colonography should be considered to look for synchronous lesions and to allow for surgical planning. CT colonography should only be performed when local expertise is available.		-					
Rec. 2.2.1.1 Initial staging Contrast enhanced CT-TAP should be employed for the initial staging of patients diagnosed with rectal cancer. Rec. 2.2.3.2 When local expertise (surgical, radiology or gastroenterology) is available, preoperative endorectal ultrasound in low early rectal lesions may be considered to allow for surgical planning following discussion at a multidisciplinary team	Barrier: Limited availability of appropriately trained radiology staff/personnel. Enabler: National Cancer Strategy recommendation 10, recommendation 16, recommendation 50 (Radiology training, consultant staffing, workforce planning)	National Cancer Strategy recommendations no.10 The Department of Health will liaise with the Health and Education authorities with a view to increasing places in Third Level Institutions for the training of radiographers and sonographers.	DoH as per National Cancer Strategy recommendation No. 10.			X	Verification: Training provided/staff training records. Current programme of work by NCCP based on National Cancer Strategy recommendation no. 10.

Guideline recommendation or	Implementation	Action / intervention / task to	Lead responsibility for	Timefra	ame for con	pletion	Expected outcome and
number(s)	barriers /enablers/gaps	implement recommendation	delivery of the action	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	verification
meeting. Rec. 2.2.4.1 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer whose tumour cannot be endoscopically passed, preoperative CT colonography should be considered to look for synchronous lesions and to allow for surgical planning. CT colonography should only be performed when local expertise is available		National Cancer Strategy recommendation no. 16. The NCCP will ensure that consultant appointments for radiology, endoscopy and histopathology, where necessary, are made in conjunction with appointments in other disciplines such as surgery and medical oncology.	NCCP as per National Cancer Strategy recommendation No. 16.			X	Verification: Staff in place. No additional resources required. Current programme of work by NCCP based on National Cancer Strategy recommendation no. 16.
Rec. 2.2.5.2 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer whose tumour cannot be endoscopically passed, preoperative CT colonography should be considered to look for synchronous lesions and to allow for surgical planning. CT colonography should only be performed when local expertise is available.		National Cancer Strategy recommendation no. 50. The NCCP, aided by a crosssector group, will draw up a comprehensive workforce plan for cancer services. This will include an interim assessment of staffing needs at medical, nursing and health & social care professional levels by mid-2018 ⁹ .	NCCP as per National Cancer Strategy recommendation No. 50.			X	Verification: Completed workforce assessment. No additional resources required. Current programme of work by NCCP based on National Cancer Strategy recommendation no. 50.
Rec. 2.2.6.1 In patients undergoing surgery with rectal cancer, it is recommended to identify as	Current practice	Not applicable	Clinician				Not applicable

⁹ Direct wording taken from the National Cancer Strategy (2017). Time frame for completion may differ.

Guideline recommendation or	Implementation	Action / intervention / task to	Lead responsibility for	Timefra	me for com	pletion	Expected outcome and
number(s)	barriers /enablers/gaps	implement recommendation	delivery of the action	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	verification
many nodes as possible, all of							
which should be submitted for							
microscopic							
examination/evaluation.							
Overall, the median for the							
laboratory should be at least							
12.							
Rec. 2.2.7.1 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer Haggitt and Kikuchi classification systems may be considered where deemed applicable but are not routinely recommended.							
Rec 2.2.8.1							
In patients with primary rectal							
cancer, after							
chemoradiotherapy no							
radiological investigation to							
date reliably predicts a							
pathological complete							
response.							

Restaging							
Guideline recommendation	Implementation	Action / intervention / task to	Lead responsibility	Timef	rame for c	ompletion	Expected outcome and
or number(s)	barriers	implement recommendation	for delivery of the	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	verification
	/enablers/gaps		action				
Rec. 2.3.1.1	Current practice	Not applicable	Clinician				Not applicable
In patients with primary							
rectal cancer, after							
chemoradiotherapy no							
radiological investigation to							
date reliably predicts a							
pathological complete							
response.							
Rec. 2.3.1.2							
In patients with primary							
rectal cancer following							
chemoradiotherapy where a							
non-operative strategy is							
planned frequent multimodal							
assessment and surveillance		-					
including DRE, endoscopy							
and imaging should be							
undertaken.							

Guideline recommendation	Implementation	Action / intervention / task to	Lead responsibility	Timefra	me for com	pletion	Expected outcome and
or number(s)	barriers	implement recommendation	for delivery of the	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	verification
	/enablers/gaps		action				
Rec. 2.4.1.1	Barrier:	National Cancer Strategy	NCCP as per National			Х	Outcome:
Curative intent	Limited availability of	Recommendations no.14.	Cancer Strategy				All patients with rectal
In select patients with	appropriately trained	The NCCP, working with the other	recommendation no.				cancer will have access
obstructing upper rectal	surgical staff.	Directorates in the HSE and with	14.				to surgical expertise.
cancers stenting as a bridge		the Department of Health, will					
to surgery may be	Enabler:	develop a rolling capital investment					Verification:
considered.	National Cancer	plan, to be reviewed annually, with					Completed capital
	Strategy	the aim of ensuring that cancer					investment plan.
Rec. 2.4.1.2	recommendation 14,	facilities meet requirements.					
Palliative intent	recommendation 21						Current programme of
Stenting can be considered	(Capital investment						work by the NCCP
for the palliation of patients	plan, centralisation).						based on National
with upper rectal cancer (i.e.							Cancer Strategy
in those who are not							recommendation no. 14
appropriate for immediate		~					and no. 21.
resection or in those with		National Cancer Strategy	NCCP as per National				Verification:
advanced disease)		Recommendations no.21.	National Cancer				Designated cancer
		The NCCP will draw up a plan	Strategy				centres with surgical
		setting out the number/location of	recommendation no.				expertise in place for
		designated cancer centres in which	21.				rectal cancer.
		surgery will take place for the					
		various tumour types. Timescales					KPI 11
		for the implementation of the plan					Complete centralisation
		will be included for each tumour.					of cancer surgical
							services

Treatment: Emergency presentation

Guideline recommendation	Implementation	Action / intervention / task to	Lead responsibility	Timefra	ame for com	pletion	Expected outcome and
or number(s)	barriers /enablers/gaps	implement recommendation	for delivery of the action	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	verification
Rec. 2.5.1.1	Barrier:	National Cancer Strategy	NCCP as per National			Х	Outcome:
For patients who present	Limited availability of	recommendations no.14.	Cancer Strategy				All patients with rectal
with predicted node negative	appropriately trained	The NCCP, working with the other	recommendation no.				cancer will have access
T1 rectal cancer with	surgical staff.	Directorates in the HSE and with	14.				to surgical expertise.
favourable histopathological		the Department of Health, will					
features, local excision may	Enabler:	develop a rolling capital investment					Verification:
be considered.	National Cancer	plan, to be reviewed annually, with					Completed capital
	Strategy	the aim of ensuring that cancer					investment plan.
Rec. 2.5.1.2	recommendation 14,	facilities meet requirements					
For patients being treated	recommendation 21						Current programme of
with curative intent for T1	(Capital investment						work by the NCCP
rectal cancer with	plan, centralisation).						based on National
unfavourable							cancer strategy
histopathological features or		-					recommendation no. 14
T2 cancers, TME is							and no. 21.
recommended.		National Cancer Strategy	NCCP as per National			Х	Verification:
		recommendations no.21.	Cancer Strategy				Designated cancer
Rec. 2.5.2.1		The NCCP will draw up a plan	recommendation no.				centres with surgical
In patients with rectal cancer		setting out the number/location of	21.				expertise in place for
who have undergone local		designated cancer centres in which					rectal cancer.
excision radical surgery		surgery will take place for the					
should be considered if		various tumour types. Timescales					KPI 11
adverse pathological features		for the implementation of the plan					Complete centralisation
are present.		will be included for each tumour.					of cancer surgical
							services

Treatment: Early rectal cancer

Guideline recommendation	Implementation	Action / intervention / task to	Lead responsibility for	Timefra	ame for com	pletion	Expected outcome and
or number(s)	barriers /enablers/gaps	implement recommendation	delivery of the action	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	verification
Rec. 2.6.1.1. In patients with stage III rectal cancer preoperative short-course radiotherapy or chemoradiotherapy should be considered.	Current practice	Not applicable	Clinician				Not applicable
Rec. 2.6.1.2 In patients with rectal cancer, preoperative chemoradiotherapy is recommended for patients with a threatened or involved CRM.							
Rec. 2.6.2.1 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer who have an apparent complete clinical response to chemoradiation radical surgery is the standard of care. However, a watch and wait approach should be discussed with the patient and may be considered following shared decision making.							
Rec. 2.6.3.1 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer where preoperative therapy has been recommended and the CRM is not threatened or							

Treatment: Datients receiving people invent therapy

Guideline recommendation	Implementation	Action / intervention / task to Lead responsibility		Timefra	ame for com	Expected outcome and	
or number(s)	barriers (onablers (gans	implement recommendation	delivery of the action	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	verification
involved short-course radiotherapy or chemoradiotherapy may be considered.	/enablers/gaps						
Rec. 2.6.3.2 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer preoperative chemoradiotherapy is recommended for patients with a threatened or involved CRM.							
Rec. 2.6.4.1 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer undergoing neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy IMRT and 3D-CRT techniques can both be considered.		-					
Rec. 2.6.5.1 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer undergoing neoadjuvant chemoradiation the routine use of a boost is not recommended.							
Rec. 2.6.5.2 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer undergoing neoadjuvant chemoradiation boost can be considered in selected high risk patients.							

Guideline recommendation	Implementation	Action / intervention / task to	Lead responsibility	Timefra	ame for com	pletion	Expected outcome and
or number(s)	barriers /enablers/gaps	implement recommendation	for delivery of the action	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	verification
Rec. 2.7.1.1 In patients with rectal cancer high quality total mesorectal excision (TME) surgery should be performed. Rec. 2.7.2.1 There is no clear evidence of difference in postoperative genitourinary function between minimally invasive and open total mesorectal excision (TME)	Barrier: Limited availability of appropriately trained surgical staff. Enabler: National Cancer Strategy recommendation 14, recommendation 21 (Capital investment plan, centralisation).	National Cancer Strategy recommendations no.14. The NCCP, working with the other Directorates in the HSE and with the Department of Health, will develop a rolling capital investment plan, to be reviewed annually, with the aim of ensuring that cancer facilities meet requirements	NCCP as per National Cancer Strategy recommendation no. 14.			X	Outcome: All patients with rectal cancer will have access to surgical expertise. Verification: Completed capital investment plan. Current programme of work by the NCCP based on National Cancer Strategy recommendation no. 14 and no. 21.
		National Cancer Strategy recommendations no.21. The NCCP will draw up a plan setting out the number/location of designated cancer centres in which surgery will take place for the various tumour types. Timescales for the implementation of the plan will be included for each tumour.	NCCP as National Cancer Strategy recommendation no. 21.				Verification: Designated cancer centres with surgical expertise in place for rectal cancer. KPI 11 Complete centralisation of cancer surgical services

Treatment: Surgical techniques

Guideline recommendation	n Implementation Action / intervention / task to Lead responsibi		Lead responsibility	Timeframe for completion			Expected outcome and
or number(s)	barriers /enablers/gaps	implement recommendation	for delivery of the action	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	verification
Rec. 2.8.1.1 In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer who have had a resection with a positive margin and have not received preoperative radiotherapy then	Current practice	Not applicable	Clinician				Not applicable
postoperative chemoradiotherapy is an acceptable salvage approach.							

Treatment: Patients receiving adjuvant therapy

Guideline recommendation	Implementation	Action / intervention / task to	Lead responsibility	Timefra	me for com	pletion	Expected outcome and
or number(s)	barriers /enablers/gaps	implement recommendation	for delivery of the action	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	verification
Rec. 2.9.1.1 For patients with cancer, early provision of palliative care can improve patient outcomes. Rec. 2.9.1.2 Assessment of palliative care needs should be an ongoing process throughout the course of a patient's cancer illness and services provided on the basis of identified need.	Barrier: Insufficient availability of specialist palliative care staff. Enabler: National Cancer Strategy recommendation 31, recommendation 32 (Specialist palliative care, identification of palliative care needs).	National Cancer Strategy Recommendation no. 31. Designated cancer centres will have a sufficient complement of specialist palliative care professionals, including psycho- oncologists, to meet the needs of patients and families (such services will be developed on a phased basis to be available over seven days a week.	HSE & designated cancer centres as per National Cancer Strategy recommendation no. 31.			X	Outcome: All patients with rectal cancer have access to palliative care. Verification: Staff in place. National Cancer Strategy KPI 19 - Increase the proportion of patients receiving specialist palliative care. Current programme of work based on National Cancer Strategy recommendation no. 31 (HSE and designated cancer centres) and 32 (HSE)
		National Cancer Strategy Recommendation no. 32. Oncology staff will have the training and education to ensure competence in the identification, assessment and management of patients with palliative care needs and all patients with cancer will have regular, standardised assessment of their needs.	HSE as per National Cancer Strategy recommendation no. 31.			x	Verification: Training and education provided. Staff training records.

Treatment: Dalligtive care

| A National Clinical Guideline

A list of National Cancer Strategy (2017) recommendations, KPIs and NCCP KPIs that are mentioned in the implementation plan are detailed below:

Table 19 Cancer Strategy recommendations	relevant to implementation (DOH, 2017)
--	--

No	National Cancer Strategy recommendations relevant to implementation
NO.	The Development of the life in the the the life and for each other the life
Recommendation 10	The Department of Health will liaise with the Health and Educational authorities
	with a view to increasing places in third level institutions for the training of
	radiographers and sonographers.
Recommendation 13	Patients diagnosed with cancer will have their case formally discussed at a multi-
	disciplinary team meeting. The NCCP, working with the Hospital Groups, will
	oversee and support MDT composition, processes and reporting of outcomes.
Recommendation 14	The NCCP, working with the other directorates in the HSE and with the
	department of Health, will develop a rolling capital investment plan, to be
	reviewed annually, with the aim of ensuring that cancer facilities meet
	requirements
Recommendation 16	The NCCP will ensure that consultant appointments for radiology endoscopy and
	histonathology where necessary are made in conjunction with appointments in
	other disciplines such as surgery and medical opcology
Decomposed ation 21	The NCCD will draw up a plan activity and medical oncology.
Recommendation 21	The NCCP will draw up a plan setting out the number/location of designated
	cancer centres in which surgery will take place for the various tumour types.
	Timescales for the implementation of the plan will be included for each type.
Recommendation 31	Designated cancer centres will have a sufficient complement of specialist
	palliative care professionals, including psycho-oncologists, to meet the needs of
	patients and families (such services will be developed on a phased basis to be
	available over seven days a week).
Recommendation 32	Oncology staff will have the training and education to ensure competence in the
	identification, assessment and management of patients with palliative care needs
	and all patients with cancer will have regular, standardised assessment of their
	needs.
Recommendation 50	The NCCP, aided by a cross- sector group, will draw up a comprehensive
	workforce plan for cancer services. This will include an interim assessment of
	staffing needs at medical nursing and health & social care professional loyals by
	starting needs at medical, hursing and health & social care professional levels by
	mid-2018

Table 20 Key Performance Indicators relevant to implementation (DOH, 2017)

No.	National Cancer Strategy Key Performance Indicators relevant to implementation
Cancer strategy KPI 11	Complete centralisation of cancer surgical services
Cancer Strategy KPI 19	Increase proportion of patients receiving specialist palliative care

Table 21 Key Performance Indicators relevant to implementation (NCCP)

No.	NCCP Key Performance Indicators relevant to implementation
NCCP KPI No 3.	(i) For patients newly diagnosed with a primary rectal cancer, the interval
	between the discussion at the multidisciplinary meeting (MDM) and date of first
	surgical intervention where surgery is the first treatment shall be monitored.
	(ii) Systemic therapy shall be administered in a timely manner.
	(iii) Radiation therapy shall be carried out in a timely manner
NCCP KPI No 4.	All patients newly diagnosed with rectal cancer in the cancer centre shall be
	discussed at MDM.
NCCP KPI No 8.	Number of lymph nodes that are harvested from all newly diagnosed primary
	rectal cancer patients will be recorded
NCCP KPI No 10.	The proportion of newly diagnosed primary rectal cancer patients who receive
	radiotherapy pre or post operatively.

Appendix 8: Monitoring and audit

It is important that both the implementation of the guideline and patient outcomes are audited to ensure that this guideline positively impacts on patient care. A number of recommendations have been identified by the Guideline Development Group as areas suitable for audit, some specifically due to variation in practice Table 22.

There is a five stage approach to clinical audit which includes planning for audit, standard/criteria selection, measuring performance, making improvements and sustaining improvements. Each audit carried out will be expected to follow this process (HSE, 2019). Two Key Performance Indicators from the National Cancer Strategy 2016-2026 and 11 national KPIs for rectal cancer are outlined below which can be used to monitor the implementation of a number of guideline recommendations.

The audit criteria detailed in Table 23 will be monitored as KPIs from the National Cancer Strategy and the NCCP.

Table 22 Recommendations identified by the Guideline Development Group as areas suitable for audit

Diagnosis and staging

Recommendation 2.2.1.1

Initial staging

Contrast enhanced CT-TAP should be employed for the initial staging of patients diagnosed with rectal cancer.

Recommendation 2.2.1.2

Hepatic metastases

Hepatocyte specific contrast enhanced MRI of the liver is the best modality for evaluation of liver metastases in patients with rectal cancer.

Recommendation 2.2.1.3

Extrahepatic metastases

Currently, PET-CT is not a first-line imaging modality for staging rectal cancer and can be used as a problem solving tool in patients with equivocal imaging findings following a discussion at a multidisciplinary team meeting.

Recommendation 2.2.2.1

Imaging for further liver lesions

Hepatocyte specific contrast enhanced MRI of the liver is the imaging modality of choice in patients with rectal cancer with a potentially resectable liver lesion to detect further liver lesions.

Recommendation 2.2.2.2

Imaging for further liver lesions

PET-CT can be considered in patients with potentially resectable liver lesion with equivocal imaging findings following discussion at a multidisciplinary team meeting.

Recommendation 2.2.3.1

Patients with rectal cancer should have an MRI for locoregional staging.

Recommendation 2.2.3.2

When local expertise (surgical, radiology or gastroenterology) is available, preoperative endorectal ultrasound in low early rectal lesions may be considered to allow for surgical planning following discussion at a multidisciplinary team meeting.

Recommendation 2.2.4.1

In patients diagnosed with rectal cancer whose tumour cannot be endoscopically passed, preoperative CT colonography should be considered to look for synchronous lesions and to allow for surgical planning. CT colonography should only be performed when local expertise is available

Recommendation 2.2.5.1

In patients with rectal cancer, complete visualisation of the entire colon by colonoscopy or CT colonography is recommended prior to surgery. CT colonography should only be performed in centres experienced in the technique

Recommendation 2.2.6.1

In patients undergoing surgery with rectal cancer, it is recommended to identify as many nodes as possible, all of which should be submitted for microscopic examination/evaluation. Overall, the median for the laboratory should be at least 12.

Palliative care

Recommendation 2.9.1.1

For patients with cancer, early provision of palliative care can improve patient outcomes.

Recommendation 2.9.1.2

Assessment of palliative care needs should be an ongoing process throughout the course of a patient's cancer illness and services provided on the basis of identified need.

Table 23 National Cancer Strategy and NCCP Key Performance Indicators relevant to implementation

No.	National Cancer Strategy Key Performance Indicators relevant to
	implementation
Cancer Strategy KPI 11	Complete centralisation of cancer surgical services
Cancer Strategy KPI 19	Increase proportion of patients receiving specialist palliative care
No.	NCCP National Key Performance Indicators relevant to implementation
NCCP No 1.	No. of newly diagnosed rectal cancer patients referred to the cancer centre
NCCP No 2.	Every patient newly diagnosed with rectal cancer should have a rigid
	sigmoidoscopy performed to determine the position of the tumour prior to any therapeutic intervention
NCCP No 3.	(i): For patients newly diagnosed with a primary rectal cancer, the interval
	between the discussion at the multidisciplinary meeting (MDM) and date of first
	surgical intervention where surgery is the first treatment shall be monitored
	(ii): Systemic therapy shall be administered in a timely manner
	(iii): Radiation therapy shall be carried out in a timely manner
NCCP No 4.	All patients newly diagnosed with rectal cancer in the cancer centre shall
	be discussed at MDM
NCCP No 5.	For patients with a primary rectal cancer, clinical TNM stage is recorded at prior
	to commencement of treatment
NCCP No 6.	The proportion of patients with a primary rectal cancer who undergo a
	radical surgical procedure that have an abdominoperineal resection (APR)
NCCP No 7.	(a) Distal margin status will be documented for all patients who have a radical
	surgical procedure for primary rectal cancer
	(b)Radial margin status will be documented for all patients who have a radical
	surgical procedure for primary rectal cancer
	(c) The percentage of patients whose marginal status is clear will be documented
	for all patients who have a radical surgical procedure for primary rectal cancer
NCCP No 8.	Number of lymph nodes that are harvested from all newly diagnosed primary
	rectal cancer patients will be recorded
NCCP No 9.	The number of newly diagnosed primary rectal cancer patients who have to return
	to theatre for any surgical procedure during their hospital stay

| A National Clinical Guideline

NCCP No 10.	The proportion of newly diagnosed primary rectal cancer patients who				
	receive radiotherapy pre or post operatively				
NCCP No 11.	Following surgery for primary rectal cancer, the percentage of patients with				
	unscheduled re-admitted to hospital within 30 days of discharge following surgery				

139

Appendix 9: Glossary of terms and abbreviations Glossary

Definitions within the context of this document

- Case ControlThe observational epidemiologic study of persons with the disease (or other outcome
variable) of interest and a suitable control (comparison, reference) group of persons
without the disease. The relationship of an attribute to the disease is examined by
comparing the diseased and non-diseased with regard to how frequently the attribute
is present or, if quantitative, the levels of the attribute, in each of the groups. (CEBM
website)
- **Case Series** A group or series of case reports involving patients who were given similar treatment. Reports of case series usually contain detailed information about the individual patients. This includes demographic information (for example, age, gender, ethnic origin) and information on diagnosis, treatment, response to treatment, and follow-up after treatment. (CEBM website)
- **Clinician** A healthcare professional such as a doctor involved in clinical practice.
- **Cohort study** The analytic method of epidemiologic study in which subsets of a defined population can be identified who are, have been, or in the future may be exposed or not exposed, or exposed in different degrees, to a factor or factors hypothesised to influence the probability of occurrence of a given disease or other outcome. The main feature of cohort study is observation of large numbers over a long period (commonly years) with comparison of incidence rates in groups that differ in exposure levels. (CEBM website)
- Validity The extent to which a variable or intervention measures what it is supposed to measure or accomplishes what it is supposed to accomplish. The internal validity of a study refers to the integrity of the experimental design. The external validity of a study refers to the appropriateness by which its results can be applied to non-study patients or populations. (CEBM website)
- **Meta-analysis** A systematic review may or may not include a meta-analysis, which is a quantitative summary of the results. (CEBM website)
- **Randomised trial** An epidemiological experiment in which subjects in a population are randomly allocated into groups, usually called study and control groups, to receive or not receive an experimental preventive or therapeutic procedure, manoeuvre, or intervention. The results are assessed by rigorous comparison of rates of disease, death, recovery, or other appropriate outcome in the study and control groups. (CEBM website)
- **Systematic review** The application of strategies that limit bias in the assembly, critical appraisal, and synthesis of all relevant studies on a specific topic. Systematic reviews focus on peer-reviewed publications about a specific health problem and use rigorous, standardised methods for selecting and assessing articles. A systematic review differs from a meta-analysis in not including a quantitative summary of the results. (CEBM website)

Abbreviations

2D-CRT	Two-Dimensional Conformal Radiotherapy
3D-CRT	Three-Dimensional Conformal Radiotherapy
5FU	Fluorouracil
AGREE II	Appraisal of Guidelines for Research and Evaluation II
AJCC	American Joint Committee on Cancer
APR	Abdominoperineal Resection
ASCO	American Society of Clinical Oncology
BH	Beaumont Hospital
BIA	Budget Impact Analysis
САР	College of American Pathologists
CCO	Chief Communications Officer
cCR	Complete Clinical Response
CDR	Clinical Decision Rule
CEA	Cost-Effectiveness Analysis
CEBM	Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine
CEO	Chief Executive Officer
CEP	Cost-Effectiveness Plan
CI	Confidence Interval
CINAHL	Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature
CQ	Clinical Question
CRM	Circumferential Resection Margin
CRT	Chemoradiotherapy
CSO	Central Statistics Office
CRLM	Colorectal liver metastasis
CSO	Central Statistics Office
СТ	Computed Tomography
СТС	Computed Tomographic Colonography
CT-TAP	Computed Tomography of Thorax, Abdomen and Pelvis
CTV	Clinical Target Volume
CUH	Cork University Hospital
DFS	Disease-Free Survival
DoH	Department of Health
DoHC	Department of Health and Children
EBP	Evidence-Based Practice
EBRT	External-Beam Radiotherapy
EMD	Extramural Depth
EMVI	Extramural Vascular Invasion
EU	European Union
EQ-5D	EuroQol-5D
EUS	Endoscopic Ultrasound
GDG	Guideline Development Group
GI	Gastrointestinal
GTV	Gross Target Volume
GUH	Galway University Hospital
HALS	Hand assisted laparoscopic surgery
HEED	Health Economics Evaluation Database
HIQA	Health Information and Quality Authority
HR	Hazard Katio
HSE	Health Service Executive

1	4	1
_	-	_

IAMP	Irish Association of Physicists in Medicine
IANO	Irish Association for Nurses in Oncology
ICER	incremental cost-effectiveness ratio
ICU	Intensive Care Unit
ICD-O	International Classification of Diseases for Oncology
ICGP	Irish College of General Practitioners
IIEF	International Index of Erectile Function
IMRT	Intensity-Modulated Radiotherapy
IPSS	International Prostate Symptom Scores
ISCCNA	Irish Stoma Care and Colorectal Nurses Association
ISMO	Irish Society for Medical Oncologists
IV	Intravenous
KPI	Key Performance Indicators
LOS	Length of Stay
LAR	Low Anterior Resection
LCPRT	Long-Course Preoperative Radiotherapy
LSL	laterally spreading colonic lesions
LV5FU	Leucovorin/Fluorouracil
LV	Leucovorin
MDCT	Multidetector computed tomography
MDT	Multidisciplinary team meeting
MeSH	Medical Subject Headings
ММИН	Mater Misericordiae University Hospital
MUH	Mercy University Hospital
MRC	Medical Research Council
MRF	Mesorectal Fascia
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
MSK	Memorial Sloan Kettering
n/a	Not applicable
NALA	National Adult Literacy Agency
NCCN	National Comprehensive Cancer Network
NCCP	National Cancer Control Programme
NCEC	National Clinical Effectiveness Committee
NCRI	National Cancer Registry Ireland
NHS	National Health Service
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
NMSC	Non-Melanoma Skin Cancer
NPSO	National Patient Safety Office
NSS	National Screening Service
OLOLH	Our Lady's of Lourdes Hospital
OR	Odds Ratio
OS	Overall Survival
ОТ	Operation time
PET-CT	Positron Emission Tomography-Computed Tomography
PFS	Progression-Free Survival
РН	Portunicula Hospital
PICO(T)	Population/Patient; Intervention; Comparison/Control; Outcome (Time)
ΡΤν	Planning Target Volume
QALY	Quality-Adjusted Life Year
QOL	Quality Of Life
QUB	Queens University Belfast

RCPath	The Royal College of Pathologists
RCSI	Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland
RCT	Randomised Controlled Trial
RR	Risk Ratio
RT	Radiotherapy
SCPRT	Short-Course Preoperative Radiotherapy
SEMS	Self-Expanding Metal Stent
SFH	St. Francis' Hospice
SIGN	Scottish Intercollegiate Guideline Network
SJH	St. James' Hospital
SLRON	St. Luke's Radiation Oncology Network
SVUH	St. Vincent's University Hospital
TAE	Transanal Excision
TAMIS	Transanal Minimally Invasive Surgery
TCD	Trinity College Dublin
TEM	Transanal Endoscopic Microsurgery
TEUS	Transrectal Endoscopic Ultrasound
TME	Total Mesorectal Excision
TRG	Tumour Regression Grading
TNM	Tumour, Node, Metastasis
ТИН	Tallaght University Hospital
USA	United States of America
USD	United States Dollar
US	United States
UK	United Kingdom
UCD	University College Dublin
UHW	University Hospital Waterford
UL	University Hospital Limerick
WHO	World Health Organization
	5
Appendix 10: Levels of evidence & grading systems

 Table 24 Levels of evidence for diagnostic studies (Oxford CEBM, 2009)

1a	Systematic review (with homogeneity*) of Level 1 diagnostic studies; clinical decision rule (CDR") with 1b studies from different clinical centres.
1b	Validating** cohort study with good reference standards" ""; or CDR tested within one clinical centre.
1c	Absolute SpPins (specificity) and SnNouts (sensitivity)" ".
2 a	Systematic review (with homogeneity*) of Level >2 diagnostic studies.
2b	Exploratory** cohort study with good reference standards; CDR after deviation, or validated only on split-samples§§§ or databases.
3a	Systematic review (with homogeneity*) of 3b and better studies.
3b	Non-consecutive study; or without consistently applied reference standards.
4	Case-control study, poor or non-independent reference standard.
5	Expert opinion without explicit critical appraisal, or based on physiology, bench research or first principles.

* By homogeneity we mean a systematic review that is free of worrisome variations (heterogeneity) in the directions and degrees of results between individual studies. Not all systematic reviews with statistically significant heterogeneity need be worrisome, and not all worrisome heterogeneity need be

statistically significant. As noted above, studies displaying worrisome heterogeneity should be tagged with a "-" at the end of their designated level.

" Clinical Decision Rule (these are algorithms or scoring systems that lead to a prognostic estimation or a diagnostic category).

****** Validating studies test the quality of a specific diagnostic test, based on prior evidence. An exploratory study collects information and trawls the data (e.g. using a regression analysis) to find which factors are 'significant'.

" " Good reference standards are independent of the test, and applied blindly or objectively to applied to all patients. Poor reference standards are haphazardly applied, but still independent of the test. Use of a non-independent reference standard (where the 'test' is included in the 'reference', or where

the 'testing' affects the 'reference') implies a level 4 study.

" " An "Absolute SpPin" is a diagnostic finding whose Specificity is so high that a positive result rules-in the diagnosis.

An "Absolute SnNout" is a diagnostic finding whose Sensitivity is so high that a negative result rules-out the diagnosis.

§§§ Split-sample validation is achieved by collecting all the information in a single tranche, then artificially dividing this into "derivation" and "validation" samples.

А	Consistent level 1 studies.
В	Consistent level 2 or 3 studies; or Extrapolations from level 1 studies.
С	Level 4 studies; or Extrapolations from level 2 or 3 studies.
D	Level 5 evidence; or Troublingly inconsistent or inconclusive studies of any level.

 Table 25 Grades of recommendations for diagnostic studies (Oxford CEBM, 2009)

Extrapolations are where data is used in a situation that has potentially clinically important differences than the original study situation.

Table 26 Levels of evidence for interventional studies (SIGN grading system 1999-2012)

1++	High quality meta-analyses, systematic reviews of RCTs, or RCTs with a very low risk of bias.
1+	Well conducted meta-analyses, systematic reviews, or RCTs with a low risk of bias.
1-	Meta-analyses, systematic reviews, or RCTs with a high risk of bias.
2++	High quality systematic reviews of case control or cohort studies.
	High quality case control or cohort studies with a very low risk of confounding or bias and a high
	probability that the relationship is causal.
2+	Well conducted case control or cohort studies with a low risk of confounding or bias and a moderate
	probability that the relationship is causal.
2-	Case control or cohort studies with a high risk of confounding or bias and a significant risk that the
	relationship is not causal.
3	Non-analytic studies (e.g. case reports, case series).
4	Expert opinion.

Table 27 Grades of recommendations for interventional studies (SIGN grading system 1999-2012)

А	At least one meta-analysis, systematic review, or RCT rated as 1++, and directly applicable to the target population; or A body of evidence consisting principally of studies rated as 1+, directly applicable to the target population, and demonstrating overall consistency of results.
В	A body of evidence including studies rated as 2++, directly applicable to the target population, and demonstrating overall consistency of results; or Extrapolated evidence from studies rated as 1++ or 1+.
С	A body of evidence including studies rated as 2+, directly applicable to the target population and demonstrating overall consistency of results; or Extrapolated evidence from studies rated as 2++.
D	Evidence level 3 or 4; or Extrapolated evidence from studies rated as 2+.

Note: the grade of recommendation does not necessarily reflect the clinical importance of the recommendation.

Good Practice Point

Recommended best practice based on the clinical experience of the Guideline Development Group.

Practical considerations around patient care

Are statements developed with patients on issues that were important to them with regards to their own experience of the diagnosis, staging and treatment of their cancer.

References

- ABRAHA, I., ARISTEI, C., PALUMBO, I., LUPATTELLI, M., TRASTULLI, S., CIROCCHI, R., DE FLORIO, R. & VALENTINI, V. 2018. Preoperative radiotherapy and curative surgery for the management of localised rectal carcinoma. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev,* 10, Cd002102.
- ALLIEVI, N., CERESOLI, M., FUGAZZOLA, P., MONTORI, G., COCCOLINI, F. & ANSALONI, L. 2017. Endoscopic Stenting as Bridge to Surgery versus Emergency Resection for Left-Sided Malignant Colorectal Obstruction: An Updated Meta-Analysis. *Int J Surg Oncol*, 2017, 2863272.
- AMIN, M., EDGE, S., GREENE, F., BYRD, D., BROOKLAND, R. & W 2017. *AJCC Cancer Staging Manual | Mahul B. Amin | Springer, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing.*
- ANDERSSON, J., ABIS, G., GELLERSTEDT, M., ANGENETE, E., ANGERÅS, U., CUESTA, M. A., JESS, P., ROSENBERG, J., BONJER, H. J. & HAGLIND, E. 2014. Patient-reported genitourinary dysfunction after laparoscopic and open rectal cancer surgery in a randomized trial (COLOR II). *Brit J Surg*, 101, 1272-1279.
- ANSARI, N., SOLOMON, M. J., FISHER, R. J., MACKAY, J., BURMEISTER, B., ACKLAND, S., HERIOT, A., JOSEPH, D., MCLACHLAN, S.-A., MCCLURE, B. & NGAN, S. Y. 2017. Acute Adverse Events and Postoperative Complications in a Randomized Trial of Preoperative Short-course Radiotherapy Versus Long-course Chemoradiotherapy for T3 Adenocarcinoma of the Rectum: Trans-Tasman Radiation Oncology Group Trial (TROG 01.04). Ann Surg, 265, 882-888.
- APPELT, A. L., VOGELIUS, I. R., PLØEN, J., RAFAELSEN, S. R., LINDEBJERG, J., HAVELUND, B. M., BENTZEN, S. M.
 & JAKOBSEN, A. 2014. Long-term results of a randomized trial in locally advanced rectal cancer: no benefit from adding a brachytherapy boost. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys*, 90, 110-118.
- ATKIN, W., DADSWELL, E., WOOLDRAGE, K., KRALJ-HANS, I., VON WAGNER, C., EDWARDS, R., YAO, G., KAY, C., BURLING, D. & FAIZ, O. 2013. Computed tomographic colonography versus colonoscopy for investigation of patients with symptoms suggestive of colorectal cancer (SIGGAR): a multicentre randomised trial. *Lancet*, 381, 1194-1202.
- BARBARO, B., FIORUCCI, C., TEBALA, C., VALENTINI, V., GAMBACORTA, M. A., VECCHIO, F. M., RIZZO, G., COCO, C., CRUCITTI, A. & RATTO, C. 2009. Locally Advanced Rectal Cancer: MR Imaging in Prediction of Response after Preoperative Chemotherapy and Radiation Therapy 1. *Radiology*, 250, 730-739.
- BAXTER, N. N., MORRIS, A. M., ROTHENBERGER, D. A. & TEPPER, J. E. 2005. Impact of preoperative radiation for rectal cancer on subsequent lymph node evaluation: a population-based analysis. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys*, 61, 426-31.
- BIPAT, S., GLAS, A. S., SLORS, F. J., ZWINDERMAN, A. H., BOSSUYT, P. M. & STOKER, J. 2004. Rectal cancer: local staging and assessment of lymph node involvement with endoluminal US, CT, and MR imaging-a meta-analysis. *Radiology*, 232, 773-783.
- BLUMBERG, D., PATY, P. B., GUILLEM, J. G., PICON, A. I., MINSKY, B. D., WONG, W. D. & COHEN, A. M. 1999. All patients with small intramural rectal cancers are at risk for lymph node metastasis. *Dis Colon Rectum*, 42, 881-5.
- BONJER, H. J., DEIJEN, C. L., ABIS, G. A., CUESTA, M. A., VAN DER PAS, M. H. G. M., DE LANGE-DE KLERK, E. S.
 M., LACY, A. M., BEMELMAN, W. A., ANDERSSON, J. & ANGENETE, E. 2015. A randomized trial of laparoscopic versus open surgery for rectal cancer. *New Engl J Med*, 372, 1324-1332.

- BORSCHITZ, T., GOCKEL, I., KIESSLICH, R. & JUNGINGER, T. 2008. Oncological outcome after local excision of rectal carcinomas. *Ann Surg Oncol*, 15, 3101-3108.
- BREEN, E. & BLEDAY, R. 1997. Preservation of the anus in the therapy of distal rectal cancers. *Surg Clin N Am*, 77, 71-83.
- BRINK, I., SCHUMACHER, T., MIX, M., RUHLAND, S., STOELBEN, E., DIGEL, W., HENKE, M., GHANEM, N., MOSER, E. & NITZSCHE, E. U. 2004. Impact of [18F]FDG-PET on the primary staging of small-cell lung cancer. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging*, 31, 1614-20.
- BROHOLM, M., POMMERGAARD, H. C. & GÖGENÜR, I. 2015. Possible benefits of robot-assisted rectal cancer surgery regarding urological and sexual dysfunction: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Colorectal Dis*, 17, 375-381.
- BROUWERS, M. C., KHO, M. E., BROWMAN, G. P., BURGERS, J. S., CLUZEAU, F., FEDER, G., FERVERS, B., GRAHAM, I. D., GRIMSHAW, J., HANNA, S. E., LITTLEJOHNS, P., MAKARSKI, J. & ZITZELSBERGER, L. 2010. AGREE II: advancing guideline development, reporting and evaluation in health care. *Can Med Assoc J*, 182, E839-E842.
- BROWN, G., RADCLIFFE, A. G., NEWCOMBE, R. G., DALLIMORE, N. S., BOURNE, M. W. & WILLIAMS, G. T. 2003. Preoperative assessment of prognostic factors in rectal cancer using high-resolution magnetic resonance imaging. *Br J Surg*, 90, 355-64.
- BRUSH, J., BOYD, K., CHAPPELL, F., CRAWFORD, F., DOZIER, M., FENWICK, E., GLANVILLE, J., MCINTOSH, H., RENEHAN, A., WELLER, D. & DUNLOP, M. 2011. The value of FDG positron emission tomography/computerised tomography (PET/CT) in pre-operative staging of colorectal cancer: a systematic review and economic evaluation. *Health Technol Assess*, 15, 1-192, iii-iv.
- BUJKO, K., NOWACKI, M. P., KEPKA, L., OLEDZKI, J., BEBENEK, M., KRYJ, M. & GROUP, P. C. S. 2005. Postoperative complications in patients irradiated pre-operatively for rectal cancer: report of a randomised trial comparing short-term radiotherapy vs chemoradiation. *Colorectal Dis*, **7**, 410-6.
- BUJKO, K., NOWACKI, M. P., NASIEROWSKA-GUTTMEJER, A., MICHALSKI, W., BEBENEK, M., PUDEŁKO, M., KRYJ, M., OLEDZKI, J., SZMEJA, J., SŁUSZNIAK, J., SERKIES, K., KŁADNY, J., PAMUCKA, M. & KUKOŁOWICZ, P. 2004. Sphincter preservation following preoperative radiotherapy for rectal cancer: report of a randomised trial comparing short-term radiotherapy vs. conventionally fractionated radiochemotherapy. *Radiother Oncol*, 72, 15-24.
- BUJKO, K., NOWACKI, M. P., NASIEROWSKA-GUTTMEJER, A., MICHALSKI, W., BEBENEK, M. & KRYJ, M. 2006. Long-term results of a randomized trial comparing preoperative short-course radiotherapy with preoperative conventionally fractionated chemoradiation for rectal cancer. *Brit J Surg*, 93, 1215-1223.
- BUJKO, K., WYRWICZ, L., RUTKOWSKI, A., MALINOWSKA, M., PIETRZAK, L., KRYŃSKI, J., MICHALSKI, W., OLĘDZKI, J., KUŚNIERZ, J., ZAJĄC, L., BEDNARCZYK, M., SZCZEPKOWSKI, M., TARNOWSKI, W., KOSAKOWSKA, E., ZWOLIŃSKI, J., WINIAREK, M., WIŚNIOWSKA, K., PARTYCKI, M., BĘCZKOWSKA, K., POLKOWSKI, W., STYLIŃSKI, R., WIERZBICKI, R., BURY, P., JANKIEWICZ, M., PAPROTA, K., LEWICKA, M., CISEŁ, B., SKÓRZEWSKA, M., MIELKO, J., BĘBENEK, M., MACIEJCZYK, A., KAPTURKIEWICZ, B., DYBKO, A., HAJAC, Ł., WOJNAR, A., LEŚNIAK, T., ZYGULSKA, J., JANTNER, D., CHUDYBA, E., ZEGARSKI, W., LAS-JANKOWSKA, M., JANKOWSKI, M., KOŁODZIEJSKI, L., RADKOWSKI, A., ŻELAZOWSKA-OMIOTEK, U., CZEREMSZYŃSKA, B., KĘPKA, L., KOLB-SIELECKI, J., TOCZKO, Z., FEDOROWICZ, Z., DZIKI, A., DANEK, A., NAWROCKI, G., SOPYŁO, R., MARKIEWICZ, W., KĘDZIERAWSKI, P., WYDMAŃSKI, J. &

POLISH COLORECTAL STUDY, G. 2016. Long-course oxaliplatin-based preoperative chemoradiation versus 5×5 Gy and consolidation chemotherapy for cT4 or fixed cT3 rectal cancer: results of a randomized phase III study. *Ann Oncol*, 27, 834-842.

- CELENTANO, V., COHEN, R., WARUSAVITARNE, J., FAIZ, O. & CHAND, M. 2017. Sexual dysfunction following rectal cancer surgery. *Int J Colorectal Dis*, 32, 1523-1530.
- CENNAMO, V., FUCCIO, L., MUTRI, V., MINARDI, M. E., EUSEBI, L. H., CERONI, L., LATERZA, L., ANSALONI, L., PINNA, A. D., SALFI, N., MARTONI, A. A. & BAZZOLI, F. 2009. Does stent placement for advanced colon cancer increase the risk of perforation during bevacizumab-based therapy? *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol*, 7, 1174-6.
- CERESOLI, M., ALLIEVI, N., COCCOLINI, F., MONTORI, G., FUGAZZOLA, P., PISANO, M., SARTELLI, M., CATENA, F. & ANSALONI, L. 2017. Long-term oncologic outcomes of stent as a bridge to surgery versus emergency surgery in malignant left side colonic obstructions: a meta-analysis. J Gastrointest Oncol, 8, 867-876.
- CHADI, S. A., MALCOMSON, L., ENSOR, J., RILEY, R. D., VACCARO, C. A., ROSSI, G. L., DANIELS, I. R., SMART, N. J., OSBORNE, M. E., BEETS, G. L., MAAS, M., BITTERMAN, D. S., DU, K., GOLLINS, S., SUN MYINT, A., SMITH, F. M., SAUNDERS, M. P., SCOTT, N., O'DWYER, S. T., DE CASTRO ARAUJO, R. O., VALADAO, M., LOPES, A., HSIAO, C.-W., LAI, C.-L., SMITH, R. K., PAULSON, E. C., APPELT, A., JAKOBSEN, A., WEXNER, S. D., HABR-GAMA, A., SAO JULIÃO, G., PEREZ, R. & RENEHAN, A. G. 2018. Factors affecting local regrowth after watch and wait for patients with a clinical complete response following chemoradiotherapy in rectal cancer (InterCoRe consortium): an individual participant data meta-analysis. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol*, *3*, 825-836.
- CHANG, G. J., RODRIGUEZ-BIGAS, M. A., SKIBBER, J. M. & MOYER, V. A. 2007. Lymph node evaluation and survival after curative resection of colon cancer: systematic review. *J Natl Cancer I*, 99, 433-441.
- CHAPMAN, M. A. S., SCHOLEFIELD, J. H. & HARDCASTLE, J. D. 2000. Management and outcome of patients with malignant colonic polyps identified from the Nottingham Colo-Rectal Screening Study. *Colorectal Dis*, 2, 8-12.
- CHOI, J. Y., JUNG, S., SHIM, K.-N., CHO, W. Y., KEUM, B., BYEON, J.-S., HUH, K. C., JANG, B. I., CHANG, D. K. & JUNG, H.-Y. 2015. Meta-analysis of predictive clinicopathologic factors for lymph node metastasis in patients with early colorectal carcinoma. *J Korean Med Sci*, 30, 398-406.
- CISEŁ, B., PIETRZAK, L., MICHALSKI, W., WYRWICZ, L., RUTKOWSKI, A., KOSAKOWSKA, E., CENCELEWICZ, A., SPAŁEK, M., POLKOWSKI, W., JANKIEWICZ, M., STYLIŃSKI, R., BĘBENEK, M., KAPTURKIEWICZ, B., MACIEJCZYK, A., SADOWSKI, J., ZYGULSKA, J., ZEGARSKI, W., JANKOWSKI, M., LAS-JANKOWSKA, M., TOCZKO, Z., ŻELAZOWSKA-OMIOTEK, U., KĘPKA, L., SOCHA, J., WASILEWSKA-TESLUK, E., MARKIEWICZ, W., KŁADNY, J., MAJEWSKI, A., KAPUŚCIŃSKI, W., SUWIŃSKI, R. & BUJKO, K. 2019. Long-course preoperative chemoradiation versus 5 × 5 Gy and consolidation chemotherapy for clinical T4 and fixed clinical T3 rectal cancer: long-term results of the randomized Polish II study. *Ann Oncol*, 30, 1298-1303.
- COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS (CAP) 2017. Protocol for the Examination of Specimens From Patients With Primary Carcinoma of the Colon and Rectum. 8th edition ed.
- COUWENBERG, H.M. VERKOOIJEN, M. BERBEE, J.P.M. BURBACH, S. HOENDERVANGERS, O. REERINK, M.E.P. PHILIPPENS, E.C.J. CONSTEN, A.B. SMITS, J. HEIKENS, N. WIJFFELS, A. SCHIPHORST, M.M. LACLE, F.J. WESSELS, M. KOOPMAN, W.M.U. VAN GREVENSTEIN & M.P.W. INTVEN 2019. OC-0383 Randomised

controlled trial for dose-escalated radiotherapy in locally advanced rectal cancer. *Radiother Oncol,* 133, S191.

- DAHLBERG, M., STENBORG, A., PAHLMAN, L. & GLIMELIUS, B. 2002. Cost-effectiveness of preoperative radiotherapy in rectal cancer: results from the Swedish Rectal Cancer Trial. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys*, 54, 654-60.
- DATTANI, M., HEALD, R. J., GOUSSOUS, G., BROADHURST, J., SÃO JULIÃO, G. P., HABR-GAMA, A., PEREZ, R. O. & MORAN, B. J. 2018. Oncological and Survival Outcomes in Watch and Wait Patients With a Clinical Complete Response After Neoadjuvant Chemoradiotherapy for Rectal Cancer: A Systematic Review and Pooled Analysis. *Ann Surg*, 268, 955-967.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH 2001. Report of the National Advisory Commitee on Palliative Care.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH 2017. National Cancer Strategy 2017-2026.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH 2018. NCEC Implementation Guide and Toolkit.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH (DOH) 2017. National Cancer Strategy 2017-2026.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH (DOH) 2018. Framework for Public Involvement in Clinical Effectiveness Processes.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND CHILDREN (DOHC) 2006. A strategy for Cancer Control in Ireland.

- DOSSA, F., CHESNEY, T. R., ACUNA, S. A. & BAXTER, N. N. 2017. A watch-and-wait approach for locally advanced rectal cancer after a clinical complete response following neoadjuvant chemoradiation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol*, 2, 501-513.
- DRESEN, R. C., BEETS, G. L., RUTTEN, H. J. T., ENGELEN, S. M. E., LAHAYE, M. J., VLIEGEN, R. F. A., DE BRUÏNE,
 A. P., KESSELS, A. G. H., LAMMERING, G. & BEETS-TAN, R. G. H. 2009. Locally Advanced Rectal Cancer: MR Imaging for Restaging after Neoadjuvant Radiation Therapy with Concomitant Chemotherapy Part I. Are We Able to Predict Tumor Confined to the Rectal Wall? 1. *Radiology*, 252, 71-80.
- EUROPEAN CANCER INFORMATION SYSTEM (ECIS). 2020. *Estimated incidence by country summary* [Online]. European Cancer Information System. Available: https://ecis.jrc.ec.europa.eu/ [Accessed 3rd December 2020].
- FERNÁNDEZ-ESPARRACH, G., AYUSO-COLELLA, J. R., SENDINO, O., PAGÉS, M., CUATRECASAS, M., PELLISÉ, M., MAUREL, J., AYUSO-COLELLA, C., GONZÁLEZ-SUÁREZ, B. & LLACH, J. 2011. EUS and magnetic resonance imaging in the staging of rectal cancer: a prospective and comparative study. *Gastrointest Endos*, 74, 347-354.
- FLESHMAN, J., BRANDA, M., SARGENT, D. J., BOLLER, A. M., GEORGE, V., ABBAS, M., PETERS, W. R., MAUN, D., CHANG, G. & HERLINE, A. 2015. Effect of laparoscopic-assisted resection vs open resection of stage II or III rectal cancer on pathologic outcomes: the ACOSOG Z6051 randomized clinical trial. JAMA, 314, 1346-1355.
- FLESHMAN, J., BRANDA, M. E., SARGENT, D. J., BOLLER, A. M., GEORGE, V. V., ABBAS, M. A., PETERS, W. R., JR., MAUN, D. C., CHANG, G. J., HERLINE, A., FICHERA, A., MUTCH, M. G., WEXNER, S. D., WHITEFORD, M. H., MARKS, J., BIRNBAUM, E., MARGOLIN, D. A., LARSON, D. W., MARCELLO, P. W.,

POSNER, M. C., READ, T. E., MONSON, J. R. T., WREN, S. M., PISTERS, P. W. T. & NELSON, H. 2019. Disease-free Survival and Local Recurrence for Laparoscopic Resection Compared With Open Resection of Stage II to III Rectal Cancer: Follow-up Results of the ACOSOG Z6051 Randomized Controlled Trial. *Ann Surg*, 269, 589-595.

- FLOR, N., CERETTI, A. P., LUIGIANO, C., BRAMBILLASCA, P., SAVOLDI, A. P., VERRUSIO, C. & FERRARI, D. 2020. Performance of CT Colonography in Diagnosis of Synchronous Colonic Lesions in Patients With Occlusive Colorectal Cancer. AJR Am J Roentgenol, 214, 348-354.
- FLORIANI, I., TORRI, V., RULLI, E., GARAVAGLIA, D., COMPAGNONI, A., SALVOLINI, L. & GIOVAGNONI, A. 2010. Performance of imaging modalities in diagnosis of liver metastases from colorectal cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Magn Reson Imaging*, 31, 19-31.
- GERARD, J.-P., CHAPET, O., NEMOZ, C., HARTWEIG, J., ROMESTAING, P., COQUARD, R., BARBET, N., MAINGON, P., MAHE, M. & BAULIEUX, J. 2004. Improved sphincter preservation in low rectal cancer with high-dose preoperative radiotherapy: the lyon R96-02 randomized trial. J Clin Oncol, 22, 2404-2409.
- GLYNNE-JONES, R., WYRWICZ, L., TIRET, E., BROWN, G., RÖDEL, C., CERVANTES, A., ARNOLD, D. & ON BEHALF OF THE ESMO GUIDELINES COMMITTEE 2017. Rectal cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. *Ann Oncol*, 28, iv22–iv40.
- GOLLUB, M. J., GULTEKIN, D. H., AKIN, O., DO, R. K., FUQUA III, J. L., GONEN, M., KUK, D., WEISER, M., SALTZ, L. & SCHRAG, D. 2012. Dynamic contrast enhanced-MRI for the detection of pathological complete response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy for locally advanced rectal cancer. *Eur Radiol*, 22, 821-831.
- GUILLEM, J. G., RUBY, J. A., LEIBOLD, T., AKHURST, T. J., YEUNG, H. W., GOLLUB, M. J., GINSBERG, M. S., SHIA, J., SURIAWINATA, A. A. & RIEDEL, E. R. 2013. Neither FDG-PET Nor CT can distinguish between a pathological complete response and an incomplete response after neoadjuvant chemoradiation in locally advanced rectal cancer: a prospective study. *Ann Surg*, 258, 289-295.
- HABR-GAMA, A., PEREZ, R. O., NADALIN, W., SABBAGA, J., RIBEIRO, U., JR., SILVA E SOUSA, A. H., JR., CAMPOS, F. G., KISS, D. R. & GAMA-RODRIGUES, J. 2004. Operative versus nonoperative treatment for stage 0 distal rectal cancer following chemoradiation therapy: long-term results. *Ann Surg*, 240, 711-718.
- HABR-GAMA, A., PEREZ, R. O., WYNN, G., MARKS, J., KESSLER, H. & GAMA-RODRIGUES, J. 2010. Complete clinical response after neoadjuvant chemoradiation therapy for distal rectal cancer: characterization of clinical and endoscopic findings for standardization. *Dis Colon Rectum*, 53, 1692-1698.
- HALLIGAN, S., DADSWELL, E., WOOLDRAGE, K., WARDLE, J., VON WAGNER, C., LILFORD, R., YAO, G. L., ZHU,
 S. & ATKIN, W. 2015. Computed tomographic colonography compared with colonoscopy or barium enema for diagnosis of colorectal cancer in older symptomatic patients: two multicentre randomised trials with economic evaluation (the SIGGAR trials). *Health Technol Asses*, 19, 1.
- HANLY, A. M., RYAN, E. M., ROGERS, A. C., MCNAMARA, D. A., MADOFF, R. D. & WINTER, D. C. 2014. Multicenter evaluation of rectal cancer reimaging post neoadjuvant (MERRION) therapy. *Ann Surg*, 259, 723-727.
- HEALTH INFORMATION AND QUALITY AUTHORITY (HIQA) 2014. Guidelines for the Economic Evaluation of Health Technologies in Ireland. Dublin: HIQA.

- HEALTH SERVICE EXECUTIVE (HSE) 2014. Palliative Care Needs Assessment Guidance, National Clinical Programme for Palliative Care.
- HEALTH SERVICE EXECUTIVE (HSE) 2019. National Review of Clinical Audit.
- HERNANDEZ, R. A., DE VERTEUIL, R. M., FRASER, C. M. & VALE, L. D. 2008. Systematic review of economic evaluations of laparoscopic surgery for colorectal cancer. *Colorectal Dis*, 10, 859-68.
- HUPPERTZ, A., SCHMIDT, M., WAGNER, M., PUETTCHER, O., ASBACH, P., STRASSBURG, J., STOCKMANN, F., SCHOFFSKI, O. & MAURER, M. H. 2010. Whole-body MR imaging versus sequential multimodal diagnostic algorithm for staging patients with rectal cancer: cost analysis. *ROFO Fortschr Rontg*, 182, 793-802.
- JAKOBSEN, A., PLOEN, J., VUONG, T., APPELT, A., LINDEBJERG, J. & RAFAELSEN, S. R. 2012. Dose-effect relationship in chemoradiotherapy for locally advanced rectal cancer: a randomized trial comparing two radiation doses. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys*, 84, 949-954.
- JAYANNA, M., BURGESS, N. G., SINGH, R., HOURIGAN, L. F., BROWN, G. J., ZANATI, S. A., MOSS, A., LIM, J., SONSON, R., WILLIAMS, S. J. & BOURKE, M. J. 2016. Cost Analysis of Endoscopic Mucosal Resection vs Surgery for Large Laterally Spreading Colorectal Lesions. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol*, 14, 271-8.e1-2.
- JAYNE, D., PIGAZZI, A., MARSHALL, H., CROFT, J., CORRIGAN, N., COPELAND, J., QUIRKE, P., WEST, N., RAUTIO, T., THOMASSEN, N., TILNEY, H., GUDGEON, M., BIANCHI, P. P., EDLIN, R., HULME, C. & BROWN, J. 2017. Effect of robotic-assisted vs conventional laparoscopic surgery on risk of conversion to open laparotomy among patients undergoing resection for rectal cancer: The rolarr randomized clinical trial. JAMA, 318, 1569-1580.
- JAYNE, D. G., BROWN, J. M., THORPE, H., WALKER, J., QUIRKE, P. & GUILLOU, P. J. 2005. Bladder and sexual function following resection for rectal cancer in a randomized clinical trial of laparoscopic versus open technique. *Brit J Surg*, 92, 1124-1132.
- JENSEN, C. C., PRASAD, L. M. & ABCARIAN, H. 2012. Cost-effectiveness of laparoscopic vs open resection for colon and rectal cancer. *Dis Colon Rectum*, 55, 1017-23.
- JEONG, S.-Y., PARK, J. W., NAM, B. H., KIM, S., KANG, S.-B., LIM, S.-B., CHOI, H. S., KIM, D.-W., CHANG, H. J. & KIM, D. Y. 2014. Open versus laparoscopic surgery for mid-rectal or low-rectal cancer after neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy (COREAN trial): survival outcomes of an open-label, non-inferiority, randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Oncol*, 15, 767-774.
- JONAS, J. & BÄHR, R. 2006. Neoadjuvant chemoradiation treatment impairs accuracy of MRI staging in rectal carcinoma. *Gut*, 55, 1214-1215.
- JORDAN, J., DOWSON, H., GAGE, H., JACKSON, D. & ROCKALL, T. 2014. Laparoscopic versus open colorectal resection for cancer and polyps: a cost-effectiveness study. *Clinicoecon Outcomes Res*, 6, 415-22.
- JOYE, I., DEROOSE, C. M., VANDECAVEYE, V. & HAUSTERMANS, K. 2014. The role of diffusion-weighted MRI and 18 F-FDG PET/CT in the prediction of pathologic complete response after radiochemotherapy for rectal cancer: a systematic review. *Radiother Oncol*, 113, 158-165.

- JUNGINGER, T., GOENNER, U., HITZLER, M., TRINH, T. T., HEINTZ, A., WOLLSCHLAEGER, D. & BLETTNER, M. 2016. Long-term Oncologic Outcome After Transanal Endoscopic Microsurgery for Rectal Carcinoma. *Dis Colon Rectum*, 59, 8-15.
- KANG, S.-B., PARK, J. W., JEONG, S.-Y., NAM, B. H., CHOI, H. S., KIM, D.-W., LIM, S.-B., LEE, T.-G., KIM, D. Y. & KIM, J.-S. 2010. Open versus laparoscopic surgery for mid or low rectal cancer after neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy (COREAN trial): short-term outcomes of an open-label randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Oncol*, 11, 637-645.
- KAROUI, M., CHARACHON, A., DELBALDO, C., LORIAU, J., LAURENT, A., SOBHANI, I., VAN NHIEU, J. T., DELCHIER, J. C., FAGNIEZ, P.-L. & PIEDBOIS, P. 2007. Stents for palliation of obstructive metastatic colon cancer: impact on management and chemotherapy administration. *Arch Surg*, 142, 619-623.
- KELLER, D. S., CHAMPAGNE, B. J., REYNOLDS, H. L., JR., STEIN, S. L. & DELANEY, C. P. 2014. Cost-effectiveness of laparoscopy in rectal cancer. *Dis Colon Rectum*, 57, 564-9.
- KIDNER, T. B., OZAO-CHOY, J. J., YOON, J. & BILCHIK, A. J. 2012. Should quality measures for lymph node dissection in colon cancer be extrapolated to rectal cancer? *Am J Surg*, 204, 843-848.
- KIKUCHI, R., TAKANO, M., TAKAGI, K., FUJIMOTO, N., NOZAKI, R., FUJIYOSHI, T. & UCHIDA, Y. 1995. Management of early invasive colorectal cancer. Risk of recurrence and clinical guidelines. *Dis Colon Rectum*, 38, 1286-95.
- KIM, C. W., BAIK, S. H., ROH, Y. H., KANG, J., HUR, H., MIN, B. S., LEE, K. Y. & KIM, N. K. 2015. Costeffectiveness of robotic surgery for rectal cancer focusing on short-term outcomes: a propensity score-matching analysis. *Medicine (Baltimore)*, 94, e823.
- KIM, H. J., SONG, J. H., AHN, H. S., CHOI, B.-H., JEONG, H., CHOI, H. S., LEE, Y. H., KANG, K. M. & JEONG, B. K. 2017. Wait and see approach for rectal cancer with a clinically complete response after neoadjuvant concurrent chemoradiotherapy. *Int J Colorectal Dis*, 32, 723-727.
- KIM, M. J., PARK, S. C., PARK, J. W., CHANG, H. J., KIM, D. Y., NAM, B. H., SOHN, D. K. & OH, J. H. 2018. Robotassisted Versus Laparoscopic Surgery for Rectal Cancer: A Phase II Open Label Prospective Randomized Controlled Trial. Ann Surg, 267, 243-251.
- KIRKE, R., RAJESH, A., VERMA, R. & BANKART, M. J. G. 2007. Rectal cancer: incidence of pulmonary metastases on thoracic CT and correlation with T staging. *J Comput Assist Tomo*, 31, 569-571.
- KRISTIANSEN, C., LOFT, A., BERTHELSEN, A. K., GRAFF, J., LINDEBJERG, J., BISGAARD, C. & JAKOBSEN, A. 2008. PET/CT and histopathologic response to preoperative chemoradiation therapy in locally advanced rectal cancer. *Dis Colon Rectum*, 51, 21-25.
- LARSEN, S. G., PFEFFER, F. & KORNER, H. 2019. Norwegian moratorium on transanal total mesorectal excision. *Br J Surg*, 106, 1120-1121.
- LATKAUSKAS, T., PAUZAS, H., KAIREVICE, L., PETRAUSKAS, A., SALADZINSKAS, Z., JANCIAUSKIENE, R., GUDAITYTE, J., LIZDENIS, P., SVAGZDYS, S., TAMELIS, A. & PAVALKIS, D. 2016. Preoperative conventional chemoradiotherapy versus short-course radiotherapy with delayed surgery for rectal cancer: results of a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Cancer*, 16, 927.
- LAW, R., DAS, A., GREGORY, D., KOMANDURI, S., MUTHUSAMY, R., RASTOGI, A., VARGO, J., WALLACE, M. B., RAJU, G. S., MOUNZER, R., KLAPMAN, J., SHAH, J., WATSON, R., WILSON, R., EDMUNDOWICZ, S. A. &

WANI, S. 2016. Endoscopic resection is cost-effective compared with laparoscopic resection in the management of complex colon polyps: an economic analysis. *Gastrointest Endosc*, 83, 1248-57.

- LUENGO-FERNANDEZ, R., LEAL, J., GRAY, A. & SULLIVAN, R. 2013. Economic burden of cancer across the European Union: a population-based cost analysis. *Lancet Oncol*, 14, 1165-74.
- MACRAE, F. & BENDELL, J. 2020. Clinical presentation, diagnosis, and staging of colorectal cancer. [Online]. UpToDate, Waltham, MA: UpToDate (Accessed 04th December 2020).
- MAFFIONE, A. M., LOPCI, E., BLUEMEL, C., GIAMMARILE, F., HERRMANN, K. & RUBELLO, D. 2015a. Diagnostic accuracy and impact on management of 18F-FDG PET and PET/CT in colorectal liver metastasis: a meta-analysis and systematic review. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol I*, 42, 152-163.
- MAFFIONE, A. M., MARZOLA, M. C., CAPIRCI, C., COLLETTI, P. M. & RUBELLO, D. 2015b. Value of 18F-FDG PET for predicting response to neoadjuvant therapy in rectal cancer: systematic review and metaanalysis. *AJR Am J Roentgenol*, 204, 1261-1268.
- MARIJNEN, C. A. M., NAGTEGAAL, I. D., KAPITEIJN, E., KRANENBARG, E. K., NOORDIJK, E. M., VAN KRIEKEN, J., VAN DE VELDE, C. J. H., LEER, J. W. H. & COOPERATIVE INVESTIGATORS OF THE DUTCH COLORECTAL CANCER, G. 2003. Radiotherapy does not compensate for positive resection margins in rectal cancer patients: report of a multicenter randomized trial. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys*, 55, 1311-1320.
- MARSH, P. J., JAMES, R. D. & SCHOFIELD, P. F. 1994. Adjuvant preoperative radiotherapy for locally advanced rectal carcinoma. Results of a prospective, randomized trial. *Dis Colon Rectum*, 37, 1205-14.
- MCLACHLAN, S. A., FISHER, R. J., ZALCBERG, J., SOLOMON, M., BURMEISTER, B., GOLDSTEIN, D., LEONG, T., ACKLAND, S. P., MCKENDRICK, J., MCCLURE, B., MACKAY, J. & NGAN, S. Y. 2016. The impact on health-related quality of life in the first 12 months: A randomised comparison of preoperative shortcourse radiation versus long-course chemoradiation for T3 rectal cancer (Trans-Tasman Radiation Oncology Group Trial 01.04). *Eur J Cancer*, 55, 15-26.
- MEMON, S., LYNCH, A. C., AKHURST, T., NGAN, S. Y., WARRIER, S. K., MICHAEL, M. & HERIOT, A. G. 2014. Systematic review of FDG-PET prediction of complete pathological response and survival in rectal cancer. *Ann Surg Oncol*, 21, 3598-3607.
- MULDER, S. A., KRANSE, R., DAMHUIS, R. A., DE WILT, J. H. W., ROB, J. T., KUIPERS, E. J. & VAN LEERDAM, M. E. 2011. Prevalence and prognosis of synchronous colorectal cancer: a Dutch population-based study. *Cancer Epidemiol*, 35, 442-447.
- MURRAY, A., LOURENCO, T., DE VERTEUIL, R., HERNANDEZ, R., FRASER, C., MCKINLEY, A., KRUKOWSKI, Z., VALE, L. & GRANT, A. 2006. Clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of laparoscopic surgery for colorectal cancer: systematic reviews and economic evaluation. *Health Technol Assess*, 10, 1-141, iii-iv.

NATIONAL CANCER REGISTRY IRELAND (NCRI) 2018. Cancer Factsheet Colorectal. NCRI, Cork, Ireland.

- NATIONAL CANCER REGISTRY IRELAND (NCRI) 2019a. Cancer care and survival in relation to centralisation of Irish cancer services:an analysis of National Cancer Registry data 1994-2015. NCR, Cork, Ireland.
- NATIONAL CANCER REGISTRY IRELAND (NCRI) 2019b. Cancer incidence projections for Ireland 2020-2045. NCRI, Cork, Ireland.

- NATIONAL CANCER REGISTRY IRELAND (NCRI) 2020. Cancer in Ireland 1994-2018 with estimates for 2018-2020: Annual report of the National Cancer Registry. NCRI, Cork, Ireland.
- NGAN, S. Y., BURMEISTER, B., FISHER, R. J., SOLOMON, M., GOLDSTEIN, D., JOSEPH, D., ACKLAND, S. P., SCHACHE, D., MCCLURE, B. & MCLACHLAN, S.-A. 2012. Randomized trial of short-course radiotherapy versus long-course chemoradiation comparing rates of local recurrence in patients with T3 rectal cancer: Trans-Tasman Radiation Oncology Group trial 01.04. *J Clin Oncol*, 30, 3827-3833.
- NICE 2020. Colorectal Cancer. Available from https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng151 All rights reserved. Subject to Notice of rights. NICE guidance is prepared for the National Health Service in England. All NICE guidance is subject to regular review and may be updated or withdrawn. NICE accepts no responsibility for the use of its content in this product/publication.
- NIEKEL, M. C., BIPAT, S. & STOKER, J. 2010. Diagnostic Imaging of Colorectal Liver Metastases with CT, MR Imaging, FDG PET, and/or FDG PET/CT: A Meta-Analysis of Prospective Studies Including Patients Who Have Not Previously Undergone Treatment 1. *Radiology*, 257, 674-684.
- NORWOOD, M. G., STEPHENS, J. H. & HEWETT, P. J. 2011. The nursing and financial implications of laparoscopic colorectal surgery: data from a randomized controlled trial. *Colorectal Dis*, 13, 1303-7.
- ORTHOLAN, C., ROMESTAING, P., CHAPET, O. & GERARD, J. P. 2012. Correlation in rectal cancer between clinical tumor response after neoadjuvant radiotherapy and sphincter or organ preservation: 10-year results of the Lyon R 96-02 randomized trial. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys*, 83, e165-71.
- OZTURK, M. A., DANE, F., KARAGOZ, S., TURAL, D., SELCUKBIRICIK, F., DEMIRELLI, F., BUYUKUNAL, E., OZGUROGLU, M., TURNA, H., ERDAMAR, S., CELIKEL, C. A., BOZKURTLAR, E. B., YUMUK, P. F., MANDEL, N. M., TURHAL, N. S. & SERDENGECTI, S. 2015. Is perineural invasion (PN) a determinant of disease free survival in early stage colorectal cancer? *Hepatogastroenterology*, 62, 59-64.
- PARK, S. H., LEE, J. H., LEE, S. S., KIM, J. C., YU, C. S., KIM, H. C., YE, B. D., KIM, M. J., KIM, A. Y. & HA, H. K. 2012. CT colonography for detection and characterisation of synchronous proximal colonic lesions in patients with stenosing colorectal cancer. *Gut*, 61, 1716-22.
- PATEL, U. B., TAYLOR, F., BLOMQVIST, L., GEORGE, C., EVANS, H., TEKKIS, P., QUIRKE, P., SEBAG-MONTEFIORE, D., MORAN, B. & HEALD, R. 2011. Magnetic resonance imaging-detected tumor response for locally advanced rectal cancer predicts survival outcomes: MERCURY experience. J Clin Oncol, 29, 3753-3760.
- PEARCE, A., BRADLEY, C., HANLY, P., O'NEILL, C., THOMAS, A. A., MOLCHO, M. & SHARP, L. 2016. Projecting productivity losses for cancer-related mortality 2011 2030. *BMC Cancer*, 16, 804.
- PEREZ, R. O., HABR-GAMA, A., GAMA-RODRIGUES, J., PROSCURSHIM, I., JULIÃO, G. P. S., LYNN, P., ONO, C. R., CAMPOS, F. G., SILVA E SOUSA, A. H. & IMPERIALE, A. R. 2012. Accuracy of positron emission tomography/computed tomography and clinical assessment in the detection of complete rectal tumor regression after neoadjuvant chemoradiation. *Cancer*, 118, 3501-3511.
- PICKHARDT, P. J., HASSAN, C., HALLIGAN, S. & MARMO, R. 2011. Colorectal cancer: CT colonography and colonoscopy for detection—systematic review and meta-analysis. *Radiology*, 259, 393-405.
- PIRLET, I. A., SLIM, K., KWIATKOWSKI, F., MICHOT, F. & MILLAT, B. L. 2011. Emergency preoperative stenting versus surgery for acute left-sided malignant colonic obstruction: a multicenter randomized controlled trial. *Surg Endosc*, 25, 1814-21.

- POCARD, M., PANIS, Y., MALASSAGNE, B., NEMETH, J., HAUTEFEUILLE, P. & VALLEUR, P. 1998. Assessing the effectiveness of mesorectal excision in rectal cancer. *Dis Colon Rectum*, 41, 839-845.
- PULI, S. R., BECHTOLD, M. L., REDDY, J. B. K., CHOUDHARY, A. & ANTILLON, M. R. 2010. Can endoscopic ultrasound predict early rectal cancers that can be resected endoscopically? A meta-analysis and systematic review. *Digest Dis Sci*, 55, 1221-1229.
- REFERENCED WITH PERMISSION FROM THE NCCN CLINICAL PRACTICE GUIDELINES IN ONCOLOGY (NCCN GUIDELINES[®]) FOR COLON CANCER V.4.2020. © NATIONAL COMPREHENSIVE CANCER NETWORK, I. 2020. All rights reserved. Accessed [November 5th 2020]. To view the most recent and complete version of the guideline, go online to NCCN.org. NCCN makes no warranties of any kind whatsoever regarding their content, use or application and disclaims any responsibility for their application or use in any way.
- REFERENCED WITH PERMISSION FROM THE NCCN CLINICAL PRACTICE GUIDELINES IN ONCOLOGY (NCCN GUIDELINES[®]) FOR RECTAL CANCER V.6.2020. © NATIONAL COMPREHENSIVE CANCER NETWORK, I. 2020. All rights reserved. Accessed [November 5th 2020]. To view the most recent and complete version of the guideline, go online to NCCN.org. NCCN makes no warranties of any kind whatsoever regarding their content, use or application and disclaims any responsibility for their application or use in any way.
- RIBEIRO, I. B., BERNARDO, W. M., MARTINS, B. D. C., DE MOURA, D. T. H., BABA, E. R., JOSINO, I. R., MIYAHIMA, N. T., CORONEL CORDERO, M. A., VISCONTI, T. A. C., IDE, E., SAKAI, P. & DE MOURA, E. G. H. 2018. Colonic stent versus emergency surgery as treatment of malignant colonic obstruction in the palliative setting: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Endosc Int Open*, 6, E558-e567.
- ROBERTS, K. J., SUTTON, A. J., PRASAD, K. R., TOOGOOD, G. J. & LODGE, J. P. 2015. Cost-utility analysis of operative versus non-operative treatment for colorectal liver metastases. *Br J Surg*, 102, 388-98.
- RODRIGUEZ-BIGAS, M., TANABE, K., SAVARESE, D. & CHEN, W. 2020. Locoregional methods for management and palliation in patients who present with stage IV colorectal cancer. [Online]. UpToDate, Waltham, MA: UpToDate. (Accessed 04th December 2020).
- ROGERS, A. C., WINTER, D. C., HEENEY, A., GIBBONS, D., LUGLI, A., PUPPA, G. & SHEAHAN, K. 2016. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the impact of tumour budding in colorectal cancer. *Br J Cancer*, 115, 831-40.
- ROYAL COLLEGE OF PATHOLOGISTS (RCPATH), LOUGHREY, M., B., QUIRKE, P. & SHEPHERD, N., A. 2018. Standards and datasets for reporting cancers - Dataset for colorectal cancer histopathology reports. Available at: https://www.rcpath.org/uploads/assets/c8b61ba0-ae3f-43f1-85ffd3ab9f17cfe6/G049-Dataset-for-histopathological-reporting-of-colorectal-cancer.pdf

RULLIER, E., LAURENT, C., GARRELON, J. L., MICHEL, P., SARIC, J. & PARNEIX, M. 1998. Risk factors for anastomotic leakage after resection of rectal cancer. *Brit J Surg*, 85, 355-358.

- RYAN, J. E., WARRIER, S. K., LYNCH, A. C., RAMSAY, R. G., PHILLIPS, W. A. & HERIOT, A. G. 2016. Predicting pathological complete response to neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy in locally advanced rectal cancer: a systematic review. *Colorectal Dis*, 18, 234-246.
- RYAN, R., GIBBONS, D., HYLAND, J. M. P., TREANOR, D., WHITE, A., MULCAHY, H. E., O'DONOGHUE, D. P., MORIARTY, M., FENNELLY, D. & SHEAHAN, K. 2005. Pathological response following long-course neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy for locally advanced rectal cancer. *Histopathology*, 47, 141-146.

- SACKETT, D. L., STRAUS, S. E., RICHARDSON, W. S., ROSENBERG, W. & HAYNES, R. B. 2000. Evidence based medicine. How to practice and teach EBM. 2nd ed. Churchill Livingstone, Edinburgh.
- SAMMOUR, T., PRICE, B. A., KRAUSE, K. J. & CHANG, G. J. 2017. Nonoperative Management or 'Watch and Wait' for Rectal Cancer with Complete Clinical Response After Neoadjuvant Chemoradiotherapy: A Critical Appraisal. *Ann Surg Oncol*, 24, 1904-1915.
- SARASTE, D., GUNNARSSON, U. & JANSON, M. 2013. Predicting lymph node metastases in early rectal cancer. *Eur J Cancer*, 49, 1104-1108.
- SARLI, L., BADER, G., IUSCO, D., SALVEMINI, C., DI MAURO, D., MAZZEO, A., REGINA, G. & RONCORONI, L. 2005. Number of lymph nodes examined and prognosis of TNM stage II colorectal cancer. *Eur J Cancer*, 41, 272-279.
- SAUER, R., BECKER, H., HOHENBERGER, W., RÖDEL, C., WITTEKIND, C., FIETKAU, R., MARTUS, P., TSCHMELITSCH, J., HAGER, E. & HESS, C. F. 2004. Preoperative versus postoperative chemoradiotherapy for rectal cancer. *New Engl J Med*, 351, 1731-1740.
- SCHWENK, W., HAASE, O., NEUDECKER, J. J. & MÜLLER, J. M. 2005. Short term benefits for laparoscopic colorectal resection. *The Cochrane Library*.
- SCOTTISH INTERCOLLEGIATE GUIDELINES NETWORK (SIGN) 2015. SIGN 50: A guideline developer's handbook.
- SCOTTISH INTERCOLLEGIATE GUIDELINES NETWORK (SIGN) 2016. Diagnosis and management of colorectal cancer (SIGN publication no. 126). Edinburgh: SIGN.
- SEBAG-MONTEFIORE, D., STEELE, R., QUIRKE, P., GRIEVE, R., KHANNA, S., MONSON, J., HOLLIDAY, A., THOMPSON, L., GRIFFITHS, G. & STEPHENS, R. 2006. Routine short course pre-op radiotherapy or selective post-op chemoradiotherapy for resectable rectal cancer? Preliminary results of the MRC CR07 randomised trial. J Clin Oncol, 24 suppl., 3511.
- SEBAG-MONTEFIORE, D., STEPHENS, R. J., STEELE, R., MONSON, J., GRIEVE, R., KHANNA, S., QUIRKE, P., COUTURE, J., DE METZ, C., MYINT, A. S., BESSELL, E., GRIFFITHS, G., THOMPSON, L. C. & PARMAR, M. 2009. Preoperative radiotherapy versus selective postoperative chemoradiotherapy in patients with rectal cancer (MRC CR07 and NCIC-CTG C016): a multicentre, randomised trial. *Lancet*, 373, 811-20.
- SKANDARAJAH, A. R. & TJANDRA, J. J. 2006. Preoperative locoregional imaging in rectal cancer. *ANZ J Surg*, 76, 497-504.
- SMALL, A. J., COELHO-PRABHU, N. & BARON, T. H. 2010. Endoscopic placement of self-expandable metal stents for malignant colonic obstruction: long-term outcomes and complication factors. *Gastrointest Endos*, 71, 560-572.
- SMITH, S., BRICK, A., O'HARA, S. & NORMAND, C. 2014. Evidence on the cost and cost-effectiveness of palliative care: A literature review. *Palliative Med*, 28, 130-150.
- SMITH, T. J., TEMIN, S., ALESI, E. R., ABERNETHY, A. P., BALBONI, T. A., BASCH, E. M., FERRELL, B. R., LOSCALZO, M., MEIER, D. E., PAICE, J. A., PEPPERCORN, J. M., SOMERFIELD, M., STOVALL, E. & VON ROENN, J. H. 2012. American Society of Clinical Oncology provisional clinical opinion: the integration of palliative care into standard oncology care. J Clin Oncol, 30, 880-7.

- STEVENSON, A. R. L., SOLOMON, M. J., BROWN, C. S. B., LUMLEY, J. W., HEWETT, P., CLOUSTON, A. D., GEBSKI, V. J., WILSON, K., HAGUE, W. & SIMES, J. 2019. Disease-free Survival and Local Recurrence After Laparoscopic-assisted Resection or Open Resection for Rectal Cancer: The Australasian Laparoscopic Cancer of the Rectum Randomized Clinical Trial. Ann Surg, 269, 596-602.
- STEVENSON, A. R. L., SOLOMON, M. J., LUMLEY, J. W., HEWETT, P., CLOUSTON, A. D., GEBSKI, V. J., DAVIES, L., WILSON, K., HAGUE, W. & SIMES, J. 2015. Effect of laparoscopic-assisted resection vs open resection on pathological outcomes in rectal cancer: the ALaCaRT randomized clinical trial. JAMA, 314, 1356-1363.
- STORNES, T., WIBE, A., NESBAKKEN, A., MYKLEBUST, T. A. & ENDRESETH, B. H. 2016. National Early Rectal Cancer Treatment Revisited. *Dis Colon Rectum*, 59, 623-9.
- SULLIVAN, R., PEPPERCORN, J., SIKORA, K., ZALCBERG, J., MEROPOL, N. J., AMIR, E., KHAYAT, D., BOYLE, P., AUTIER, P., TANNOCK, I. F., FOJO, T., SIDEROV, J., WILLIAMSON, S., CAMPORESI, S., MCVIE, J. G., PURUSHOTHAM, A. D., NAREDI, P., EGGERMONT, A., BRENNAN, M. F., STEINBERG, M. L., DE RIDDER, M., MCCLOSKEY, S. A., VERELLEN, D., ROBERTS, T., STORME, G., HICKS, R. J., ELL, P. J., HIRSCH, B. R., CARBONE, D. P., SCHULMAN, K. A., CATCHPOLE, P., TAYLOR, D., GEISSLER, J., BRINKER, N. G., MELTZER, D., KERR, D. & AAPRO, M. 2011. Delivering affordable cancer care in high-income countries. *Lancet Oncol*, 12, 933-80.
- SUN, Z., ADAM, M. A., KIM, J., CZITO, B., MANTYH, C. & MIGALY, J. 2017. Intensity-Modulated Radiation Therapy Is Not Associated with Perioperative or Survival Benefit over 3D-Conformal Radiotherapy for Rectal Cancer. J Gastrointest Surg, 21, 106-111.
- TEPPER, J. E., O'CONNELL, M. J., NIEDZWIECKI, D., HOLLIS, D., COMPTON, C., BENSON, A. B., CUMMINGS, B., GUNDERSON, L., MACDONALD, J. S. & MAYER, R. J. 2001. Impact of number of nodes retrieved on outcome in patients with rectal cancer. *J Clin Oncol*, **19**, **157-163**.
- THOMPSON, B. S., COORY, M. D., GORDON, L. G. & LUMLEY, J. W. 2014. Cost savings for elective laparoscopic resection compared with open resection for colorectal cancer in a region of high uptake. *Surg Endosc*, 28, 1515-21.
- TILNEY, H. S., LOVEGROVE, R. E., PURKAYASTHA, S., SAINS, P. S., WESTON-PETRIDES, G. K., DARZI, A. W., TEKKIS, P. P. & HERIOT, A. G. 2007. Comparison of colonic stenting and open surgery for malignant large bowel obstruction. *Surg Endosc*, 21, 225-233.
- TRASTULLI, S., FARINELLA, E., CIROCCHI, R., CAVALIERE, D., AVENIA, N., SCIANNAMEO, F., GULLÀ, N., NOYA, G. & BOSELLI, C. 2012. Robotic resection compared with laparoscopic rectal resection for cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis of short-term outcome. *Colorectal Dis*, 14, e134-e156.
- TRIAL, S. R. C. 1997. Improved survival with preoperative radiotherapy in resectable rectal cancer. Swedish Rectal Cancer Trial. *N Engl J Med*, 336, 980-7.
- UENO, H., MOCHIZUKI, H., HASHIGUCHI, Y., SHIMAZAKI, H., AIDA, S., HASE, K., MATSUKUMA, S., KANAI, T., KURIHARA, H. & OZAWA, K. 2004. Risk factors for an adverse outcome in early invasive colorectal carcinoma. *Gastroenterology*, 127, 385-394.
- VAN DEN BRINK, M., VAN DEN HOUT, W. B., STIGGELBOUT, A. M., KLEIN KRANENBARG, E., MARIJNEN, C. A., VAN DE VELDE, C. J. & KIEVIT, J. 2004. Cost-utility analysis of preoperative radiotherapy in patients with rectal cancer undergoing total mesorectal excision: a study of the Dutch Colorectal Cancer Group. J Clin Oncol, 22, 244-53.

- VAN DEN BROEK, F. J., DE GRAAF, E. J., DIJKGRAAF, M. G., REITSMA, J. B., HARINGSMA, J., TIMMER, R., WEUSTEN, B. L., GERHARDS, M. F., CONSTEN, E. C., SCHWARTZ, M. P., BOOM, M. J., DERKSEN, E. J., BIJNEN, A. B., DAVIDS, P. H., HOFF, C., VAN DULLEMEN, H. M., HEINE, G. D., VAN DER LINDE, K., JANSEN, J. M., MALLANT-HENT, R. C., BREUMELHOF, R., GELDOF, H., HARDWICK, J. C., DOORNEBOSCH, P. G., DEPLA, A. C., ERNST, M. F., VAN MUNSTER, I. P., DE HINGH, I. H., SCHOON, E. J., BEMELMAN, W. A., FOCKENS, P. & DEKKER, E. 2009. Transanal endoscopic microsurgery versus endoscopic mucosal resection for large rectal adenomas (TREND-study). *BMC Surg*, 9, 4.
- VAN DER PAARDT, M. P., ZAGERS, M. B., BEETS-TAN, R. G. H., STOKER, J. & BIPAT, S. 2013. Patients who undergo preoperative chemoradiotherapy for locally advanced rectal cancer restaged by using diagnostic MR imaging: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Radiology*, 269, 101-112.
- VAN DER PAS, M. H. G. M., HAGLIND, E., CUESTA, M. A., FÜRST, A., LACY, A. M., HOP, W. C. J., BONJER, H. J. & GROUP, C. O. C. L. O. O. R. I. I. S. 2013. Laparoscopic versus open surgery for rectal cancer (COLOR II): short-term outcomes of a randomised, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol*, 14, 210-218.
- VAN DER VALK, M. J. M., HILLING, D. E., BASTIAANNET, E., MEERSHOEK-KLEIN KRANENBARG, E., BEETS, G. L., FIGUEIREDO, N. L., HABR-GAMA, A., PEREZ, R. O., RENEHAN, A. G., VAN DE VELDE, C. J. H. & CONSORTIUM, I. 2018. Long-term outcomes of clinical complete responders after neoadjuvant treatment for rectal cancer in the International Watch & Wait Database (IWWD): an international multicentre registry study. *Lancet*, 391, 2537-2545.
- VAN GIJN, W., MARIJNEN, C. A., NAGTEGAAL, I. D., KRANENBARG, E. M., PUTTER, H., WIGGERS, T., RUTTEN, H. J., PÅHLMAN, L., GLIMELIUS, B., VAN DE VELDE, C. J. & GROUP, D. C. C. 2011. Preoperative radiotherapy combined with total mesorectal excision for resectable rectal cancer: 12-year follow-up of the multicentre, randomised controlled TME trial. *Lancet Oncol*, 12, 575-82.
- VAN HOOFT, J. E., BEMELMAN, W. A., OLDENBURG, B., MARINELLI, A. W., LUTKE HOLZIK, M. F., GRUBBEN, M. J., SPRANGERS, M. A., DIJKGRAAF, M. G. & FOCKENS, P. 2011. Colonic stenting versus emergency surgery for acute left-sided malignant colonic obstruction: a multicentre randomised trial. *Lancet Oncology*, 12, 344-52.
- VAN HOOFT, J. E., VAN HALSEMA, E. E., VANBIERVLIET, G., BEETS-TAN, R. G., DEWITT, J. M., DONNELLAN, F., DUMONCEAU, J. M., GLYNNE-JONES, R. G., HASSAN, C., JIMENEZ-PEREZ, J., MEISNER, S., MUTHUSAMY, V. R., PARKER, M. C., REGIMBEAU, J. M., SABBAGH, C., SAGAR, J., TANIS, P. J., VANDERVOORT, J., WEBSTER, G. J., MANES, G., BARTHET, M. A. & REPICI, A. 2014. Self-expandable metal stents for obstructing colonic and extracolonic cancer: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Clinical Guideline. *Endoscopy*, 46, 990-1053.
- VEMULAPALLI, R., LARA, L. F., SREENARASIMHAIAH, J., HARFORD, W. V. & SIDDIQUI, A. A. 2010. A comparison of palliative stenting or emergent surgery for obstructing incurable colon cancer. *Digest Dis Sci*, 55, 1732-1737.
- VENNIX, S., PELZERS, L., BOUVY, N., BEETS, G. L., PIERIE, J. P., WIGGERS, T. & BREUKINK, S. 2014. Laparoscopic versus open total mesorectal excision for rectal cancer. *The Cochrane Library*.
- VON WAGNER, C., GHANOUNI, A., HALLIGAN, S., SMITH, S., DADSWELL, E., LILFORD, R. J., MORTON, D., ATKIN, W. & WARDLE, J. 2012. Patient acceptability and psychologic consequences of CT colonography compared with those of colonoscopy: results from a multicenter randomized controlled trial of symptomatic patients. *Radiology*, 263, 723-731.

- WADA, H., SHIOZAWA, M., KATAYAMA, K., OKAMOTO, N., MIYAGI, Y., RINO, Y., MASUDA, M. & AKAIKE, M. 2015. Systematic review and meta-analysis of histopathological predictive factors for lymph node metastasis in T1 colorectal cancer. J Gastroenterol, 50, 727-734.
- WEE, C. W., KANG, H. C., WU, H. G., CHIE, E. K., CHOI, N., PARK, J. M., KIM, J. I., HUANG, C. M., WANG, J. Y., NG, S. Y. & GOODMAN, K. A. 2018. Intensity-modulated radiotherapy versus three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy in rectal cancer treated with neoadjuvant concurrent chemoradiation: a meta-analysis and pooled-analysis of acute toxicity. *Jpn J Clin Oncol*, 48, 458-466.
- WICHMANN, M. W., MÜLLER, C., MEYER, G., STRAUSS, T., HORNUNG, H. M., LAU-WERNER, U., ANGELE, M. K. & SCHILDBERG, F. W. 2002. Effect of preoperative radiochemotherapy on lymph node retrieval after resection of rectal cancer. *Arch Surg*, 137, 206-210.
- WILLETT, C., RYAN, D., GOLDBERG, R. & SAVARESE, D. 2020. Neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy and radiotherapy for rectal adenocarcinoma. [Online]. UpToDate, Waltham, MA: UpToDate. (Accessed 04th December 2020).
- WOLFF, W. L., SHINYA, H., CWERN, M. & HSU, M. 1990. Cancerous colonic polyps." Hands on" or" hands off?". *The American Surgeon*, 56, 148-152.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANISATION. 2014. WHO Definition of Palliative Care [Online]. Available: http://www.who.int/cancer/palliative/definition/en/ [Accessed 10th April 2014].
- YIP, V. S., COLLINS, B., DUNNE, D. F., KOAY, M. Y., TANG, J. M., WIESHMANN, H., FENWICK, S. W., POSTON, G. J. & MALIK, H. Z. 2014. Optimal imaging sequence for staging in colorectal liver metastases: analysis of three hypothetical imaging strategies. *Eur J Cancer*, 50, 937-43.
- ZECH, C. J., GRAZIOLI, L., JONAS, E., EKMAN, M., NIEBECKER, R., GSCHWEND, S., BREUER, J., JONSSON, L. & KIENBAUM, S. 2009. Health-economic evaluation of three imaging strategies in patients with suspected colorectal liver metastases: Gd-EOB-DTPA-enhanced MRI vs. extracellular contrast mediaenhanced MRI and 3-phase MDCT in Germany, Italy and Sweden. *Eur Radiol*, 19 Suppl 3, S753-63.
- ZHANG, C., TONG, J., SUN, X., LIU, J., WANG, Y. & HUANG, G. 2012. 18F-FDG-PET evaluation of treatment response to neo-adjuvant therapy in patients with locally advanced rectal cancer: A meta-analysis. *Int J Cancer*, 131, 2604-2611.
- ZHAO, R.-S., WANG, H., ZHOU, Z.-Y., ZHOU, Q. & MULHOLLAND, M. W. 2014. Restaging of locally advanced rectal cancer with magnetic resonance imaging and endoluminal ultrasound after preoperative chemoradiotherapy: a systemic review and meta-analysis. *Dis Colon Rectum*, **57**, 388-395.